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Indietment
4834019

DISTRICT COURT
cuariccounty.svaoa || EIFININEN
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, CASE NO: C-19-340051-1

~VS- DEPT NO: XXIII
DUSTIN LEWIS, #7030601
MARGAUX ORNELAS, aka,
Margaux Shannon Ornelas, #7032495
T E FAULKNER, #7067032
THOMAS HEROD, #7052832 INDICTMENT

Defendant(s).
STATE OF NEVADA

COUNTY OF CLARK
The Defendant(s) above named, DUSTIN LEWIS, MARGAUX ORNELAS, aka,

Margaux Shannon Ornelas, TYREE FAULKNER, and THOMAS HEROD, accused by the
Clark County Grand Jury of the crime(s) of CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT BURGLARY
(Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 205.060, 199.480 - NOC 50445); BURGLARY (Category B
Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50424) and GRAND LARCENY (Category B Felony - NRS
205.220.1, 205.222.3 - NOC 56008), committed at and within the County of Clark, State of

§8.

Nevada, on or between December 8, 2018 and December 11, 2018, as follows:
COUNT 1 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT BURGLARY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS and MARGAUX ORNELAS, did on or about December
8, 2018 willfully and unlawfully conspire with each other to commit a burglary, by the

Defendants committing the acts as set forth in Counts 2, 3, and 4 said acts being incorporated
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by this reference as though fully set forth herein.
COUNT 2 - BURGLARY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS and MARGAUX ORNELAS, did on or about December
8, 2018 willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter storage unit number B151, owned or
occupied by MARC FALCONE, located at 9960 West Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, Clark
County, Nevada, with intent to commit larceny; the Defendant(s) being criminally liable under
one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing
this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that
this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or
otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to
commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendant and/or unknown
individuals aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendant and/or unknown individuals
acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 3 - BURGLARY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS and MARGAUX ORNELAS, did on or about December
8, 2018 willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter storage unit number B145, owned or
occupied by KENNY BLUNTMAN, located at 9960 West Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, Clark
County, Nevada, with intent to commit larceny; the Defendant(s) being criminally liable under
one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing
this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that
this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or
otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to
commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendant and/or unknown
individuals aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendant and/or unknown individuals
acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 4 - BURGLARY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS and MARGAUX ORNELAS, did on or about December

8, 2018 willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter storage unit number B147, owned or

AA 00000
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occupied by MICHAEL RODRIGUEZ and/or RITA YVONNE RODRIGUEZ, located at
9960 West Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, with intent to commit larceny;
the Defendant(s) being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting
in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling,
encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit
the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, Defendant and/or unknown individuals aiding or abetting and/or
conspiring by Defendant and/or unknown individuals acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 5 - GRAND LARCENY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS and MARGAUX ORNELAS, did on or about December
8, 2018 then and there willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and intentionally, with intent to
deprive the owner permanently thereof, steal, take and carry away, lead away or drive away
property owned by MARC FALCONE, having a value of $3,500.00, or greater, to wit:
watches and/or bags and/or waich boxes; the Defendant(s) being criminally liable under one
or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1) by directly committing this
crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with the intent that this
crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding, inducing and/or
otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to
commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendant and/or unknown
individuals aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendant and/or unknown individuals
acting in concert throughout.
COUNT 6 - CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT BURGLARY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS, MARGAUX ORNELAS, TYREE FAULKNER and
THOMAS HEROD did on or about December 11, 2018 willfully and unlawfully conspire with
each other to commit a burglary, by the Defendants committing the acts as set forth in Count
7, said acts being incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein,
1
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COUNT 7 - BURGLARY

Defendants DUSTIN LEWIS, MARGAUX ORNELAS, TYREE FAULKNER and
THOMAS HEROD did on or about December 11, 2018 willfully, unlawfully, and feloniously
enter a building, owned or occupied by STORAGE ONE and/or a storage unit number B151,
owned or occupied by MARC FALCONE, located at 9960 West Flamingo Road, Las Vegas,
Clark County, Nevada, with intent to commit larceny; the Defendant(s) being criminally liable
under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to wit: (1} by directly
committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting in the commission of this crime, with
the intent that this crime be committed, by counseling, encouraging, hiring, commanding,
inducing and/or otherwise procuring the other to commit the crime; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime, with the intent that this crime be committed, Defendant
and/or unknown individuals aiding or abetting and/or conspiring by Defendant and/or
unknown individuals acting in concert throughout.

DATED this _2- _day of May, 2019.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY
B DONAL HT
Depugf District Attorney
Nevada Bar #014158

ENDORSEMENT: A True Bill

Foreperson, Clark County Grand Jury
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Names of Witnesses and testifying before the Grand Jury:
FALCONE, MARC - ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101

GRIMES, ETHAN - LVMPD #6729

HAINES, LORI — ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101
MACEDO, NEDY ~ STORAGE ONE

OLSON, TASHA - ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101
RODRIGUEZ, MICHAEL - ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101
SCHARPF, WHITNEY — ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101

Additional Witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:
BLUTMAN, KENNY - c¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS - CCDC

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS - LVMPD COMMUNICATIONS
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS - LVMPD RECORDS

JONES, BARRY — LVMPD #9679

LINDER, TRAVIS — LVMPD #9848

PENNEY, CHRISTOPHER - LVMPD #15844

PREBLE, LEE — ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101
RODRIGUEZ, RITA — ¢/o CCDA, 200 Lewis Avenue, LV, NV 89101
SAUNDERS, MICHAEL - LVMPD #6076

ZINGER, JUSTIN — LVMPD #9206

18CGJ0S6A-D/18F23275X/
19F00933A-B/19F01352X/ed-GJ

LVMPD EV# 181200051857; 181200033889;
181200049822; 181200034974

(TK1)
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ALMASE LAW

CAESAR ALMASE, ESQ.
Bar No. 7974

526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney For Defendant

STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
V.

DUSTIN LEWIS,
#7030601
Defendant.

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

L e L L L S L L S ) N L N
o
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=
=
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COMES NOW Defendant, DUSTIN LEWIS by and through his attorney of record,
CAESAR ALMASE of ALMASE LAW, and hereby files DEFENDANT DUSTIN LEWIS MOTIONL
TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE BASED ON FOURTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION AND FRUIT OR

THE POISONOUS TREE DOCTRINE. This Motion is based upon the instant motion, and

argument of Counsel at the time set for hearing of this motion.

DATED this é 5 of February 2021.

Case No.: (C-19-340051-1

DEFENDANT DUSTIN LEWIS MOTION TO
SUPPRESS EVIDENCE BASED ON FOURTH
AMENDMENT VIOLATION AND FRUIT OF
THE POISONOUS TREE DOCTRINE

Electronically Filed
2/26/2021 11:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERz OF THE COUR E

Caesar Almase #7974
526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant

Case Number: C-19-340051-1

AA 00000¢
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NOTICE OF MOTION

TO:  CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff:
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing motion has been set for hearing on the

day of 2021, at 8:30 AM in District Court XXIV.

DATED this %% day of February 2021.

(e

Caesar Almase #7974
526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
| hereby certify 1 electronically filed the foregoing document with the Clerk of the
Court by using the electronic filing system on I'heﬁ:_ day of February 2021. Service
was made electronically and via email to:
Steven B. Wolfson

Clark County District Attorney
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com

e

CAESAR ALMASE, ESQ.
Attorney For Defendant
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RELEVANT FACTS

On December 8, 2018, at 10:17 aM, Officer Penney, with LVMPD, was dispatched to
the StorageOne storage facility located at 9960 W. Flamingo Rd. to investigate a burglary to
unit B-151. (Exhibit A, Declaration of Arrest, page 2) He contacted complaining witnessg
Marc Falcone, the unit’s renter, who had last been to the unit the previous day. (Id.) On the
8th Mr. Falcone received a phone call from a StorageOne employee saying his unit had been|
burglarized. (Id. at 3.) Mr. Falcone told officers he was missing 21 wristwatches worth an|
estimated $2.173 million. (Id.) Further investigations revealed that, in addition to B-151, B
145 and B-147 had been burglarized on December 8; and units A-301, A-185, B-148, and B
259 were burglarized on December 6. (Id. at 3, 6.) Beyond Mr. Falcone’s watches, he
reported as missing a Panerai watch brand bag, watch boxes, duffle bag, and a briefcase
that also had watches in it. (Id. at 4}

StorageOne stills from video surveillance showed two individuals, a white female
adult and white male adult, entering the facility at 3:21 aM, on the 8t and leaving again aff
4:43 AM, carrying several bags and pushing a wheelchair. (/d. at 3.) Detectives canvassed
the area and learned from unidentified homeless people that the suspects may be homeless
and living near the intersection of Tropicana and Fort Apache, which is approximately 2
miles from the StorageOne location. (Id) Upon checking past crime reports and field
interviews of homeless people in that area between Tropicana and Fort Apache, detectiveg
found an interview from July 7, 2018, involving an Annie Bishop and a James Gregg who
were homeless and matched the general description of the suspects. (Id. at 3, 4) The lead
detective compared still shots from StorageOne surveillance to booking photos of Ms;
Bishop and Mr. Gregg, determining there were similarities, but could not conclude these

were the burglary suspects, due to the still shots being distant and the faces unclear. {Id. af

AA 000008
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5). The detective did determine from surveillance that the suspects were carrying various
bags and an apparent chessboard (Id. at 5). Ms. Bishop and Mr. Gregg were never located.

On December 11, 2018, at 6:30 PM, officers re-canvassed the area around
StorageOne, attempting to locate Ms. Bishop and Mr. Gregg, and discovered a tent in a
fenced-off desert area east of the StorageOne facility. (Id. at 6.) Officers “decided to hop the
fence that surrounds the desert area and challenged the tent to see if anyone was inside,
There was no answer, so they unzipped the door of the tent to see if anyone was inside.”
(Id. at 6) (emphasis added) Upon opening the tent, officers found nc one home. However,
officers took the opportunity the unzipped and open tent afforded, looked inside, and saw 3
wooden chessboard and watch boxes with one box that had “Panerai” written on it. (/d. af]
6-7) Outside the tent approximately 25 yards east, a folded wheelchair was also seen. (Id.)

Based on the prior investigation and, significantly, the items officers saw inside and
outside the tent, a search warrant was sought and obtained. (Exhibit B, Tent Application,
Search Warrant, Return and Property Report) Officer Shark, in his application, stated he
was part of the flex team who saw the tent in the desert, and that officers attempted to
make verbal contact with the residents of the tent (Id. at 5, In. 234-40) Receiving no
answer, the officer states that due to the “tent being in a fenced in private area, Officers
opened the front zipper flap to determine if there were occupants inside.” (Id, at 5, In|
240-42) (emphasis added) Upon opening the tent and looking inside, officers saw the
watch boxes, one of which had “Panerai” written on it, and the chessboard they believed,
was seen on video, while outside was the folded wheelchair. (Id. at 5, In. 242-50)

During the processing of the tent and surrounding area, latent prints were
recovered from various items including the chessboard, a coin holder, blue bag, and red
jewelry cleaner jar from inside the tent. (Exh. A, at 7) Additionally, the wheelchair handles

were swabbed for DNA (Id.)

AA 000009
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Later that night of the 11th, after property from the tent was impounded, officers
returned to the campsite, ostensibly to search for Officer Shark’s lost cell phone. (Id. at 7-8.)
They discovered the scene had been disturbed since the earlier departure. (Id. at 8.) While
at the campsite, they heard an alarm sound from inside StorageOne, but officers did nof
locate any suspects inside the facility. (Id.) Instead, officers saw a black Lincoln Navigator
parked nearby. (Id.) Officers sealed the vehicle and towed it to a secured lot, anticipating
searching it the following day. (Id.) In the nearby Chevron gas station parking lot, officerg
saw two black male adults get into a silver Nissan Altima with a Lyft sticker and drive away,
but did not investigate them. (Id.)

On December 12t at 1:02 aAM, a “Chris Jones” called to report a robbery at 9920 W,
Flamingo Rd,, at the Chevron just east of the StorageOne facility. (Id. at 8) He reported two
homeless men with a handgun and sawed-off shotgun took his phone and wallet and were
in a silver Nissan Altima with a Lyft sticker. (Id. at 8-9.) The person reporting said he was
now at his apartment at the Eagle Trace Apartments, 5370 East Craig Road. (Id. at 9.) The
Lincoln Navigator had a parking tag for the same apartment complex. (/d.) Surveillance
video from the StorageOne facility showed the same apparent white male from prior video,
as well as the black males from the Nissan on the property. (Id.)

Officers identified one of the black males as Tyree Faulkner and interviewed him,
(Id. at 9-10.) He would admit to fabricating the robbery incident, and was with his cousin
who knew a homeless white couple, who paid them $500.00 to drive them around; the
white female had tried to sell a watch, but decided against it. (/d. at 10-11.) Later, the white
male offered Mr. Faulkner and his cousin each a $1000.00, to drive them around. (Id. at 11.)
They went to the storage facility where the white male used a pair of bolt cutters to cut the

hasp of a lock on a unit. (1d.)

AA 000010
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A search warrant of the Lincoln Navigator was issued based on the information Mr,
Faulkner provided, the previous investigation completed, and notably, the application
references a “bag of clothing sitting on the ground to the rear of the Navigator.” (Exhibit C,
Navigator Application, Search Warrant, Return and Property Report, at 9) According to a
detective present during the search of the tent a few hours earlier, he recognized it as one
of the bags he saw at the campsite. (Id.) Upon searching the Navigator, officers found two
watches that later were determined to have the fingerprints of Mr. Faulkner and Thomas|
Herod, and other miscellaneous items (Id.).

Of significance to the instant motion, later this same day, the latent prints from the
tent were processed, showing Ms. Ornelas’ prints on the chessboard, and Mr. Lewis’ prints
on a coin holder, blue bag, and red jewelry cleaner jar. (Exh. A, at 11) Based on the recovery
of these prints, the lead detective made a forensic request for the prints recovered from the
StorageOne facility to be matched against them; while a comparison of the prints of Messrs|
Faulkner, Bishop and Gregg was also requested (/d. at 12)

Subsequent investigation indicated Ms. Ornelas was located in downtown Las Vegas,
and surveillance located her near the Fun City Motel at 2233 South Las Vegas Boulevard,
(Id. at 12.) On December 14, she was taken into custody there, and application for a search
warrant for the hotel room and Ms. Ornelas’ DNA was made. (Exhibit D, Motel Room
Application, Search Warrant, and Return) Notably, the applying detective referenced the
search of the tent, the items recovered inside including the watch boxes, chessboard, coin
holder and bags (Id. at 4, In. 159-70) Then the Applicant tells the judge that latent prints
were recovered from the tent property, which returned to Ms. Ornelas and Mr. Lewis (Id. at
4, In. 186-89) The search warrant was granted and among the numerous items seized and
listed on the Return were 3 watches which were determined te belong to Mr. Falcone. (Exh.

D, at 10)

AA 000011



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

On January 9, 2019, the lead detective received a forensic report on the printg
recovered from StorageOne, indicating Mr. Lewis’ hand print and Ms. Ornelas’ thumb print
were on the outside wall of unit B-145. (Exh. A at 14) According to the lead detective, “That
now placed both Lewis and Ornelas at the scene of the original burglaries to Blutman,
Rodrigue and Falcone’s units.” (Id.) Based on this new development of Mr. Lewis as a
suspect, officers began a search of him which led them to his mother’s address which
resulted in his arrest for parole violation. (/d.)

The lead detective then interviewed Mr. Lewis about various aspects of this case
including the mode of the burglaries, his hand print at StorageOne, the tent, and the items
seized from it, including his fingerprints. (/d, at 14-15) While Mr. Lewis denied
involvement in these burglaries and made no admissions of guilt, the lead detective
repeatedly said he was lying, offered to lessen his incarceration if Mr. Lewis would return
the watches, and generally made comments meant to elicit an admission of guilt. (/d. at 15)
At one point, the detective asked him who had the watches and Mr. Lewis said to talk with)
Ms. Ornelas (Id.) After the interview, the lead detective re-booked Mr. Lewis for the instant
charges. (Id.)

MEMORANDUM QF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

LAW
The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects citizens, persons
and property from unreasonable searches and seizures by government agents except after
obtaining a warrant supported by probable cause. Probable cause exists when “there is a
fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.”
Hlinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). Evidence obtained as a result of an illegal search

is subject to exclion, as is evidence later discovered and “derivative of an illegality” as “fruit
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of the poisonous tree.” Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984) (quoting Nardona
v. United States, 308 U.S. 338, 341 (1939)).

A person has a subjective expectation of privacy in a tent and its contents where
that person manifests such expectation, such as by leaving it closed. Ailward v. State, 112
Nev. 141, 150, 912 P.2d 243, 249 (1996), overruled on other grounds by Rosky v. State, 121
Nev. 184, 111 P.3d 690 (2005); see also United States v. Gooch, 6 F.3d 673, 676 (9th Cir|
1993). The Fourth Amendment “protects people, not places.” Gooch, 6 F.3d at 676-77
(quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967)). “Simply because [the defendant]
camped on land [owned by another] does not diminish his expectation of privacy.” Alward,
112 Nev. at 150, 912 P.2d at 249. Warrantless searches of tents, therefore, violate the
Fourth Amendment. Id. (relied on by, e.g., Haley v. State, 696 N.E.2d 98, 101 (Ind. 1998);
State v. Pulse, 925 P.2d 797, 813 (Hi. 1996)).

Though it cannot be secured by a deadbolt and can be entered by those who
respect not others, the thin walls of a tent nonetheless are notice of its
occupant's claim to privacy unless consent to enter be asked and given. One
should be free to depart the campsite for the day's adventure without fear of
this expectation of privacy being violated. Whether of short or longer term
duration, one's occupation of a tent is entitled to equivalent protection from
unreasonable government intrusion as that afforded to homes or hotel
rooms.

People v. Schafer, 946 P.2d 938, 944 (Colo. 1997) (citing Alward, 112 Nev. at 150, 912 P.2d
at 249).
APPLICATION
The search of the tent, the car, and motel room were violations of the Fourth
Amendment of the United States Constitution, and the items and physical evidence
obtained as a result should be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. Mr. Lewis
concedes he does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in Mr. Faulkner’s Navigator

the hotel room Ms. Ornelas occupied, or her DNA. However, Mr. Lewis, like all peoplée
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afforded the protection of the Fourth Amendment of the US Constitution, absolutely had an
expectation of privacy in the home he maintained during this case, his tent. Officerg
unzipped his tent in clear violation of the Fourth Amendment and case law. As such, every
tangible piece of property illegally seized from the tent and surrounding area, and any
physical evidence recovered including Mr. Lewis’ fingerprints and DNA swabs should be
suppressed.

As Alward and the related cases show, the occupants of a tent, irrespective of
whether the tent is on private or public ground, have a legitimate expectation of privacy
The Alward Court found their defendant, like Mr. Lewis, had a subjective expectation off
privacy evidenced by the leaving of his tent zipped and closed, and had an objective
expectation of privacy which was not diminished because the tent was on land managed by
the Bureau of Land Management. 112 Nev. at 150, 912 P.2d at 249 Insofar as expectationg
of privacy, Mr. Lewis, is similarly situated here and Alward is on all fours with this issue.

Mr. Lewis also seeks to suppress, under the Fruit of the Poisonous Tree Doctrine
espoused in Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984): his hand print recovered
from StorageOne; his entire interview; all documents, statements, and any other tangible
evidence relating to his identity; and any evidence from the search of the Navigator and the
Fun City Motel that the State intends to use against Mr. Lewis at trial. As the US Supreme
Court held in Segura, “evidence later discovered and found to be derivative of” an illegal
search or seizure must be excluded, as well as any primary evidence directly obtained from|
the illegality. (Id. at 468 US 797) This directive, by necessity, includes all the above items
sought to be suppressed. It would go against established case law and defeat the purpose
of Fourth Amendment protection, to allow admission of these secondary items of evidence

against Mr. Lewis with the taint of illegality permeating into them as well.
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Mr. Lewis was established as a possible suspect, solely from the prints recovered
from the tent, which was opened in violation of the Fourth Amendment. There simply was
no other mechanism by which Mr. Lewis would have been identified. The investigation|
performed right up until the moment officers unconstitutionally opened the tent, led them|
to Ms. Bishop and Mr. Gregg, and these two individuals were removed as suspects as a
result of this intrusion into Mr. Lewis’ home. Therefore, all evidence that flowed and was
derived from this identification should be suppressed as well.

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should order the suppression of the tangible property and
physical evidence recovered from Mr. Lewis’ tent and surrounding area, as these itemg
were seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the US Constitution and the Alward
case. By extension under the Fruit of the Poisonous Tree doctrine and the Segura case, Mr.
Lewis’ hand print, his interview, all documents, statements, any other tangible evidence
relating to his identity, and any evidence from the search of the Navigator and the Fun City|

Motel that the State intends to use against Mr. Lewis at trial must be suppressed as well.

DATED this =& _day of February 2021.
By: :

Caesar Almase #7974
526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARMENT
DECLARATION OF ARREST REPORT

B4 county Jai O cay satt B Adun 7 Juventte Bureau: SVAC
oF EVENT S ARRESTEES NAME (LAST) {FRBT) (MIDDLE) (137
7030601 181200033889 Lewis Dustip 549-75-3693
£ SEX (i) HGT WGT HAR EYES FOB
W M 03712/1983 g2" 180 BRO HZL Fresno, CA
A0 o T STATE [ZF GoDE
Transient Las Vegas NV 85101

OCCURRED K ARREST .
oate: 12/08/2018 | 7we03:21 | oare 0171672018 | wue: 12:00
N OF CRIME (NUMBER, STREET, CITY, STATE, ZiP CODE)

§960 W. Flamingo Road B-151, Las Vegas, NV 89147
AARGES / OF

Burgiary (First) / NRS 2056.060.2 (two counts)
Burglary (First) / NRS 205.060.2

Grand Larceny > $3,500.00 / NRS 205.222.3
“Conspiracy Burglary / NRS 205,060.2
Burglary (First) / NRS 205.060.2

Conspl Burglary / NRS 205.060.2
OR EVENT
ICR, Voluntary Statements, Property Report, Search Warrants - 181200033889; ICR, Voluntaq_f Sla_temem .

LOCATION OF ARREST (NUMBER, STREET. CITY, STATE, ZIP CODE)
330 Casino Center, Las Vegas, NV 83101 '

The undersigned makes the following declarations subject 1o the penalty of pelji:ry and says: That | am a peace officer
with the LVMPD, being so employed for a period of approximately 18 year(s).

That | leamed the following facts and circumstances which lead me to believe that the above named subject commitied or
was committing the offenses above at the location of 8860 W. Flamingo Road #B-1561, LV, NV 88147 and that the
offense(s) occurred at approximately 03:21 hours on the 8th day of December, 2018.

Detalls for Probable Cause:

Officers Invoived:
Detective E. Grimes PH# 6729
Detective A. Archer P# 6403
Datective M. Saunders P# 6076
Detective T. Linder P# 0848
Detective Z. Davis P 13944
Detective B. Jones P# 86789
Detective B. Rose P# 9681
Sgt. J. Glover P¥ 13976
Officer A. Shark P# 14815
Qfficer J. Ellis P# 9208
Officer M. O'Connor Pi 14817
Officer R. Tighe P# 15840
Detective J. Zinger P# 9206
Officer C. Penney P# 16844
Officer J. Luoto PR 17324
Officer A. Elkind PR 14749
Other LVMPD Personnel Involved:
Crime Scene Analyst W, Scharpf P# 16762
Crime Scene Anafyst T. Oison P# 16582
Crime Scene Analyst G. Tapay P# 15708
P# 4934

Crime Scene Analyst B. Grover
Wherefore, Declorant proys that o finding be made by a mogistrate that probable couse exists to hold said person for prellminary heering (if charges are o falony or
gross misdemeanor) or for triol {if chorges ore misdemeanor).

LVIPD 1008 (Raw. 1-19)

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX Page 13 of 167

AA 000017




f v
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

CONTINUATION REPORT

Pege 2of tB

Crime Scene Analyst E. Stephens  P# 5158
Forensic Scientist If L. Manigault P# 15987
Forensic Sclentist [l L. Haines P# 9931

Victims:
Marc Falcone
03M6173
52 Wildwing Ct, Las Vagas, NV 89135

Michael Rodrigue
11/26147
32 Garden Rain, Las Vegas, NV 89135

Rita Yvonne Rodrigue
06129150
32 Garden Rain, Las Vegas, NV 89135

Kenny Blutman
07/02/163 .
10340 Hoale Garden Ct, Las Vegas, NV 89136

Grit Koppetz
12/22/80
3200 Mclood #266, Las Vegas, NV 89121

Contacts:
Jennifer Schacht
Q722184
52 Wildwing Ct, Las Vegas, NV 89135

Nedy Macedo
04/30/85
9960 W. Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, NV 89147

Lee Preble
5105 S. Durango Drive #100, Las Vegas, NV 89113

Don Merchant
4240 W. Flamingo Road #100, Las Vepas, NV 89103

Tony Casillas
9920 W. Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, NV 89147

Arsen Urfalyan
8425 W. Flamingo Road #5, Las Vegas, NV 89147

Details:

On December 8, 2018, at approximately 10:17 hours, Officer C. Pennay,
StorageOne storage facility, located at 8960 W. Flamingo Road, Las Vegas,
to unit B-151, under LVMPD event 181200033883.

he made contact with Marc Faicone, who was the renter of B-151. Faicone had last
2018, at approximately 14:45 hours. Falcone loft his storage unit secured. On

P# 15844, was dispatched to the
NV 89147, in response for a burglary

When Officer Penney arrived,
been to that unit on December 7,
Wherefore, Decloront proys thal a finding be mode by o magistrate that probable couse exists to hold said person for preliminory hearing (if charges ore a felony or
gross misdermeanor) or for trial {Iif charges are mEkdemeancr).

[FOOTERTEXT]
LMD 802 (Rev 02/18) Word 2013
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December 8, 2018, at approximately 09:48 hours, Falcone received a call from StorageOne employes Nedy
Macedo, informing him that his unit had been burglarized.

Falcone’s girlfriend, Jennifer Schacht, was also on scene and had told Officer Penney that she had talked with
Macedo and that Macedo stated that their video surveillance showed two subjects entering the facility from the
southwest comer, by the main office, at approximately 03:21 hours on December 8, 2018. Macedo aiso advised
that there was a door activation alarm on unit B-147 at 04:03 hours. A second alarm was set off on the targot
unit, B-151, at 04:37 hours. The same subjects were sesn leaving the facility at 04:43 hours with several bags
and a wheelchair, exiting the facllity and heading west on Flamingo Road.

Faicone had toid Officer Panney that he was missing 21 high-end, rare, collectable wrist watches with an
approximate value of §2,173,000.00.

Officer Penney completed a report for Burglary under event 181200033889,

Sgt. M. Ibarra, P# 8103, and Detectives B. Jones, P# 9879, and B. Rose, P¥ 9661, responded to the scens. They
lsarned that there were actually three storage units that had been burglarized. They were units B-146, 8-147 and
B-151. They ensured that the scene was processed by Crime Scene Analyst W. Scharpf, P# 16782.

Detective Jones was able to get a detalied [ist of stolen watches from Faicone. He also was able to get some still
shots from the facliity’s video survelilance, which he later had uploaded into the LYMPD electronic patrof briefing
system. The briefing entry described the suspects, with the first being described as a white female aduit, mid-
30°s to 40's, light-colored hair In a ponytall, wearing a dark-colored jacket, pushing a wheelchalr, and the second
being described as a white male adult, mid-30's, short dark-colored hair, dark-colored hoodle, dark-colored jeans.

8gt. Ibarra and Detectives Jones and Rose also canvassed the surrounding businesses for more video
surveillance, but were unsuccessful in locating any.

On Dacember 8, 2018, at approximately 16:04 hours, Officers J. Luoto, P# 17324, and A. Eikind, P# 14749,
completed a crime report for Burglary under LVMPD event 181200034974. That report was for Michae! Rodrigue,
who was the renter of unit B-147. The officers were requested by Detective Jones. The report states that
Rodrigue and his wife, Rifa Yvone Rodrigue, had inspected their unit and their belongings had been moved, but
at that time they were hot sure if anything had boen stolen. Both had told the officers that entry into the unit
appeared to have been made through a hole cut In the wall coming from an adjacent storage unit.

Later that afternoon, swing-shift detectives responded to canvass the area as well, trying to locate the two
subjects, who appeared to possibly be homeless individuals. Detective T. Lindar, P# 9848, spoke to a homeless
person at the McDonaid’s across the street and had described the individuzis we were looking for and was told
that the subjects were homeloss and that they lived in the area near Fort Apache and Tropicana.

Detactive Linder went to Fort Apache and Tropicana and located another homeless pearson there that told him he
had seen a blonde female in a wheel chair being pushed by a white mate adult in that area. The area was
checked for the two subjects, but they were not located.

Detective Linder retumed to his office and conducted a records chack of our crime reports and fleld Interviews
and located a field interview of a white female that was stopped in the area of Fort Apache and Tropicana named
Annie Bishop, born D8/15/84, ID# 5699431, who was with her husband, James Gregg, born 12/29/86, iD# 7048098,
Detective Linder was able to pull up prior booking photos for both and Bishop had blonde halr with dark roots
that he thought could possibly be a match for the female in the surveillance photos, who also had bionde hair
with dark roots. Gregg also had short brown halr, which the male in the video surveillance also had.

On December 16, 2018, J, Detective E. Grimes, P# 6728, was assigned Falcone and Rodrigue’s cases. | checked
to see If the crime scene report and photos had been uploaded Into Onbass, but all | found were the video
survelliance still shots that had been uploaded by Detective Jones. The crime scene report and photos had not

been uploaded into Onbase yet.
Wherefore, Declorant prays that o finding be made by & mogistrate that probable cause exists to hoid soid person for prefiminary bearing (if charges ore a fefony or

gross misdemeanar) or for trial {if chorges ore misdemeanor).
[POOTERTEXT]
LVMPO 602 (Rev 02/18) Werd 2013
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| was also adviged that the lock to unit B-151 was found inside the unit with a key In the lock.

| had received a list of the watches that had besn stolen that was sent by Detective Jones to our Investigative
Specialist, B. Willlams, P# 7517. The list had make/model/serial numbers/values/ and descriptions. There was
also a list of photos of similar waiches to those stolen that Faicone had also sent to Detective Jones. | had IS

Willlams enter the watches into NCIC for those that had serizal numbers.

This Is a list of the watches that were stolen:

Richard Milie/Fellipe Massa, RM11, s/n — 4389 #3 of 50, $185,000.00
Vacheron, 5000/000PB048, e/n — 1353947, $150,000.00

Urwerk, 202 White Shark, s/n - #6 of 12, $27,000.00

Audemar Piguet, LE100 Royal Oak Ceramic Perpetual Calendar, s/n — J63429, $160,000.00
Rolex, white gold Skydweller 116509, s/n - 207231D0, $44,000.00
Patek, 5170P, sin — 316026, $96,400.00

Patek, 5890, $64,500.00

Audemar Piguet, Pablo Montoya, s/n — 94, $80,000.00

Greubel Forsey, 24 Secondes, s/n - #14, $300,000.00

Greubel Forsey, GMT, s/n - #19, $300,000.00

Patek, 5650G, s/n — 7096448, $150,000.00

Patek, 5168G, s/n — 7116236, $66,000.00

Paneral, PAM 692 BMG, s/n — 0392, $13,000.00

Paneral, PAM 721, s/n - 0394, $10,000.00

Paneral, PAM 767, s/n - 005, $140,000.00

MB & F, Legacy Perpetual, s/n - 03W83223, $150,000.00

H. Moser Cle, Flying Endeavour, s/n — 200116474, $27,000.00
Richard Mille, RM11-03, s/n — RM11-03T150, $165,000.00

Panerai, PAM 375, s/n - 0951, $12,300.00

Paneral, PAM 728, s/n — 067, $17,300.00
A. Lange & Sohne, Datograph Perpetual Tourbillion, sin - 228071, $300,000.00

1 contacted Falcone by phone and asked if he was missing anything other than wrist watches. He told me only
some minor Items. | explained that | had seen some still shots from the storage facility’s video surveiilance and
it showed the suspects with a whesichair that had what looked like a large chessboard In it. Falcone told me he
had actually seen the video when he was at the facllity on the day of the burglary and thought it was a .
chessboard too. | asked if it was his and he sald it was not. He sald he was missing a couple bags, one was a
Panetal bag that was white with biue trim, which had two watch boxes Inside of it, and a black canvas duffle bag.
He was also missing a leather brisfcase that had a couple watches Inside, and he was also missing a couple

watch boxes thai were approximately 18" x 14”.

I had asked Falcone why he had such valuable items inside a storage unit. Falcone explained that he was
bullding a new home and actually had four storage units rented at this location. He said he had a handyman put
together four sheiving_units, which he loaded up with his watch collection. Most of his watches come In wooden
boxes that take up a lot of space. He also had two safes with watches Inside the unit as well. He salid he just did
not have the space for all of those Items at the home he was currently staying in.

{ asked Falcone about the lock with the key In it. He told me that he had three sets of keys but could not find one
of his set of keys. He saki he normally keeps his keys on a lanyard that he keeps around his neck, since he has
four units. He wasn't aware of how one of his keys could have been taken. T

I also found the fleld interview that Detective Linder had found regarding Bishop and Gregg, which was from July
7, 2018, under event 180707-2623. The narrative states that Bishop’s mother had called the police to set her
daughter up to be arrested for some outstanding wamants she knew her daughter had. Bishop's mother wanted

Wherefars, Declorant preys that o finding be mode by o mogistrate thot probelye couse exists to hold said person for preliminary hearing (if charges are a fefony or
grass misdemeanor) or Jor triol {if charges ore misdemecnor).

[FOOTERTEXT}

LVMPD 602 (Rav 02/18) Yiord 2013
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her daughter off of the streets because she was homeless, a drug user, and wanted her away from her husband,
James Gregg.

The field interview didn't list Gregg’s date of birth or ID#, but | found domestic violence report between the two
that occurred on March 14, 2018, under event 180314-2257, which listed Gregg's date of birth.

| also was able to view both of their booking photos and compared them to the video surveillance stili shots that
Dstective Jones had uploaded into Onbase. The video survelllance photos are a distant shot and the faces of the
subjects cannot be seen clearly. Bishop does look similar to the female in the photos, but | could not say for
sure they were the same person. They both had blond hair with dark roots and a similar body build. The male
suspect’s face in the photas had no clear details and ail | could say was that he had short dark brown halr, which
Gregg also had, and their builds appeared to be simllar, but [ could not say for sure thay ware the same person.

| conducted a records check on both in our pawn shops and Bishop had not pawned anything since January of
2018, and Gregg had last pawned something on November 30, 2018. The phone number listed on that pawn
transaction also matched the phone number listed for Gregg In the Domestic Violsnce report, listed as a cellular

number.

| also found that Gregg was currently wanted for Consplracy Burglary, Domestic Battery and some traffic
violations.

Since both were homeless, | had no address for either and had both flagged in SCOPE that if located | should be
notified.

[ also had our FLEX Squad at our station, commanded by Sgt. J. Glover, P# 13976, attempt to locate Bishop and
Gregg, but they were unsuccessful.

| decided to apply for a precision pen register on Gregg's phona, to find him for his outstanding warrants,
thinking that if we locate him quickly, Bishop would probably be with him, and then | could interview both
regarding the burglariea and If they were responsible, they might still have some of the stolen property. While
preparing the affidavit, | spoke with Detective Linder to get the details of what he had done first hand. He told me
that when he initially responded to the area of Flamingo and 1-215, he had attempted to canvass the area,
speaking with homeless individuals. He told me that he would describe the male and female suspects and that
they had a wheelchair, asking if that sounded like anyone they knew. He found a homeless female, who he did
not identify, that recognized the description as matching a couple that stayed in the area of Fort Apache and
Tropicana. Detective Linder then went to that area to canvass the homeless. He found a male, who he also did
not identlfy, that recognized the description, teiling him that he believed they came by his camp with the
whesichalr sarller that day. Detective Linder then attempted to locate the subjects In that area but was unable to
find them. Detactive Linder then returned to his office and started checking the crime reports and field
Interviews and that is when he found Bishop and Grepg, who he thought could possibly be a match for the
suspects in the photos. His partner, Detective Z. Davls, P# 13944, took booking photos of Bishop and Gregg and
started walking the bicycle/jogging path that parallels the 1-215 from Flamingo to Tropicana, canvassing the
homeless along that path looking for Bishop and Gregg and also showing the photos to any homeless

individuals he found.

i contacted Detective Davis and he told me he found 2 homeless male named Ethan Riggs, born 09/16/89, in the
aroa of Fort Apache and Tropicana, who recognized the photo of Gregg, saying he knew him as “Shamus” and
that he and his wife usually stay In a RV that is usually parked in the Walmart parking iot nearby. Detective Davis

had asked If he ever saw them with 8 wheelchalr and Riggs had sald he never saw them with a wheelchair.
Detective Davis attempted to locate the RV but found none in the parking lot.

| apptied for the precision pen register which was authorized by the Honorable District Court Judge N. Alff.

| had one of my partners, Detective M. Saunders, P# 6076, go to the StorageOne to get me a copy of the video

surveillance. Detective Saunders ohtained the video and e-mailed It to me.
Whevefore, Declorant proys thot ¢ finding be mode by a mogistrote thot probebie covse exists to frofd sold person for prellminery hearing [if charges are o felony or

gross misdemeoanos) or for triai {if charges are risdemennor].
[FOOTERTEXT)
LVMP) 802 {Rav 02/18) Word 2013
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i viewed the video survelilance from two different camera views and it showed that at approximately 03:21:24
hours on December 8, 2018, the white male enters the property from the pedestrian gate that is located on the
southeast part of the office building. The male Is seen wearing a dark-colored jacket with possibly a hooded
sweatghirt underneath, hood up, and dark-colored pants, carrying nothing. At approximately 03:21:39 hours, the
female can be spen entering the same gate, wearing a large dark-colored jacket, dark-colored shirt, dark-colored
pants, hair pulled back into a ponytail, pushing a wheeichair that Is empty. On a different camera that appears to
be between two rows of storage bulldings, at approximately 04:43:17, the couple can be seen together. The
female now has what appears to be a large chessboard in the wheelchalr, with some type of bag hanging off of
the side of the wheeichair. The male is wearing a different jacket and Is carrying what looks like a light-colored
duffel bag In his ieft hand, with two bags hanging off of his right shoulder, one that appears to be a black
briefcase and the other some medium-colored {night vision camera Is distorting the colore) duffie bag. At
approximately 04:43:35 hours on the camora by the pedestrian gate, the female can be seen pushing the
wheelchair towards the exit gate. At approximately 04:44:40 hours, the male can be seen heading toward the exit
gate and the jacket can be seen in color since the lighting is better and it appeared to be a groen Army jacket and
the males pants appear to be blue jeans. Theé male also only had one bag strapped acrass his shoulder in front

of his chest and the other two bags are no longer with him.

On December 11, 2018, | had checked our crime reports to see if | could locate the report for the third victim, but
couldn't Jocate one. | coritacted the StorageOne and told the employee that answered that | was Investigating the
burglaries that had oceurred there and the employee asked me, “Which ones?” | asked what she was talking
about and she explained that two days prior to the three units getting burglarized on December 8, 2018, there
were four units that had been burglarized on December 6, 2018. | checked and did not find any crime reports for
that day. The employee toid me that they had tried contacting the four renters, but three were currently out of
state and did not know what they were missing and the fourth never returned thelr calls. | asked what units had
been burglarized and she told me unit A-301, rented by Jacob Battay, unit A-18S, rented by Consuelo Cassara,
unit B-148, rented by Michael Mosshoider, and unit B-289, rented by Mark Rothermel. The employee also told me
that from the December 8th burglaries, unit B-145 was rented by Kenny Blutman.

The empioyee told me that their video survelliance showed it was the same couple that did the burglaries on
December 8, 2018. | asked if she could make a copy of the videos for me and she told me | would have to speak

with Macedeo, who was off, but would leave her a note for me.

| was able to get phone numbers for Biutman, Battey, Cassara, Mossholder and Rothermel. | called Blutman and
he told me that he had inspected his unit, which only contained paperwork for an old business of his, and
nothing appeared to be stolen. Of the others, | was only able to speak with Cassara, who confirmed she was
currently out of state and didn't know if anything was missing, but was concerned about some crystal that she

had inside the unit.

to verify that he was not missing anything. He told me that they were only missing some
misceilaneous [tems, nothing of any great vatue. 1told him that there wes video surveillance of the suspects and
although he may think his items were not of much value, it might be Important for my case. He told me he was
missing a Disney collector doll, Lobitan coflector doll, green Barble doll, black briefcase, Thomas the Train toys,
green Army jacket with “"Rodrigue” on It, and a Madam Alexander doll. 1asked if he was missing anything eise
and he said he did not think so. | asked If he was missing a chiessboard and he said he forgot about that. He
said his son had given him a large wooden chessboard/set that he had stored in the unit and forgot about that,
but said it was afso missing. | tol¢ him that was Important to me because it can be seen on the video

survelllance.

] aiso called Rodrigue

30 hours, | was contacted by my sergeant, E. Wilds, P# 5601, who told me
that Sgt. Glover and his squad had decided to re-canvass the area around the storage faciiity in an attempt to
iocate Bishop and Gregg. They had created an “|nvestigation/Follow Up" event undér event number

181200049822. While walking along the bicycle/jogging path that parallels 1-215, they located a tent that was in
the desert area directly east of the StorageOne, north of the Chevron gas station that is aigo directly aast of the

StorageOne. They decided to hop the fence that surrounds the desert area and challanged the tent to see if
Wherefore, Declaront prays that e finding be mede by o mogistrote that proboble couse exists ta hold soid person for petiiriinory hearlig (if chorges are a fefory or

gress misdemeanur) or for trial {if chorges are misdemeanor).
{FOOTBHTEXT)
LVMPD 802 (Rav 0218) Word 2013

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX  Page 34 of 167
o - AA-000022

Later that evening, at approximately 18:




{ o
LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

CONTINUATION REPORT

HEADER
. Paga T of 15

anyone was inside. There was no answer, so they unzipped the door of the tent to see if anyone was inside.
There was nobody inside, but they saw a large wooden chessboard, which matched the one seen on the video
survelllance still shot that was in the wheelchair being pushed by the female suspect. They also saw what
appeared to be watch boxes and could see that one had “Panerai” written on it. They did not enter the tent. They
also saw that about 25 yards directly east of the tent was a folded wheeichair that also looked like the one on the

video survelllance photos.

I responded and assisted Officer A. Shark, P# 14815, on dolng a felephonic search warrant for the tent, which we
did under Falcone's original event, 181200033888. Officer Shark was the affiant on the search warrant, which

was authorized by the Honorable Justice Court Judge J. Bonaventure.

Wsa had CSA B. Grover, P# 4934, process the scene first. CSA Grover was able to [ift latent prints off of several
items, including the wheeichalr near the handle, wood “Officine Paneral” box, green “Sears” box, white “Luxor”
box, plastic cass in black sultcase, plastic coin case in blue bag, “Prada” eyeglass case, chess set, red Jewelry
cleaner jar, and “Fossil” box. CSA Grover also swabbed the handies of the wheelchalr for possible DNA.

We searched the tent and were able to rscovar the following items pursuant to the telephonic search warrant:

Wheeichair
Watch boxes

Black duffle bag
Army jacket with “Rodrigue” that had dog tags Inside one of the pocksts for “Michael Rodrigue”

Chessboard
White bag (“Panerai”)
Black brisfcase

Disney collectible doll (Mickey Mouse)
Watch box {"Gucci”) with miscellaneous jewelry and cards with Falcone's name on them

There was also numerous other items of obvious value, consisting of a lot of costume Jewelry, purse/bags, music
box, paperwork with names of different people (including Jacob Battey, Vic & Micah Realica), electronics (cellular
phones, laptops, e-readers, tablet computers, headphones), New Jersey driver's license for Eugene Langley,
passport for a child named Andrew Zhao, numerous coin collection aibums and cases (with most of the coins

missing except for mainly pennies), sports card collection, and other miscellanoous items. -

| decided that we would also impound the other items of value for safekeeping, since | knew that at least some of
it belonged to other people and the rest could possibly beiong to whoever was residing at the tent and we could
not secure the tent to pravent anyone else from stealing the property.

We also found a business card for Las Vegas Jewelry Broker that had handwritten on it “Audemars Piguet Royal
Oak off shore T-3 Titanium® written on It. That matched one of the watches that was listed on Falcone’s report.

It was now approaching 23:00 hours and was getting late and was cold outside. We did not have the time to do a

property report In the field for the large amount of property that we waere taking for safekeeping, so | left a post-it
note on the search warrant return, which basically stated we Impounded a lot of property for safekeeping and to

contact me if any of the property was thelrs, with my office phone number.

We retumed to our office, located at the Spring Valley Area Command, and unloaded all of the property Into our
avidence vauit, and would do a detailed property report later.

| conducted a records check on the Las Vegas Jewelry Exchange (the business card found at the tent with
“Audemar Piguet” written on it, but did not see any watches sold there since December 8th and aiso did not see

any customers named Bishop or Gregg.

Officer Shark then noticed that he could not find his personal cellular phone. We all started looking for it,
checking his vehicle, calling it to see If we heard It ringing anywhere, inciuding the multiple boxes of property we
Wherefore, Declaront prays thot e finding be mode by o mogisirote thot probabie couse exists to hold said person for preliminary heoring (if charges are a felony or

grass misdemeonor] or for trio} {if chorges ore misdemecnor}.
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had in the evidence vault, but couldn't hear it. Officer Shark thought he may have possibly dropped it in the
desert area around the tent, so he and one of his partners, Officer O’Conner, P# 14817, decidad to return to the

tent to look around for his phone.

They arrived back at the tent at approximately 23:45 hours. When they got to the tent, they noticed that the
duplicate original we had left Inside the tent was gone, but the return was still there, They also noticed that some
miscellaneous itams we had left, such as a pair of bolt cutters, some empty non-descript bags, dirty clothing,
were now missing. At approximately 23:58 hours, they heard an alarm sounding off from inside the storage

facility.

They walked back to their vehicie and drove into the storage facility and also requasted avallable patrol units, but
there were no clear units available. Sgt. Glover, the rest of his squad, and | headed back up to the storage faclility
and took up perimeter positions surrounding the facility. The Air Unit was requested as was two K-9 units.

| had taken up a position on the southeast comer, near the pedestrian and entrance gate. Sgt. Glover and a
couple of his officers {Officers J. Ellls, P# 9208 and R. Tighs, P# 15840) were on the southwest comner of the
facllity. While K-9 officers were searching, Sgt. Glover and his officers noticed a matte black, Lincoln Navigator
SUV parked on the west side of the west wall of the storage facility, which they thought iooked suspiclous
because there was a bag, some paperwork, and a U-Haul key on the ground outside the vehicle. They looked Into
the vehicle and did not see anybody inside, but did see a men’s wristwatch in a clear case on the front passenger

seat. The vehicle had California license plate 6NJF287 on It, which returned to Edmund Wilson, 13835 Judah
Avenue, Hawthome, CA 50250. '

1 advised Sgt. Glover that since it was getting late, we should seal the vehicle and tow it to a secured lot 50 we
could do a search warrant on It the following day.

I had also noticed that there was a U-Haul cargo truck parked In the parking lot of the Chevron and Popeye’s
Chicken directly east of me, and advised Sgt. Glover that once K-8 was done searching, we should check to see if

the U-Haul key they found was for that vehicle.

While K-9 was searching, they advised that Inside building B, they found the door to B-161 halfway open. |
advised that was the same unit that had been burglarized before, which was Falcone’s unit. They advised that

there were shelving units full of boxes and a couple safes inside.

K-9 compisted their search and did not locate anyons on property. After they gave the “all clear”, Sgt. Glover
and Officers Ellis and Tighe came over to my position with the U-Haul key. We talked for a moment and while
talking, saw a silver Nigsan with a “Lyft” sign In the front window puil into the Chevron and stop near the front
doors. We saw two black males exit the business. One was a large male in his 20's, weighing over 300 pounds,
wesring only a white tank-top undershirt and jeans. The other male was much shorter, medium bulld, wearing a
white long-sieeved shirt and white pants. We all thought this iooked strange to us because it was currently in the
40's outside and very cold, and neither of those males was wearing a jacket. The males got into the vehicle and it

left the area.
Wa did not make contact with them because | know the suspects in this burglary were a white couple.

After K-9 left, we decided we ware going to re-check the whole facility, thinking that this couple is homeleas and
has no vehicle and that possibly they could be hiding in some unlocked unit or Inside one of the RV’s parked in
the lot. We did not find any unlocked units, but did find one RV that was unlocked, but found nobody inside of it.

While we were re-searching the complex, we alss had a couple officers go back to re-check the tent and desert
area to make sure they did not go back there.

At approximately 01:02 hours on December 12, 2018, a robbery incident was created under event 181200051353,
The details of the call stated that It occurred at the Chevron, located at 8520 W. Flamingo Road, which was the

Chevron just to the east of the StorageOne facllity. It was called in by “Chris Jones”, who advised a 15 minute
Wherefore, Declaront proys that o finding be made by o magistrote thot probable couse exists to hold soid person for preliminary hearing [if chorges are a felony or

gross misdemeanos) or for triol {if charges ore misdemeanar).
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time Japse and that two with firearms (handgun and sawed-off shotgun) had took his phone and wallet. He
advised they would be en route to the McDonalds near Las Vegas Boulevard and Nellis, stating they were In a
biack, Nissan Altima, Lyft vehicle and using the Lyft driver's phone. The caller described the suspects as two
homeless white males in thelr 30’s, who were last seen heading into a Public Storage near the Chevron. An
officer arrived at the McDonalds, but was unable to locate the person reporting. The person reporting called
back and advised he was now at his apartment, located at the Eagle Trace Apartments, 5370 E. Craig Road.

Sgt. Glover contacted me and advised of the robbery call and also told me that the black Lincoin Navigator had a
sticker on the window for Eagle Trace Apartments. We now suspected that the black males and the vehicle may
be involved in the burglary to Falcone's storage unit that evening.

There was no StorageOne manager living on site and [ called an emergency contact number for the business and
spoke with Lee Preble, who was a manager at another location located at 5105 8. Durango Drive. Preble was
aware of the prior burglaries at this location and told me he would respond and aiso had access to the video

surveillance at this location.

Preble arrived a short time later and we were able to review the video surveillance from that evening. it showed
that at approximately 23:43:18 hours the same white male from the video surveillance from the burglaries on
December 8th was inside the property. He somehow triggered the west exit gate to open and walks out of the
property. At approximately 23:49:34 hours, the same male somehow triggered the gate to open again and he
walks back into the property. At approximately 23:48:48 hours, as the gate Is closing, a second male enters the
property, who | recognized as the large black maie | had seen get into the Lyft vehicle at the Chevron, except he
was wearing a black hooded jacket. At approximately 23:51:06 hours, that large black male walks over to the
gate from the inside of the property, out of camera view, and then the gate opana again, and the male watks back
into the property. At 23:61:21 hours, a third male runs into the property through the open gate. | recognized him
as the smaller black male that got into the Lyft vehicie, except he was wearing a black jacket. At 23:69:23 hours,
the white male and the large black male retumn to the gate, the black mele triggers it to open and they leave the
property. The smaller black male can be seen In the distance in the parking lot west of the west wall of the

facllity, which means he must have just jumped the west wall.

Preble showed me another camera that was from the interior of the facility that was between two builldings, and it
is a better view of all three maies. It showed that at approximately 23:49:49 hours, the white male walking with
something long in his hand and wearing a backpack. The two black males follow the white mals at approximately
23:51:25 hours. At epproximately 23:59 hours, all three males are seen running back the way they had come.

Preble showed me a third camera angle that is from the east entrance gate, where the padestrian gate Is located.
it showed the white male on property, walking toward the pedestrian gate at approximately 23:38:41 hours. The
white male is seen walking back into the property at approximately 23:41:20 hours. At approximately 00:04:14
hours from December 12, 2018, Officeis Shark and O'Connor are seen entering the property in their white,
unmarked vehicle. At approximately 00:16:00 hours, | can be seen parked outside the entrance gate on a

perimeter spot.

Whiie Preble was showing me the video surveillance, he asked if | knew that the key and lock to Falcone’s unit
was found Inside the unit on the day of the initial burglary. 1told him | was aware of that. He asked if | knew that
the key had one of thelr StorageOne key tags on it with “B-151” on It and | told him | was not aware of that
bacause the crime scene photos had not been upioaded yet. He told me that they seli the locks with three sets of
keys to the renters and will give them the key tags as a courtesy, but they do not write the unit numbers on the

tags.

Sgt. Glover had recelved an update from the officer that was with the person reporting the robbery at Eagle Trace
Apartments. The officer sald he was with a large black male that he had identified as Tyree Faulkner and that
Faulkner stated he had been with his cousin, who left prior to the officer arriving, In his black Lincoln Navigator
when the two homeless males had robbad them at gun point. | told Sgt. Glover to advise the officer to take the
male Into custody for the burglary that occurred this evening and to have him transported to the Spring Valley

Area Command.
Wherefore, Declaront prays that o finding be mode by a mogistrote that praboble cause exises te hold said person for preliminary heoring (if charges are a felony or

gross misderneanor) or for triol {if charges ore misdemeonor).
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Officers Shark and O'Connor went to the Chevron to see If they could review video sursvelllance. The clerk
advised them that he did not have access. The clerk also remembered the two black males that had been Inside

and he advised them that both had left their jackets behind and the officers recovered them.

| was then advised that Officer Ellis was approached by the driver of the silver Nissan Lyft vehicle, who had
returnad. He later told me that the driver pulled up to him and advised that he had picked up the guys we were
tooking for. Officer Ellls asked who he was referring to and the driver sald he picked up two biack males at the
Chevron, who had asked to borrow his phone. He overheard them taiking to each other saying that they needed
to make a false police report for their vehicle being robbed. Officer Ellls asked the driver his name and the driver

told him he did not want to be invoived and drove off.

1 had also tried calling Falcone earfier once | leamed that his storage unit had been burglarized again. He was
not answering, so | had to have officers go knock on his door and he later responded after Preble had shown me
the video survelllance. | had aiready looked at Falcone’s storage unit and it stifl had the shelving units full of
watch boxes and the two safes Inside. Faicone advised me that after the initlal burglary on December 8th, he
removed all of his watches, but had to leave the boxes and safes because he did not have room for them. He

said tonlght nothing was stolen.

t asked Faicone about the key found on the day of the original burglary, saying ) Just leamed that it had his unit
number written on it. Falcone sald that he has four units on property and has & lanyard with all four keys, but
that they did have the extra keys with the tags, but doesn't know how it could have been left there.

i requested a crime scene analyst to process Falcone’s unit for the incldent that occurred that evening. CSAE.
Stephens, P# 5158, responded and proceased it under the original Investigation/Follow up event we were still on,
181200049822, | was with har when we examined Falcone's unit and it appeared that the hasp that the pad lock
would be on had been damaged so the iock could be removed. We could not locate any lock. Falcone later toid
me that he had two locks on the unit. CSA Stephens aiso photographed the vehicle prior to it being towed.

it was now approaching 04:00 hours and | contacted my sergeant, Sgt. E. Wilds, P# 5801, and told him what had
occurred since we last spoke and that | was going to need some relief since | had been up so long. He called In
two of my partners, Detectives A. Archer, P# 6403, and M. Saunders. | met with them at Spring Valley Area
Command and Faulkner had also just arrived. | briefed them on what had occurred and explained that another
burglary report would have to be done for Falcone’s unit for the Incident that occurred that evening and that the
vehicle that was Impounded would need to a search warrant done so it could be searched for evidence and

property belonging to Falcone.

Detective Saunders and | then conducted a taped Interview (audio/video) with Faulkner. The following is a
summary of that interview and Is not verbatim, please refer to the transcription for full detalls. Detective
Saunders read Faulkner his Miranda rights and Faulkner understood them and agreed to talk with us. He initiaily
told us about his robbery In detalf and then { confronted him about the burglary, letting him know that | had seen
him and the other black male getting Into the Lyft vehicle and that | had video from the storage facllity, showing
they were on property with the white male. | also told him that a few days prior, that unit had been burglarized by
the white male and a white female, where some expensive watches had been stolen, but that tonight nothing had
been stolen. 1asked him to just tell me the truth about what had occurred and to stop lying. He then confessed
to his Involvement In the burglary from that evening. He sald he was not going to tell me who the black male,
only saying it was his cousin. He also said he did not know the white couple, saying his cousin knew the male.

Apparently his cousin had met the white male In jail.

Faulkner told me he had only been in Las Vegas for just over a month and wasn't familiar with the city and the
roads. He sald that he and his cousin had been approached by the white couple a few days prior, the white male
asking if they could give them a ride to a few places. Faulkner said they were pald $500.00 to drive the two
around. He couldn’t remember any specific addresses or business names, but did remember that they did go to
some jewelry store where the female had tried to sell a watch, but didn’t. He said she had walked out of the

Wherefore, Declaront proys thot a finding be made by @ mogistrate thot probabie cause exists to hoid said person for preBminary heoring (if charges are o feiony or
gross misdemeqnor) or jor trial (if cherges are misdemeanor),
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business back to the white male and the employee was running after her, telling her he wanted to buy the watch,
but he said the white male did not want to sell it. Faulkner said they parted ways later.

He then said he and his cousin were at some 7-11, somewhere on Las Vegas Boulevard (he didn’t know which
one), and went in to buy some Juice to drink. The white male was on one of the “Buffalo” machines (keno type
slot machine). The male approached them again, asked if they would be willing to give them some more rides.
They asked what was In it for them and he sald the male told them they could have some watches he had. They
looked at them and he sald they iooked plastic and told him they were not interested in them. He said the male

then offered them $1,000.00 each, which they accepted.

Faulkner said all he could remembar from that svening was that everything they did was along Flamingo Road on
the right side. He said they wanted to buy some marijuana, so they stopped at some weed dispensary and the
fernale went in and bought some. He sald she mentioned that she had some fake [D that she used when she

bought it

He then said that they stopped at some other jeweiry store but didn’t sell anything. They then went up to where
the storage faciiity was located and said the white male told them that he needed their help moving some things,
and he and his cousin went inside with the white male whiie the famale stayed at the vehicle. He said the male
found a way to open the gato by pressing some button on the Inside of the unit. He said they went into one of the
bulldings and the white maie had a pair of boit cutters, which he used to cut the hasp. He said there were two
locks on the hasp and the white male just slid them off and put them into his pocket. He said the white male
opened the door and the alarm sounded off. He sald he was not concemed that the alarm was going off, but then
a moment later he heard the police hellcopter flying by and he and his cousin told the male they were leaving. He
sald the male and female had a backpack each, and that both were full of watches. He sald the white male told
him he needed to get his bags and he told the whits male that the vehicle was unlocked. Faulkner said he and
his cousin walked over to the Chevron, where he used the clerks phone to call his girifriend, who arranged to
have a Lyft vehicle pick them up. He admitted that he made up the robbery incident, saying he know we were
going to find his vehicie and would eventually link it to him, so he figured he would give [t a try, but figured we

woulkd be arresting him.

Detactive Archer completed a new burglary report for Falcone’s storage unit being burglarized that evening
under event 1812000518567. Detective Archer was also listening to our interview with Faulkner and he did the

arrest of Faulkner for Burglary and Conspiracy Burglary.

Detective Saunders applied for a search warrant to search Fautkner’s vehicis, which was a matte black, 1998,
Lincoln, Navigator, California plate 6NJF287, vin — SLMPU28L2WLJ64870. The warrant was approved and signed

by the Honorable Justice Court Judge M. Tobiason.

Detectives Saunders and Archer executed the search warrant and had the vehicle processed by CSA T, Olson, P#
16552. Faulkner's wallet with his identification was found inside. Two watches were aiso located. One was a
Grubel Forsey, model 14, still in a plastic case, and the other was a Panerail, PAM 767, T005M 00, Tourbillion
watch. These matched Faicone's report and | later released them back to Falcone.

Later that afternoon we were also advised that the latent prints lifted at the tent had been entered into AFIS and
two hits came back. Latent prints from the Chessboard came back as a match to Margaux Ormnelas, SCOPE ID#
7032495, and latent prints from a coin holder, blue bag, and red jewelry cleaner jar came back as a match to

Dustin Lewis, SCOPE ID# 7030601.

| returned to work on December 13, 2018, and pulled up the most recent booking photos for both. Ornelas Is a
white female with blond hair that has dark roots, born 03/27/77, 5°6” tall, and weighing 145 pounds. Lewis Is a
white male with short dark-colored hair, bomn 03/42/83, 6'2” tall, and welghing 180 pounds.

| conducted a records check on Ornelas and she currently had outstanding warrants for Domestic Battery and
Non-Sufficient Funds/Check. | conducted a records check on Lewis and he was currently showing priority “58*

through P & P, which meant that he was wanted for violating his parole.
Wherefore, Declarant proys thot o finding be made by a magistrate thot probable couse exists to hold said persan for prefiminary hearing (if charges ore o felony or

grass misdemecnor) or for triul (if chorges are misdemeanor).
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| aiso checked Onbase to see if the crime scene report and photos from the originat burgiary to Falcone,
Rodrigue and Blutman’s units was completed, and found they were. | was able to view the crime scene photos
and It appeared that Blutman’s unit {B-145) was on the corner with his door facing east and was at the
intersection of two aisles. Rodrigue’s unit (B-147) was the next unit to the west, on the south side of the
east/west aisle. Falcone’s unit (B-161) was two units west of Rodrigue's unit. | could ses that the metal wall
above Blutman's unit had been pried loose somehow, giving access to his unit over the top of his relling door.
The suspect(s) wouid have had to climb over the door into his unit. Inside his unit, part of the metal wall on the
west gide, near the ceiling, was cut and pulied to the side creating a hole into Rodrigue’s unit. Rodrigue’s unit's
door was found open, so the suspect(s) must have found a way to open the door from the inside. There was no
entry into the unit between Rodrigue and Faicone's unit and no forced entry into Falcone's unit. | believe that
Falcone may have either accidentally left his unit unlocked with the lock and kay Inside the unit, or left the key in
the lock on the door. | aiso saw that one of the lock mechanisms-on one of Falcone's safes was damaged and

hanging by a wire, which showed the suspect{s) tried to break into the safe as well.

The crime scene repoit showed that latent prints were lifted from the exterior of Blutman’s unit, as well as from
inside of Faicone’s unit. | made a forensic request to have Lewis, Ornelas, Faulkner, Bishop and Gregg's known

prints compared to any iatent prints lifted at the scene.

There are two marijuana dispensaries [ocated on Flamingo Road. One s The Apothecary Shoppe, located at
4240 W. Flamingo Road #100, Las Vegas, NV 89103, and | spoke with the director of security, Don Merchant. 1
explained what | was investigating and he told me the other dispensary is not open at night, so most likely it

would have occurred at his location.

We reviewed the video surveillance and at approximately 22:33 hours a matte black Lincoin Navigator parks in
front of the business. There are four occupants inside. The rear passenger side door opens and then closes,
and then the rear driver’s side door opens and a white female exits. She is wearing a black beanie, camoufiage
jacket, blue jeans and light brown leather boots with fur trim. That female enters the business at 22:34:05 hours
and Merchant saved off a stlil shot, which | immediately recognized as Omelas. Ornelas walts in line, shows her
identification and Merchant was able to check thelr log and sald that the identification was [n the name of “Grit
Koppetz”. Omelas eventually makes her purchase and gets back into the vehicle and they leave.

Werchant provided me a copy of the video survelllance and a copy of the receipt. |

1 recognized the name Grit Koppetz as well. It was one of the customer’s names that | had seen when | had
tooked into the Las Vegas Jewelry Exchange.

| returned to my office and conducted a records check on the name Grit Koppetz. | found that Koppetz was a
victim of burglary under event 180905-1331, which occurred on September 1, 2018, at her business located at
3785 S. Las Vegas Boulevard, Las Vegas, NV 89103. The report states that her office was burglarized and her
wallet was stolen, which had her Nevada driver's license, social security card, resident allen card, Germany

driver's licanse, and $30.00 in cash.

| calied Koppetz and she said that she has no idea who committed her burglary and that there was no video
surveillance.

I contacted Detective J. Zinger, P# 9206, who works on a survelilance squad. He had been advised of my case
and was trying to locate Bishop and Gregg. | told him about the search warrant on the tent and that it appearse
that Bishop and Gregg are not actually involved In this case, letting him know that we recovered finger prints to
another couple that matches the same description of the suspects (and Bishop and Gregg), and that | now

needed to locate Ornelas and Lewis.

On December 14, 2018, Detective Zinger and his squad developed information that Omnelas was located In the
downtown arez. Thay conducted survelllance in that area and spotted a female that looked like Ornelas enter the
Fun City Motel Apartment 110, located at 2233 S. Las Vegas Boulevard, Las Vegas, NV 89101. Detective Zinger

Wherefore, Declarant prays that e finding be made by o mogisirote thut probable couse exists to hold soid person for prefiminary heoring (if charges ere o felony or
gross misdemeonor) or for triol (if charges are misdemeanoi).
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sald he went into the office to aes who was registered to that room and was told it was registered to Grit Koppetz.
Detective Zinger said ha exited the office and Orneias was standing there, so he took her into custody.

Omelas had dyed her halr dark brown, which means she was aware that the police were looking for her. |
checked and Faulkner had since been released from CCDC, so he was the most {lkely source.

| was off that day, but had briefed Detective Jones of the new details on the investigation in case Ornelas or
Lewis were caught while | was off. Detective Jones responded to the motel and applied for a telephonic search
warrant to search the motel room, which was granted by the Honorable Justice Court Judge J. Bonaventure.

Detective Jonas later advised me that they recovered three more watches that belonged to Falcone: Audemar
Piguet (s/n ~ J63429), Panerai (s/n ~ 5067/200), and anothor Paneral (sin — T0392/1000). He also said there was
some other miscellaneous jewelry and basebail cards that did not belong to Faicone, as well as numerous
Identifications, credit/deblt cards, etc. for other people, including Grit Koppetz's resident alien card, which was
turned over to Fraud Detective D. Koop, P# 4882, for follow up.

Ornelas was arrested on her outstanding warrants and Lewis was not located. The Audemar Piguet recovered
was the same mode! that was handwritten on the Las Vegas Jewelry Exchange business card we found at the

tent.

| returned to work on December 17, 2018, and went to CCDC with Detective Saunders to interview Omelas. | read
Orneias her Miranda rights and she said she understood them and wanted an attorney. | did not even get a
chance to explain why | wanted to speak with her. 1 did leamn that she had been sentenced on her Domestic
Battery warrant and had to serve approximately four months in CCDC. | did not immediately re-book Omnelas
because | wanted to wait for the forenslic resuits on my print comparison from the scene of the original burglary

to Falcone’s unit.

| re-checked Ornelas, Lewis, Bishop, Gregg, Faulkner and the name Grit Koppetz in our pawn shops and all were
stlll negative for any watches. The items that had been sold under Koppatz's name at the Las Vegas Jewelry

Exchange had ali been done prior to Falcone's burglary.

On December 18, 2018, | went to the Las Vegas Jewelry Exchange and spoke with the owner, Arsen Urfalyan. |
looked at the jewelry that wes sold to him under the name Grit Koppetz, but there was nothing unique about it
that would allow me to determine if it belonged to someons else. | then explained my case to Urfalyan and told

him that the person that presented the identification as Koppetz was not Koppetz. He said he thought the female
matched the picture on the resident alien card. | then told him about his business card that was found with the
specific watch written on it. He sald he remembered that watch. He said  female had brought it in for him to
look at, but he wasn’t sure if it was the same female that used the Koppetz Identification. He said he and his
brather looked at the watch, saw that It was very expensive, but were not sure If it was authentic. He said he
asked the female If they could keep it overnight so they could get a watch expert to examine and appralse ths
watch for them, but said she refused to let them do that. He sald she left and never came back.

Urfalyan also let me look at all the Jewelry they had in their safe and there were no watches. He also let me look
at his video survelllance system, but he did not know the password. He said he and his brother bought the
business from the prior owner in February of 2018, but that man had since passed away and his family did not
know the password. | tried several generic passwords, but none worked and | was not even sure the sysiam was

even recording.
On December 26, 2018, | went to the Chevron at 9920 W. Flamingo Road, which is actuaily called "Haddies", and

spoke with the manager, Tony Casilias. He was able to provide me video surveillance from the business from
December 8, 2018, and December 11-12, 2018. The time shown on the video Ie approximately 13 minutes behind

actual time.
The video from December 8, 2018, showed Omelas and Lewis walking eastbound at approximately 04:32 hours

{camera time), which Is actually 04:45 hours, which matches with the StorageOne video. Ornelas ls walking
Wherefore, Declarant proys thet a finding be made by o magistrate that probable couse exists 10 hold sold person for preliminory heoring (if charges are o felony or

gross misdemeanar) or for trial {if cherges are misdemeanor),
{FOOTERTRXT]
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along the sidewalk on the north side of Fiamingo, pushing the wheslchair with the chesshoard In the seat. Lewis
is walking through the parking lot of Haddles, wearing Rodrigue's Army jacket, and it is definitely him and not
Gregg. They both continue towards the Popeys’s to the east of Haddies out of camera view. The easiest way to
get to the tent camp site Is to waik up a driveway between the Popeye's and the Dignity Health quick care located
to the east of the Popeye’s. The driveway heads north to a cell tower. There is a gate to the fence that surrounds

the desert area that Is not locked.

The video from December 11-12, 2018, actually started just after midnight on December 12, 2018, which is
actually about 00:14 hours. | had gone back to have Caslilas re-record the video to get the video from 23:30 -
£0:00 on December 11, 2018, but when | picked up the video again, it still started just after midnight on December
12. The video does show that Lewls, Omelas, Faulkner and the other black male are all together in the slot area.
Ornelas is seen wearing the same outfit that she was wearing eariier in the video from the Apothecary Shoppe. it
showed that Faulkner and the other black male take off their jackets and leave them in the slot area, later found
by the clerk. it showad that Omelas removed the camouflage jacket and Lewls puts it on. it showed that Omelas
and Lewis both have backpack and they leave the business at approximately 00:11 hours (00:24 actual), heading
east on foot. It showed Faulkner and the other black male leave in the Lyft vehicle at approximately 00:42 hours
(00:65 actual). All four walk by the register camera and ! was able to print out very good still shots of their faces.

On January 9, 2019, | received a Report of Examination on my forensic request and It stated that one latent print
lifted from the exterior walt of Unit B-145 north of the east facing bay door was identified to the right paim of
Dustin Lewls (ID# 7030601). Another latent print [ifted from the exterior wall of Unit B-145 north of the east facing

bay door was Identified to the right thumb of Margaux Omelas (ID# 7032498).

That now placed hoth Lewis and Omelas at the scene of the original burglaries to Blutman, Rodrigue and
Falcone’s units.

Later that evening, | was advised that Sgt. Glover and hls squad had found a possiblo address for Lewis’ mother,
at 3212 Arlene Way #D, Las Vegas, NV 89108. They conducted surveillance there and & short time later saw a
male that looked like Lewls riding on a blke, go Into that apartment. They conducted a knock and talk and spoke
with Lewis’ mother who told them that he was inside. He had hid in the bathroom and his mother yelled at him to
come out and he did and was taken into custody for his Parole Violatlon. He had no backpack on his person and
no watches belonging to Falcone. His mother was cooperative and gave consent for the officers to search her
apartment, vehicle and storage room at the apartment building and no stolen property was located.

The foliowing day 1 received a Report of Examination from the latent prints lifted from the Lincoln Navigator. The
report stated that muitiple latent prints from the Greubel Forsey watch cage were identlfied to the fingers of Tyree

Faulkner (SCOPE ID# 7067032) and Thomas Herod (ID# 7052832).

I p_uliad up Herod’s booking photo and immediately recognized him as the smaller black male in the videos.
Herod was also showing that he was currently on probation. 1 checked Herod in the pawn shops and he was

negative.

| compared Herod's arrest history to Lewls" arrest history and both were booked into CCDC on December 1, 2017,
which confirms what Faulkner hag told me.

{ then went to CCDC to interview Lewis. | recorded the interview and will have It transcribed at a later date. The
following Is a summary of that interview and is not verbatim, please refer to the transcription for full detalls. |
read Lewis his Miranda rights, which he said he understood, and explained my whole case to him. 1 explained
that | could prove my case, that | knew al! of the Individuals involved, and that the reason | was here was to
hopefully help him out by him helping me out by telling me where the watches were at. He told me nothing was
going to help him. | asked If he wanted to be in prison and he told me he has spent his whole life In prison and
was probably going to spend the rest of his life in prison. | explained that it looked like he was going to be going
to prison already for his parole violation and that if my victim got his watches back, he could probably minimize
his time in prison. Lewis denied stealing or selling any watches or aven knowing where they were at. He denied
as well. | asked If he had ever been In that storage facility and he told me he has

breaking into the storage unit
Wherefore, Decioront proys thot a finding be mode by @ magistrote that probable cause exists to hold said person for preliminary hearing {if charges are a felony or

gross misdemeanor) or for trial {if charges are misdemeanor).
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been in a storage facility on Cheyenne, near his mother’s home, saying it was her unit. | told him he was lying,
and told him again that his prints were found inslde the storage facllity on one of the units that was burglarized.
He agaln denled stealing any watches. | showed him the crime scene report where his prints were identified on
the units that were burgiarized and video still shot of him and Omelas at the Chevron, teiling him | know he Is
lying about never being inside the storage facility and wanted him to tell me the truth. He continued fo say he did
not know anything about the theft. | asked him who had the watches and he toid me to talk with Ornelas. | asked
what she was going to tell me and he said he didn’t know. He asked what proof | had and | told him | had his
prints on the units from the day of the burglary and he asked how | knew they were not there from a year before.

| explained that we also had his prints on property that was stolen from the units that was found in the tent. He
then started to say he wasn't even sure what storage unit | was talking about and | described its location again
and then he sald he might have been in there before. | pulled up a map of the area and showed him where the

tant was located and he said he wasn’t sure if he was sver there or not.

Due to the above circumstances, | am re-booking Omelas and Lewis for three counts of Burglary (Firet) and one
count of Grand Larceny > $3,500.00 and Consplracy Burglary, for the burglaries to the three storage units (B-145,
B-147, and B-151) that occurred on December 8th, 2018. | am aiso re-booking both for Burgiary (First) and

Conspiracy Burglary for the burglary to storage unit B-151 that occurred on December 11th, 2018.

I contacted Parole & Probation regarding Thomas Harod, and they are working on trying to locate him for me. |
explained that | have probable cause to arrest him for Burglary (First), Conspiracy Burglary and Possession of

Stolen Property > $3,500.00.

Wherefore, Declarant prays thot o finding be made by a magistrote that probable couse exists to hold said person for preliminary heoring (if charges ore o felony or
pross misderneanor) or for tricl {if charges cre misdemeanor).
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5 STATE OF NEVADA
6 COUNTY OF CLARK
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9
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11  Det. Grimes:

12

13  Ofcr. Shark:

14

15

16  Judge Bonaventure:
18  Ofcr. Shark:

26 Judge Bonaventure:

2%  Ofer. Shark:
31 Judge Bonaventure:
33  Ofcr. Shark:
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181200033889

LAS VEGAS METROFF.MNE E DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

W 0EC20 A & 1Y - 5&"\"\

JUSTICE COURT

©

) LAS VEGAS REVADA

) ss: S—

APPLICATION FOR TELEPHONIC SEARCH WARRANT

Okay. We are recording.

All right. Judge Bonaventure, for the record, this line Is being
recorded. Do | have your permission to continue’?

Yes.

This is Officer Andrew Shark, P#14815, out of Spring Valley Area
Commeand. | am making an appiication for a Telephonic Search
Warrant pursuant to NRS 179.045 under LVMPD event number
181200033889. | am talking to Judge Bonaventure and the date is
12/11/18 and the time of this call is 2105 hours. Judge
Bonaventure, could you please swear me in? My right hand is
raised.

Do you swear to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth?

Yes, | do.
Thank you.
Judge Bonaventure, my application is as follows:

|, Officer Shark, P#14815, am employed by Las Vegas
Metropolitan Police Department and have been so employed for
the period of 5 years. | am currently assigned to the Spring Valley
Area Command Flex Unit and have been assigned to this detail
for § months. | am presently investigating the crimes of Burglary
1% and Grand Larceny > $3,500, which occurred at 9960 W.
Flamingo Road, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada on or about
0321 hours to 0444 hours an the 8" day of December, 2018.
&

There is probable cause to believe that certain property
hereinafter deacribed will be found at the following described
premises to wit; a green and gray tent in the desert area directly

EIVED IN JUSTICE COURT AECEVEDTNIUSTE
%Epmmscnmaeason LAARMS A

DEC 1§ 208 Misess
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North of 9920 W. Flamingo Road and South of CC215, Assessor
Parcel 163-18-414-004, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada 89147,

Further described as the tent is iocated in the middle of the West
wall bordering the property. The tent has a zipper zip up flap
facing East as the door. There is a metal wheelchair with black
seats located near the center of the desert area, East of the tent.

The property referred to and sought to be seized consists of the
following:

Richard Mille RM11 Felipa Massa watch.
Richard Mille RM11-03 Titanium watch.
Vacheron Constantin Perpetual Calendar watch.
Patek Phillippe 5170P watch.

Patek Phillippe 5990 1/A watch.

Patek Phillippe 5168G-001 watch.

Patek Phillippe 6650G watch.

Audemar Piguet LE Platinum Montoya watch.

Audemar Piguet Royal Oak Ceramic Perpetual Calendar
watch.

Panerai Pam 767 Tourbillion watch.
Panerai Pam 692 BMG watch.

Panerai Pam 721 watch.

Panerai Pam 725 watch.

Panerai Pam 375 watch.

H. Moser CIE Flying Endeavor watch.
Urwerk-202 White Shark watch.

Rolex WG Sky Dweller watch.

MBA&F Legacy Psrpetual in Platinum watch.

Greubef Fersey GMT in Platinum watch.
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e Greubel Forsey 24 Seconds Platinum watch.

e A. Lange & Sohne Datograph Perpstual Tourbillion watch.

+ Panerai white and blue bag.

« Black canvas duffle bag.

o Leather briefcase.

* Multiple watch boxes.

« Latent fingerprints.

= Potential DNA.

s Large wooden chess set.

o Disney collector doll.

¢ Lobitan collector doll.

» Green Barble doll.

» Black briefcase.

+« Thomas the Train toys.

« Green amy Jacket with “Rodrigue”.

¢ Madam Alexander doll.

« Limited items or parsonal property which would tend to
establish a possessory interest in the items sought to be
seized pursuant to this search warrant to include, but not
limited to: personal identification, phetographs, utility
company receipts, addressed envelopes, rent receipts, etc.

The ltems sought to be selzed constitute evidence which would
tend to show the identity of persons respensible for committing the
crimes of Burglary 1% and Grand Larceny > $3,500.

In support of the assertion to constitute the existence of probable
cause, the following facts are oftered:

Under LVMPD event number LLV181200033889 on 12/08 of 2018
at approximately 1017 hours, Officer C. Penny, P#15488,
operating as LVMPD marked patrol unit was dispatched to the

AA 000035
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144 Storage One business located at 9980 W. Flamingo Rd, Las

1:2 Vegas, NV 89147, in reference to a burgiary.

1

147 Upon armival, Officers made contact with Marc Felcone, the renter
148 of unit B-151, who stated that on 12/07 of 2018 at approximately
148 1145 hours, he left his storage unit securing it with a lock. He then
150 received a call from a Storage One employee on 12/08 of 2018 at
151 0848 hours, informing him that his unit had been broken into.

152 Felcone advised Officers that 21 high end rare collectable

1 gs watches were taken with an approximate value of $2,173,000.
154

155 The foliowing are the items Felcone advised Officers that were
156 missing:

157

158 Det. Grimes: Yeah, Detective Grimes here. | had spoken with Mr. Feicone after
159 that report was taken to find out if anything else was missing. He
160 told me he was also missing a Panerai white and blue bag, a

161 black canvas duffle bag, a leather briefcase, multiple watch boxes,
162 but his main concern was the watches.

163

164  Ofcr. Shark: Later under LVMPD event number L1.V181200033974 on 12/08 of
185 2018 at approximately 1603 hours, Officer J. Luoto, P#17324 and
166 Officer A. Elkind, P#14749, wera again dispatched to Storage One
167 business located at 8680 W, Flamingo Rd, Las Vegas, NV 89147
168 in reference of a burg'ary,

169

170 Upon arrival, Officers made contact with Detective B. Jones,

17 Pi0679, who advised them that unit B-147 had been broken into
172 along with unit B-145. Contact was made with Michael Rodrigue,
173 with the renters of unit B-147, who originally advised Officers that
174 though items were moved, they did not notice any items that were
176 taken at this time, but they did also state that there was a hole cut
176 in the wall to the adjacent unit and believed this to be the entry
177 location.

178

179 Detective E. Grimes, P#6729, later made contact with Rodrigue,
180 who stated that after a closer inspection, the following items were
181 in fact taken from the storage unit:

182

183 = Large wooden chess set.

184

185 + Disney collector doll.

186

187 « Lobitan coliector doll.

188

189 + Green Barbie doll.

190

191 » Black briefcase.

192

193 « Thomas the Train toys.
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« Green ammy jacket with "Rodrigue” written on it.
« Madam Alexandsr doll.

Detective Grimes made contact with the owner of B-145, who
stated no items were missing and he did not want to file a report at

this time.

Under both event numbers, Crime Scene Analysts were called
and processed all the storage units.

Video footage of the business was then reviewed. The cameras
located by the pedestrian gate showed at 0321 hours on 12/08 of
’18, an unknown white male wearing a dark colored hooded
jacket, gray shirt, blue jeans, dark clothes and not carrying any
tems or bags was followed by a white female with light colored
halr in a ponytail, dark colored jacket and was pushing a metal
wheelchair with dark seats that was also empty into the property.

At 0443 hours, the surveillance from a different camera from
inside the complex showed rows of storage units and the same
subjects can be seen walking through the East side of the storage
complex, the male, now wearing a different jacket carrying
multiple bags, one light colored bag, one dark duffle bag and one
|sather briefcase or laptop bag. The female pushing the same
wheelchalr, but it has a large wooden chess board placed on top

of it.

At 0444 hours, the pedestrian gate camera again shows the same
subjects above exiting the complex showing that the male’s jacket
was in fact different and he appears to be wearing a green ammy
jacket while exiting.

Detectives had canvassed the area to possibly identify the
subjects seen on the video based on their descriptions. A
homeless female advised Detectives that there was a couple
matching the description in the area of Tropicana and Fort
Apache, but were unable to locate the subjects in that area.

On 12/11/18 at approximately 1810 hours, |, along with other
Spring Valley Flex team members were conducting follow up
referance the above event numbers at known homeless camps in
the area of 9920 W. Flamingo, when we observed a green and
gray tent on the West side a fence in the desert area. Officers
attempted to make contact verbally with the occupants of the tent,
but received no answer. Due to the tent being in a fenced in
private area, Officers opened the front zipper flap to determine if
there were occupants inside. While doing so, and without making
entry, Officers observed multiple watch boxes, one with Paneral
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244 written on it, matching Felcone's report. Officers also observed a
245 wooden chess board matching the cheas board that was taken
248 and observed on video.

247

248 Officers then canvassed the area and located a chrome

249 wheelchair with black seats in the desert area approximately 25
250 yards East of the tent.

251

252 Your Honor, we are also hoping to process the above wheelchair
253 and the tent for potential forensic evidence, such as latent

254 fingerprints and DNA.

255

256 Det, Grimes: Which could help as a maich up to any potential forensic evidence
257 that was recovered when the scene was criginally processed, to
258 help us identify the suspects, and who the tent camp may belong
258 to.

280

261  Ofcr. Shark: Your affiant prays this search warrant authorize a night time

262 search clause for the following reasons: the premiges is currently
263 frozen. Delaying the search may unnecessarily risk the loss of
264 evidence and result in the chain of custody issues which would be
265 minimized by a prompt search. Since the property Is Jocated in the
266 unsecured desert area, it would also tie up muitiple Police

267 Officers, who could then be free to respond to calls for service,
268

269 Judge Bonaventure, this ends my probable cause details. Do you
270 want me to read the duplicate original search warrant?

271

272  Judge Bonaventure: No, that's unnecsssary.

273

274  Ofer. Shark: Judge Bonaventure, this ends the search warrant portion. Judge
275 Bonaventure, do you find probable cause exists for the issuance
276 of a search warrant?

277

278 Judge Bonaventure: Yes, | do find probable cause.

279

280  Ofcr. Shark: Judge Bonaventure, do you autherize a night time service clause?
281

282 Judge Bonaventure: Yes, | do.

283

284  Ofcr. Shark: Do | have your permission to affix your name on the duplicate
285 original search warrant?

288

287 Judge Bonaventure: Yes.

288

289 Ofcr. Shark: This application and signing of the search warrant was witnessed
290 by Detective E. Grimes, P#6729. The time is 2119 hours. Judge
291 Bonaventure, this ends our conversation, Thank you for your time.
282

203 Judge Bonaventure: You're welcome.
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#5772
Jessica Dodd, P#15372 LEST
“t certify that this is a true and accurate transcription,
dated this 17th day of December, 2018, af 1000 hours.”

e A

‘Ofcr. A. Shark, P#14816, LVMPD
Spring Valley Area Command, Patrol Investigations
“Having read the transcription of the Telephonic Search Warrant issued by this Court an

the 11th day of December, 2018, at 2119 hours, LVMPD, serving as Affiant and having
reviewed the recording of ihe application, it appeers the lranscription is eccurate.”

AN

Judge Bonaventure
Las Vegas Township, Department ‘\
Justice of the Peace

CERTIFIED COPY
The document to which this certificate is
attached is a full, true and correct copy of the
original on file ant of record In Justice Courl of
Las Vegas Townehip, in and for the County of

Deputy
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RECEWED

pEC 18 2018

LVMPD Eventtt [ 8/2006 3 589
DUPLICATE ORIGINAL SEARCH WARRANT

STATE OF NEVADA } NRS 17904 w&_
} ss. F | L E D B

}
Lo
The State of Nevads, to any Peace Officer in the Gounty of GIRH. BERo8Chading®eblt made before me by
Detective/Officer A - SHARK ,P# _{4F/5 by oral ﬁﬂg‘ﬂﬁﬁ iven under oath, that there is
probable cause to believe that certain evidence, to wit: EGAS NGE g SCHNE DATARI
{ LRt e MY F MASS UL TOORN L rond WHTCH
RICHARD MrIls R II-03 TITAN (Umt WHTTY ™ TERITY wHTe§ 80 A6
M%M%WM&& borrzebfe
0 PaTEE PHILUPPE "SI90F  WhTC -

LeATHCR PRERCASE
HTEK. PHICL, s*zagg—mf wHTrCH
s £ e

( )_BUN=MHR LlGUET ROYAL OA 2R A ORE; 3L CIREniE 1o
PANERAL PAMA 12677 TOVRBILLIoN WHTeH 1
| L BMG WARTCH ~LA GHesS SeT
PANERA] W -~ DIWEY QOLLECTOR boll,

( ).EMER&LM WATCH ~Z oATAN COLLECHtR
E PANERAI PHM 35  WAHTTH - GReesn BARbE bo%{'
8 Sl FLY/AG wHTCH ~ Biack. QRIGE Chse
B VRWERK -~ 203 WHITE 3 wHlTy ~ THOMAS THE TRIMN TOVS
% () & S, W, I~ c;azzms-%qpmazﬂ-

mfﬁ;ﬁéﬁ c g’ ﬂ*ivm LATINYM WIHFTCH wWitH "RobRlgop
FORSEY GAMTaPENTNg WHTCH ~ MAYM A

% GREUBEL Fopssy 04 Scronbdes PLATINUM WRTTH LoxanbeR bt
3 ( ) Limited items of personal property which would tend to establish & possessory Interest in the items

sought to be seized pursuant to this search wamant fo Include but not limited to: personal identificafion,
photographs, utility company receipts, addressed envelopes, rent recsipts, elc.

A GREEN AN GRIYTBNTATHE DESERT ARES uﬂmg NORTHOF 7990 W FEtl/NGo RD
which are presently located at: Hoe CCY CeL. flo3- F?"IW‘% Vegas, Clark
County, Nevada, £9/47 {zlp code) and as 1 am safisfied that there is probable cause to believe that said

evidence is located as set forth above and based upon the statements of Detective/Officer
B SHBRK there are sufficient grounds for the issuance of the Search Warrant.

You are hereby commanded to search and examine said premise andiorvehicle for said property and trace
evidence, serving this warrant (at any hour day or night) / (between-Z-snmerrd™7 ph) and if the property Is there,
io selze It and leave a written inventory and make a return before me within 10 days. The attached recorded oral
statement upon which this warrant Is based is hareby Incorporated by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

Dated this ZZT’/ day of Necaise 15 . at_ 2019 nouss.
{Print Judge's hame) f_f ! EON&UENT URf

Signed by Detective/Cfficer 74 ' S Hﬁ k’ k , P# /Qﬂ . acting upon oral authorization of,
Judge_ ] BONﬂllgﬂ TLRE . " CERTIFIED COPY
Winessed by _E_- GRIMES P 70 _ The docimentio i vl e
ENDORSED s \X" ___ day of eteber .20\ ' ariginal on file a“d,;:,f?,‘:;’:;’;;";‘;“cfum

-Las Vegas Towns
\:S 3 Vi Clark, Staterof Nevada. Doty
Judge ~ : T3 oq A%
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STATE OF NEVADA }
}ss.

}

LVMPD Event_{ 8/2026 53 389
DUPLICATE ORIGINAL SEARCH WARRANT

NRS 179.045

The State of Nevada. to any Peace Officer in the County of Clark. Proof having been mads before me by

Detective/Officer

. P& _1YF/5 by oral statements

probable cause to bel’eve that certain ewdence to wit:

KR!
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A_CON.
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n under oath, that there is
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( ) Limited items of personal property which would tend to establish a possessory intersst in the itams
sought to be seized pursuant to this search warrant to include but not limited to: personal identification,
photographs, utility compéany receipts, addressed envelopes, rent receipts, efc.

A GReEN AN GRIYTENTINTIE bESe'RTﬁﬂBae bmeaz NORTH eF

T9% W.FOIMINGO Rb
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there are sufficient grounds for the issuance of the Search Warrant.

You are hereby commanded to search and examine said premise aadir-vehicle for sald property and trace
evidence, serving this warrant (at any hour day or night) /
to seizs It and leave a written inventory and make a return before me within 10 days. The attached recorded oral
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT
Event #; 181200051857

STATE OF NEVADA ) 1998 Lincoln Navigator
) ss: California plate 6NJF287
} VIN # 5LMPU2BL2WLJ54870

Michae! Saunders, P# 6076, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that he is' the
affiant herein and is a Detective with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department
(LVMPD) presently assigned to the Spring Valley Area Command. That he has been

employed with the LVMPD for the past 19 years and has been assigned to the Spring

Valley Area Command for the past six months.

There is probable cause to believe that certain property hereinafter described will be

found at the following described premises, to-wit;

1- 1998 Lincoin Navigator SUV Biack in color, California license plate 8NJF287,
VIN # S5LMPU28L.2WLJ54870. This vehicle is presently located at 1200 N. A

Street, Las Vegas, NV. 89106.

The property referred to and sought to be seized consists of the following:

Item Model SIN
1) Richard Mille RM11 Felipe Massa 4369 #3 of 50
2) Richard Milte RM11-03 Titanium Rm11-03ti 50
3) Vacheron Constantin Perpeutual Calendar ) 1353947
.4) Patek Phillippe 5170P 316026

5) Patek Phillippe 5990
6) Patek Phillippe 5168G-001 ! 7119236

19E00933B, - QRNELAS, MARGAUX Page 102 of 167
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)

Event #: 181200051857

7) Patek Phillippe
8) Audemar Piguet LE
9) Audemar Piguet
10)Panerai
11)Panerai
12)Panerai
13)Panerai
14)Panerai

15) H. Moser Cie
16)Urwerk
17)Rolex

18)MB&F
19)Greubel Forsey

20)}Greubel Forsey

21)A. Lange &-Sohne Datograph Perpetual Tourbilion

5650G
Pablo Montoya
Perpetual Calender
PAM 767 Tourbillion
PAM 692 BMG
PAM 721
PAM 725
PAM 375
Flying Endeavour

202 White Shark

WG Sky Dweller-116509

Legacy Perpetual
GMT

7096449
64 of ‘iOO
J63429
#005/100
#0392/1000
#0394/1000
#067 of 200
0951/2000
200116474
#6 of 12
207231DO
03wW63223
Number 19
Number 14

227868

and articles of personal property which would tend to establish the identity of persons in

control of said premises, which items of property would consist in part of and include, but

nat limited to papers, documents and effects which tend to show possession, dominion

and control over said premises, including but not limited to keys, canceled mail envelopes,

rental agreements and receipts, utility and telephone bills, prescription bottles, vehicle

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX
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_ LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)

Event #: 181200051857

registration, vehicle repairs and gas receipts. ltem§ which tend to show evidence of motive
and/or the identity of the perpetrator such as photographs and undeveloped film, insurance
policies and letters, address and- telephone records, diaries, governmenté! notices,
whether such items are written, typed or stored on computer disc. Objects which bear a
person's name, phone number or address.

The property hereinbefore described constitutes evidence which tends to demonstrate
that the criminal offense of Burglary & Conspiracy to Commit Burglary bas been

committed.

In support of your affiant's assertion to constitute the existence of probable cause, the
following facts are offered: On 12/8/18 at approximately 1017hrs. LVMPD patrol officers
were disbatched to 9960 W. Flamingo Las Vegas, NV 88147 (StorageOne) for reports of
a burglary at unit B151.Upon contact was made with renter of unit B151, Marc Falcone.
Marc stated on 12/7/18 at approximately 1445 Hrs. he left his storage unit, securing it. He
received a call from StorageOne employee Nedy Macedo on 12/8/18 at 0948 Hrs.
informing him that his unit had been broken into.

Marc's girlfriend Jennifer Schacht was also on scene:and sptgd that she talked to
employee Nedy Macedo. Nedy stated CCTV showed two subjects entering the facility
from the southwest comer by the main office at 0321 Hrs. Nedy reported that there was a
door activation alarm on unit B147 at 0403 Hrs. A second alarm was set off on the target
unit B151 at 0437 Hrs. The same subjects were seen leaving the facility at 0443 Hrs. with

several bags and a wheelchair, exiting the facility and heading west on Flamingo.

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX Page 104 of 167 Page 3
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

{Continuation)
Event# 181200051857

At this time Marc was only able to confirm that 21 high end rare collectable watches were
taken with an approximately value $2,173,000.00. Via CCTV the suspecls were
described as:

Suspect#1 a white female adult, Mid 30's-40's, light colored hair in a ponytail., wearing a
dark cotor jacket, pushing a wheelchair.

Suspect #2 light to Medium colored male adult, mid 30’s, short dark colored hair, dark’

colored hoodie, dark colored jeans carrying several bags.

On 12-11-2018, at 2358, a burglary occurred at the Storage One located at 9960 W.
Flamingo Las Vegas, Nevada 89115. Details under LVMPD event number

181200051857 are as follows:

At 2358 hours, on 12-11-2018, the alarm for unit B-151 was activated. The alarm is an
audible alarm so it can be heard from a distance. Deteclives from the SVAC were
conducting follow up in the area of this storage facility on 12-11-2018. The follow up was
due to a previous burglary under LVMPD event 181200033889 in the same Storage
complex. Details of that event was unit B-151 was broken into and very high end watches

were taken from that unit.

Detectives had come back to the area of the Storage complex to retrieve missing items

from their follow up in the desert area and heard the alarm. Detectives started to make

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX Page 105 of 167 Paged
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT .
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)
Event #: 181200051857

their way into the Storage One and realized it was a burglary alarm and they notified
dispatch. Not long after, a perimeter was set up. Detectives entered the complex and
soon learned the alarm was coming from unit B-151. It appeared to the officers on scene
the suspects had cut the metal part of the latch to allow entry into the unit without having

to cut the locks. Suspects were gone prior to police arrival.

Lee Preble, the employee from Storage One, was able to pull up video from the complex,
The Qide‘o showed 3 individuals walking in-between buildings B and C sometime around
2340 hours. The B units are inside units so there are no cameras inside. The video
then shows the alarm being activgted around 2358 hours. The video shows all 3
individuals, possibly 1 female and 2 males running away from building B around 0001
hours. They all jump the wall prior tor the first Detective vehicle showing up on property

at 0004 hours.

Marc Falcone, the renter of unit B-151 and the prior victim of the high end watches, was
notified. Falcone claims he had already moved all his valuables out of B-151 due to the

prior incident. The unit was left with boxes and non-valuable items.

While Detectives were stili on scene, under LVMPD event number 181200051353, Tyree
Faulkner DOB 8-7-1995 called in a Robbery call. Tyree was calling from his residence

located at 5370 East Craig #1253 Las Vegas, Nevada 89115. Tyree claimed on his

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX Page 106 of 167 Page 5
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)
-Event #: 181200051857

Robbery-call that he and his un-named cousin were smoking marijuana at the Chevron
Iocatedlat 9910 W. Flamingo Las Vegas, Nevada 89115 in their 1998 Lincoln navigator
bearing California plates 6NJF287. The Chevron location is just east of the St@rage (‘)ne..
The details of his robbery was 2 white males approached his vehicle with guns and
demanded their phones, wallets, keys to his vehicle and a small amount of cash. The
suspects then took off running and jumped the gas station wall. Faulkner and his cousin
went into the Chevron and used a patron’s cell phone to call a Lyft car. The Lyft car
arrived and took Faulkner and his cousin back to their home. While in the car, they used

the Lyft driver's cell phone to call in the robbery.

While the Detectives and officers were now processing the second burglary to unit B-
151, the Lyft driver that took Faulkner and his cousin back to the east side came back to
speak with Detectives. The Lyft driver let the Detectives know that the 2 black males he
took back to the east side from their ocation were talking about making up a story that
they got robbed. He heard them talk about the robbery so they had a reason why

Faulkner's vehicle was still near the scene of the Storage unit.

With that information, Dispatch set up a call to detain Tyree Faulkner at his home.
Detective £E. Grimes had watched the video surveillance from the storage complex and
noticed one of the suspects was a larger black male adult wearing a black jacket. Grimes

remembered he saw fhe black male leaving the storage complex and at the time didn't
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT
' {Continuation)
Event #: 181200051857

think he was related. Detective Grimes knew at the time he was looking for a white male
and fermale from the previous event. The other 2 suspects in the vide.o appeared to be the
same female and white male that are related to the burglary that occurred on 12-8-2018
to unit B-151.
At 0400 hours, Tyree Faulkner was detained and transported to Spring Valley Command
for questioning.
Detectives E. Grimes and M. Saunders conducted a video and audio taped interview at

the station. The brief summary of the interview:

Faulkner was read his Miranda Rights and he underétood his rights and agreed to speak
with Detectives. The interview started off with Faulkner talking about the robbery he was
a victim of. Detectives let Faulkner speak about the Robbery and then ésk,ed Faulkner if
he had any idea why he was in handcuffs and at a police station. Faulkner was not sure
why he was handcuffed at the time. The Detectives then explained the entire storage unit
burglary to Faulkner.

Faulkner then confessed and told Detectives he was lying about the Robbery. Faulkner
claimed his cousin had been in jail with this unknown white male. This male had contacted
Faulkner and his cousin for help on previous burglaries. On 12-11-2018, Faulkner claims
he and his cousin met up with this male on Charleston and LV Blvd at the 7-11. They were

both offered $1,000.00 to help him with anotheér theft he wanted to commit.
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)
Event #; 181200051857

Faulkner explained how he drove the male and then picked up the female at an unknown
location nearby in his black SUV. The female had a backpack full of watches and jewelry
she carried into his SUV. Faulkner remembered a few of the watches had falling out of
her backpack and remained in his SUV as they showed him the backpacks contents.
They all arrived at the StorageOne. The unknown male and Faulkner along with his cousin
were at unit B-151. The male cut the latch and opened the rollup door. Tl:le alarm went off
and Faulkner became very uncomfortable with the burglary. The male told Faulkner don't

worry about the alarm nobody ever comes to check it out.

When the door opened and Faulkner saw two large safes, he told the male that he and
his cousin were not going to help him carry two very large heavy safes. At that time,
aulkner heard and saw the police helicopter and they all took off running. Faulkner, not
wanting to go back his vehicle and get caught, called a Lyft and made up the robbery

avent.

During the interview Faulkner told detectives that he is the owner of a 1998 Lincoln
Navigator with an unknown California license plate. He knew the plates were current and
registered his under another name until June 2018. He said his SUV is matte black with
matte black rims and a paint transfer scrape on it. Faulkner stated he bought the vehicle
from a friend in late August 2018 for $2400.00 and the friend and he signed off on the pink

slip giving him ownership of the vehicle. Faulkner stated the signed pink slip is in the glove
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)

Event # 181200051857
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box in the vehicle and he has some other personal property in the center console that
belongs to him and his girlfriend. Faulkner stated that he saw approximately three of the
watches that were left inside of his car that were taken in the previous burglary committed
on 12/08/2018. He said the white male was sitting in the rear driver's side seat behind
him as he drove them to the storage unit.

When they ran from the storage unit after the alarm sounded he and his cousin went east
towards the Chevron and the white male and white female headed west back towards his
vehicle. He did not know where they went after they separated at the gate .area of the

storage unit.

That during further investigation, Detective Ethan Grimes P# 6729 was one of the other
responding officers to the alarm that was sounded during the burglary that Faulkner
involved in. He had also observed the black Lincoln SUV parked near the sto'rage facility
earlier. Per Detective Grimes, he observed a large bag of clothing sitting on the ground
to the rear of the black SUV. He immediately recognized it as one of the bags that they
had seen earlier in the desert area prior to the alarm sounding. As they checked lthe area
and peered in to the SUV, he observed in plain view a wristwatch inside of the vehicle in

the front passenger area. This information is consistent with the information that was

provided by Faulkner.
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT
APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)
Event #; 181200051857

Due to the facts and circumstances the black Lincoln Navigator was identified as being
involved in the burglary and was impounded and sealed pending a search warrant. This
affiant is requesting a search warrant to recover any stolen items that were listed in the

burglary that occurred on 12/08/2018 to the storage unit B151 rented Marc Falcone.

WHEREFORE, affiant requests that a Search Warrant be issued directing a search for

and seizure of the aforementioned items at the location set forth herein between the

hours of 7:00 A.M. & 7:00 P.M.

»F
LA o GO7C
Michael Sdunders, AFFIANT

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 12th

DDA Colleen Baharav
Approved by:
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SEARCH WARRANT

STATE OF NEVADA ) 1998 Lincoln Navigator
California plate 6NJF287
VIN # 5LMPU28L2WLJ54870

)
COUNTY OF CLARK )

The Stéte of Nevada, to any Peace Officer-in the County of Clark. Proof by Affidavit
having been made before me by Michael Saunders, P# 6076, said Affidavit attached
hereto and incorporated herein by reference, that there is probable cause to believe that

certain property, namely

Item Model SIN
1) Richard Mille RM11 Felipe Massa 4368 #3 of 50
2) Richard Mille RM11-03 Titanium Rm11-03ti 50
3) Vacheron Constantin Perpeutual Calendar 1353947
4) Patek Phillippe 5170P 316026

5) Patek Phillippe 5990

6) Patek Phillippe . 5168G-001 7119236
7) Patek Phillippe 5650G 7096449
8) Audemar Piguet LE Pablo Montoya 94 of 100

LVMPD 380 (Rev. 1/13) WORD 2010
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9) Audemar Piguet
10)Panerai
11)Panerai
12)Panerai
13)Panerai
14)Paner;1i

15) H. Moser Cie
16)Urwerk
17)Rolex

18)MB&F
19)Greube] Forsey

20)Greubel Forsey

21)A. Lange & Sohne Datograph Perpetual Tourbilion

SEARCH WARRANT

(Continuation)

Page 2

Perpetual Calender

PAM 767 Tourbillion

PAM 692 BMG

PAM 721

PAM 725

PAM 375

Flying Endeavour

202 White Shark

WG Sky Dweller-116509

Legacy Perpetual

GMT

J63429
#005/100
#0392/1000
#0394/1000
#067 of 200
0951/2000
200116474
#6 of 12
207231D0O
03W63223
Number 1 9
Number 1;1

227868

and limited items of personal property which would tend to establish a possessory interest

in the items seized pursuant to this search warrant, such a papers, documents and effects

which tend to show possession, dominion and control over said premises, including but

not limited to keys, canceled mail envelopes, rental agreements and receipts, utility and

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX
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SEARCH WARRANT
(Continuation)

Page 3

telephone bills, prescription bottles, vehicle registration, vehicle repairs and gas receipts.
ltems which tend to show evidence of motive and/or the identity of the perpetrator such
as photographs and undeveloped film, insurance policies and letters, address and

telephone records, diaries, governmental notices, whether such items are written, typed

B e e——— TR — v EE—

or stored on computer disc. Objects which bear a person’s name, phone number or

address, are presently located at

1- 1998 Lincoln Navigator SUV Black in color, California license plate
6N'J.F287, VIN # 5LMPU28L2WL.J54870. This vehicle is presently located at

1200 N. A Street, Las Vegas, NV. 89106.

And as | am satisfied that there is probable cause to believe that said property is

located as set forth above and that based upon the affidavit attached hereto there are

sufficient grounds for the issuance of the Search Warrant.

You are hereby commanded to search forthwith said premises for said property,
serving this warrant between the hours of 7:00 A.M. & 7:00 P.M., and if the property is
there to seize it, prepare a written inventory of the property seized, and make a return for

me within ten days.

Dated this 12th day of December

, 2018
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LVMPD Eve-T P
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RETURN

{Must be mada within 10 days cf issuance of Warrant)

The S_earch and Seizure Warrant authorizing-a search and seizure at the following described location(s):
1205 N, A 3T. wpl BIOC

\499% BLdew, Lonieoint NAVIEGATER CA. eNIF28 ]

Ve 2 MPU2EL 2WLY SUTTO

was executed on JZ //2 /.?-Ol‘_é’

{monih, day, year)

A copy of this inventory was left with I ABOVE VENSCLE

{name of parson or “st tha placs of search”)

PR The following is an inventory of property taken pursuant to the warrant:

]‘ fﬂc’mg‘:rz /—}A-:e—‘H? ﬁ“ /Y
MENE a7
1- Pynveraz Prm 757
Tgon Brecre~s g #EVTO

Apnrs w7 A

_4 " 20 T ('(:7)/7.7/‘417 SZL e A /9[,4//‘- Voo
| | Coccar;m80

Lo LRGN ~~ Us.

J' [:ch-/l[ ;#WF s PAOOF Pl JZA/\-

odr /
This inventory was made by: L) ET - M. <AuEES | L7 beT. A A‘WP%HQ?

{2 Inast two cficars inciuding afiant If prasani. I perste o whom [ropary is tiken is prasent inciude Uvt person.)
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

EVIDENCE IMPOUND REPORT
O |JECUNCIRRORERTY O] | IESAREKEECNGER  Event Number: 189200051857
incident: ‘ _ - Requesting Officar: Division: . Date:
Burglary - Commercial Follow Up A. Archer #6403 CPD 1211212018
Vietimi{s):
Marc Falcone, DOB: 03/16/73
Location:
1200 A St
Vehicle(s):
V1: 1998 Lincoln Navigator, black, SUV, CA: 6NJF287, VIN: SLMPU28L2WLJ54870
Additional Information: '
Description of Evigence Lozation of Recovered Evidence
PACKAGE 1 )
item 1: One swab of possible DNA. From the mouth of the Guava juice bottle on the front
passenger floor of V1.
CSA Supervisor, PE Date Approved {Crima Scane Analyst: P#:
¢. Wik awa | izize fip | T Olson 16552

Quatraa Number: LVAPD C§) 3817
Document Number; LVMPD TSD 10
[ssuee By: CSIDIR
Revigion Dati: 04052018
Pegaiold
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#

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICEDE  IMENT m Tt v Y- ey
PROPERTY REPORT R \ 19'%0 | 10r_]
incident T ol o
SEURCY_WaRRAAT et | Y9200 % | # & 5P
DENCE T NO EVIDENTIARY wie: | L1 SAFEKEEPING FIREARM (MPOUNDED DUE TO:
freory DOGrossMisd [CIMisdemearor | DINo Ownar idanifed Must provide Owner Info in {3 Temporary Protectiva Order (TPO}
List Other Related Evenl #'s (if any): Clbestroy Persons Sechion AND Idantity | [ Extended Order of Protection
l L1 Retum To DMV Qwier # for each Hiem Listed
|mpwndiz_omeer PrlntNam):ES T g% p#w o Fore Offcars o Ot Saadchors:
SupeﬂisorA;;pmﬁng_W P# ! Initi I

S X g Charge(s)
L ¥ et
w1 | - ALCONE MARK Y536 -
Street Addruss State  Zip Code Arrest Date ID#
58 Wrthwe - MVM NI/ 8935 —_— | T
sQ 00| Last Name First Name, MI DOB Phone # Chargels)
:u FO
Street Address City Slala  ZipCode Arrest Date o#
501 00 ] Last Name . First Name, M| DOB Phone # " | charge(s)
vo FO
Streel Address City State  Zp Code Amest Date 1D#
Released item(s) By Officer PR & Initials | Date Rel Released to Owner Owner's Signature
P - |7 1l 15 | /z;
(Belating to Impound
- = a3 A=
/G i ; i 4
LockTEh AT 200 N. 4 JTREET, LY, MY By D .S b02%

. D or. A HCHR PROYD,
E‘KG ITEM R . Makeor'? *MB’EE( COLOREC - Seral#ropN  lat. T ”.wm;msmtn_cfpea:v B,:,ES:::WN. oy
= #a-q»u# Brand Pl rw,ﬁlale&Gov tssugdiD#s| | B mmw "
£ L g e u':ﬂ 2 b"':‘ : . ‘erypufmmmmau an

F PN oW T 0057/00 1| parerar MM?MTOUANMMM_
| Copser| 14 s 1 | | GRUEAZL FORSEY WHTCH 1Al ChSE

stribution: Whita: Records/Onbase | Yellow: Evidence Vault | Pink: Citize
ARGAUR™ " Pa '
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:;g;‘EsR“TE'YR:E;WSNR?UCE DEPARTMENT Diis of LVMPD Posssssion | Time of LVMPD Possession | Poge(s)
s2h2liw 1940 10F _4

IRcigant
VEVaciy Staven event#} ) | Fl 1l |[2{ 0| 0| ®© 51 1I[T][5
D EVIDENCE W EVIDENTIARY vive: | O SAFEKEEPING FIREARM IMPOUNDED DUE TO:

OFdony O Grasa Mind noot Dno Owner identified Musl provide O Temporary Protective Onder,
List Other Reiated any) O Destroy P AND ldenkily | [CJExtended Siaction

: O Retum To OMV r & for each itam Lisied .
Impounding Officer {Print Name): ~ | Undl Pt ] Initials ™ Foros Offcers kom Oper Arxcos:
M., =M rDERS PDIsT P, 6745

Supsrvisor Approving (Signature): Unit P# | Initials
80 Last Name Firgl Name, MI DoB Prone 8 32.% | Charge(s)
vo_FO .
T IMNC Mxi L ond A L -G —_—
Strest Address City Siate 2ip Coda Arrest Date 1o#

L3710 = bz 1136 v BT - —
$0 00D Last Name Fist Name, M DoB Phone # Charga(s)
vo FO
3 \ : N, X
Street Address \ Clty sm\ Zip Coda Artest\x D4
S0 00| Last Name \ First Name, M| DOB \| Phone # Charge(s)
vD FDO \
[}
Street Addreas \B City Stala Z'M Arrest Data - N

By O P# & Initlals | Date Released Rueala:l 1o Ownar  Owner s Si e
{Above Person)
\ - V& e 12 :z}_:s/as' J

Wu’rﬂ' e

%w# AAGRE R e RZD PRSI SEVE

LVAIPD) 67-A {Rev N2} T

Comesponds to # Listed in PERSONS sactlon
{Suspect / Viclim | Owner / Finder)
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o o omee] v |woOEL[cOR]  Sers#10MN (0] memerrin - st
# ] # Brend Stste & Gov. issued D #3 amummw
t)AMHﬂMMlﬂ.mEﬁ)
03] pnEes PEREEESTeT

AN B \ | NS WALET ~ paverocd
rlz | | yaee, PAPBRLLRI
[0 -3 I W Ml MEL ~ 1] saopd DA |
b | Le| cb . RENECTT™ cAVDS
sl = LS TL 7437 |\ | < - Chicrsggert A% PATILAN
\ | et b - CoeOl B, g b RAEHCY ﬁosL}ﬁstu.Z-)
| L N ' FLdlzoy | | TREAERE LI ErD '
\ L]l r‘—"gi?“ o5 | | |[reeg R o AL A UTR,
[ O iraSe, <IFT cardss
{ Jco 2 |geusotd 2ACRS OATSC .

Distribution: Whita: Records/Onbase | Yellow: Evidencs Vault | Pink: Clitzen
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LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

EVIDENCE IMPOUND REPORT

= ([ 0O

b e

EGUND PROEERTYAN

O Event Number: 181200061057

incident: Requesting Officer: Division: Date:
Burglary - Commercial Follow Up A. Archer #6403 CPD 12/12/2018

L

Victim(s):
Marc Falcone, DOB: 03/16/73

Locailon:
1200 A St. . .

Vahicle(s): .
V1: 1898 Lincoln Navigator, black, SUV, CA: BNJF287, VIN: SLMPU28L2WLJ54870

Additional Informatfion:

Description of Evidence Location of Recovernd Evidence
PACKAGE1 .
Item 1: One swab of possible DNA From the mouth of the Guava juice bottle on the front
passenger fioor of V1.

7

. {CSA SI.lpenrisure P#: Data Approved |Crima Scene Analyst: P#:
Wigaoyr  lowa | i2}20)iw | T- Olson 16552
Quaitrax Number: LYMPO CS51 3817
Document Number; LWMPD TSD 10
[ssued By: CSI DR
Revision Dae: 1]
Page vl
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18._1200033889

“gwaors é an l

LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POL{EH de/HMENT

1

2 APPLICATION AND AFFIDAVIT FOR SEARCH WARRANT

3 M OEC2! A 39

4 JUSTICE COURT

5§ STATEOFNEVADA ) - l‘tﬁu'.i VEGAS NEVADA

6 COUNTYOFCLARK ) ss: — TPy

7 .

8 p APPLICATION FOR TELEPHONIC SEARCH WARRANT

9
10
11 Det. Jones: Judge Bonaventure, do you understand that this phone call is
:g being recorded?
:g Judge Banaventure: Yes.
16  Det. Jones: This is Detective B, Jones, P49675, of tha LVMPD, | am making
17 an application for a Telephonic Search Warrant pursuant to NRS
18 170.045 under LVMPD event number 181200033889. | am tatking
18 to Judge Joseph Bonaventure. The date is 12/14/2018 and the
20 time is approximately 1242 hours. Judge Bonaventure, would you
21 please place me under oath? My right hand is ralsed.

23  Judge Bonaventure: Do you swear to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
24 ' truth?

25

28 Det Jones: 1 do.

27

28 Judge Bonaventure: Thank you.

20 _

30 Det. Jones: Your Honor, my application is as follows:

N

32 1, Detective B. Jones, P#9679, am employed by the Las Vegas

B ... ~ Matropolitan Police Depariment and have been s0 employed for

M 12 years. | am currently assigned to the Spring Valley Area

a5 Command Patrol Investigations Section and have been 8o

36 — essigned for 1 year. I'm presently nvastigating the crime of

7 = Burglary which occurred at 9860 W. Flamingo Rd, Las Vegas, NV

a8 — 89147 bétween 0321 and 0443 hours on the 8th day of

39 = December, 2018.

40 - g — .

41 9 E , Therse's probable cause to believe that certain propery herelnafter

4 - -§§ described will ba found et the following described premises to wit

R Y E— 2233 S. Las Vegas Bivd Room #110, Las Vegas, NV 89104, The

44 . structure is a two-story hotel having @ primarily white colored brick

48 T T exterior with red trim. The numbers “110" are white in color and couRT
RECEIVED IN JUSTICE

RECEWED NEPARTMENT @ CHAMBERS ON
DEC 20 2018
DEC 19 20% z
LAS VEGAS JUSTICE COURT
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181200033889

46 are affixed to the front door. Tha front door is red In color and
:; faces south.
49 The property refemed to and sought to be seized consists of the
go following:
1
52 ¢ Black Richared Mille / Fellipe Massa watch mode! RM11,
g: serial #4369, #3 of 50. -
55 * » Plotinum Vacheron watch mode! 5000/00PB048, seriel
g #1353947.
gg o Urwerk watch, model 202 White Shark, serial #6 of 12.
go » Audemar Plguet watch, mode! LE 100, serial #J63429.
1
82 ¢ Rolex watch, model 118509, serial #207231D0O.
3 .
64 e Patek watch, serlal #316026.
65
66 o Patek watch, model 5990,
67 e "
68 » Audemar Pigust watch, model Pablo Montoya.
)
70 » Geubel Forsey watch, model GMT, serlal #19.
71
72 o Patek watch, model 56506, serlal #7096449.
73
74 » Patek watch, model 5168G, serial #7119230.
75 -
78 ¢ Panerai watch, model PAM 652 BMG, serial #0832,
77
78 s Paneral watch, model PAM 721, serial #0394,
79
80 » MB&F watch, model Legacy Perpetual, serial #03WB3223,
81
a2 » H. Moser Cle walch, model Flying Endeavor, serial
83 #200116474.
84
85 ¢ Richard Mille watch, model RM11-03, serial #RM11-
88 03TI150.
ar
88 ¢ Paneral watch, model PAM 375, gerial #0851.
89
00 » Paneria walch, model PAM 725, serlal #067.
o )
92 s A, Lange & Sohne watch, model Datograph Perpetual
93 “Tourbillion, serlal #227868.
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131
132
133
134
138
136
137
138
138
140
141
142
143

19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX

181200033889

¢ Mobile telephones to be searched via an addendum or
additional search warrant &t a later date. 1t is your affiant's
experience that often times perpetrators use mobile
telephones In thelr conspiracy to commit their crimes.
These communications, whether voice and/or text, tend to
Hlustrate forethought, as well as to show how the
;arpetmtom acted in concert when they committed the

vy .

o Eplthefial cells from the mouth of Mergaux Omelas, date of
birth 0%/27/1977, to be collected via buccal swab or 8
bicod sample from the person of Margaux Omelas, date of
birth 03/27/1977. ’

s A thorough microscopic examination and documentation of
the crime scene to discoveér trace evidence to Include, but
not fimited to fingerprints, blood, hair, fibers, and bodily
fiuld samples.

o Limited ltems of personal property which would tend to
establish a possessory interest in the items sought to be
seizad pursuant to this search warrant to include, but not
limited to parsonal identification, photographs, utility
company recaipts, addressed envelopes, rental recelpts
and objects which bear a person’s name, phone number or
address.

The items sought 1o be seized constitute evidence which would
tend to show the crime of burgiary has been committed. in support
of the affiant's assertion to constitute the existence of probable
cause, the following facts are offered:

On 12/08/2018, between 0321 and 0443 hours, 3 storage units
were burglarized at Storage One, located at 8860 W. Flamingo
Rd, Las Vegas, NV 89147. The suspects nitially made entry by
bending a metal cover on top ef the roll-up door into unit B145.
They then cut a hole through the wall into unit B147. Afterwards,
they made entry into unit 8151 by unknown means. Several ]
collectible watches with a combined value of over $2M were taken
from inside unit B151, along with severa! bags and boxes, ltema
taken from unit B147 include a chessboard and a militery jacket,
along with some collectible dolis and 8 small green tricycle.

Surveillange foolage from Storage One showed a white male adult
and a white female aduit enter the property from the main
entrance at spproximately 0321 hours. They appeared to be
homeless, based on their clothing. The female was pushing aa
empty whealichair.
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144
145
148
A47
148
149
150
161
182
163
154
156

167
158
169
160
161
162
163

185
168
167
168
169
170
17
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
188
187
188
188
180
1091
182
193

181200033889

Motion alarms were activated at unit B147 at approximately 0403
hours, and at unit B151 at approximately 0437 hours.

Al approximately 0443 hours, the same two suspects were seen
walking through the driveway In front of the storage buikiing. The
male was wearing a different jacket, believed to be the one taken
from unit B147. He was also carrying several bags that he did not
have when he first entered. The female was slill pushing the
wheelchalr, which had the chessboard taken from unit B147 sitting
in the seat

An employee at Storage One stated that four other units had been
grelglarized on 12/08/2018, but that police reports had not been

On 12/11/2018, a search warrant was served on a tert, located In
a desart area just east of the storage units. Inside, officers
recovered several watch boxes, matching the makes and models
taken from unit B151, but not the watches. Also recovared wera
business cards bearing the name of the owner of unit B151.

Also recovered, were the chessboard and mititary jacket taken
from unit B147, and paperwark bearing the name of the owner of
unit B145, Numerous other items, including jewelry, elactronics,
and coflectibles, were Impounded for safekeeping. Latent prints
were recovered from the chessboard, a coln holder, and a blue
bag, all located inside the tent. ,

Later that same night, at approximately 2358 hours, a motion
alarm was activated at unit B151. A black Lincoln Navigator was
parked near the property, which had a bag on the ground next io
it. The bag had previously been seen inside the tent during the
search warrant. A clear plastic case with a watch inside could be
seen In open view on the front passenger seat. The vehicle was
impounded, pending a search wafrant.

On 12/12/2018, a search warrant was served on the Lincoln
Navigator. Inside, officers recovered two of the watches taken
from unit B151, a Paneral watch and a Greubel Forsey watch.
They also recovered two coin collection folders, collector cards,
some fake $100 biils, and two phones.

Latent prints recovered from the search warrant inside the tent
returned to Margaux Omelas, date of birth 03/27/1977, and Dustin
Lewis, DOB 03/12/1983. Omelas' prints were on the chessboard,
and Lewis' wera on the other items. Both matched the description
of the suspects seen in the surveiliance video from the burglary. A
records check showed that Omelas had a no-bail electronic
warvant out of the Las Vegas Justice Court for domeslic battery
(Case#17F04320X), and that Lewis had an active warrant fora
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104
105
106
107
108
169

201

203
204
205
206
207

" 210
21
212
213
214
2156
216
217
218
219

231

Judge Bonaventure:
Det. Jones:

Judge Bonaventure:
Det. Jones:

Judge Bonaventure:
Det. Jones:

Judge Bonaventure:

181200033889

parole violation, related to a possession of stolen vehicle offense,
from Nevada Parole & Probation (Flle#.19-0376).

On 1211472018 around 1020 hours, officars focated Omelas
coming out of room 110 at the Fun City Motel, located at 2233 S.
Las Veges Bivd, Las Vegas, NV 89104, and took her into custody
for her warrant. Officers entered the room to conduct a premise
freeze and prevent the destruction of any evidence. Inside, two
bags were seen in plain view, similar to the ones seen in the
survelliance video from the burglary.

Based on the fact that Omelas and Lewis match the description of

the burglary suspects, Omelas' latent prints were located on one

of the recovered stolen itams, along with the fact that the hotel

room ls Omelas’ last known location, there is probable cause to

:tli:lve that the unrecovered stolen items are located Inside the
room.

Your affiant betieves that the epithelial ¢ells or blood sample when
collected and submitted for DNA laboratory analysis, would either
include or efiminate the fisted person’s involvement in the criminal
offense of burglary. A buccal swab is the preferred and intended
method of collection of the DNA sample. Howsver, in ttie event
that Margaux Omnelas refuses to cooperate with the coilection of
the buccal swab, the use of reasonable force Is authorized to the
axtent necessary {o obtain a blood semple, o

Judge Bonaventure, this ends the probable cause details of this
search warrant application and Your Honor, this ends the search
warrent portion. Judge Bonaventure, do you find probable cause
exiets for the issuance of this search warrant?

Yes, | do find probable cause.

Judge Bonaventure, would you like me to read the duplicats
original search warrant?

No, that’s not necessary.

Judge Bonaventure, da | have your parmission to affix your name
to the duplicats original search warrant?

Yes,
This application and the signing of the search warani was
witnessed by Dstective J. Haynes, P#14010, at 1254 hours,

Judge Bonaventure, this ends our conversation and concludes the
recording. Thank you for your time.

You're welcome.
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161200033889

245 M #1629,
247 Jessica Dodd, P¥15372 LEST

248  “I certify that this is a trus and accurate trenscription,
249  dated this 17th day of December, 2018, at 1100 hours.”

251 -
Def, B. Jones, P#9679, LVMPD

252
253
254
255 Spring Valley Area Commany, Patrol Investigations .

258  "Having read the transcription of the Telephonic Search Warrant issued by this Court on
257 the 14th day of December, 2018, at 1254 hours, LYMPD, serving as Affiant and having
268 reviewed the recarding of the epplication, it appears the trenscription is accurate.”

259
260
261
262
263
264
285

AN

Judge Bonvanture
Las Vegas Township, Dapamnento\
Justice of the Peace
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LVMPD Events_£y |8 /2900 33319

DUPLICATE ORIGINAL :UE:RDE:\T\I;RANEM D3 a1

NRS 179.045 ET TN 239
. C ST
STATE OF NEVADA 3333 5, LAS veGas 6*"3&‘3"{%04
8. ;A5 VEGAS, AV %9109 ~Ee—
COUNTY OF CLARK -— ¥

PERTON oF: MARGAUX QANEL4As,
Dol o3/21/1977

" The Stete of Nevada, to any Peace Officer in the County of Clark. Proof having been made before me by
Detective'Officer___ . Jorges , P#.9 €29 . by oral statements given under oath,
that there Is probable cause to believe that certain evidence, 1o wit:

1) Black Richared Mille / Fellipe Massa Walch - Model RM11 - Serig! 4368 #3 of 50
2) Piatinum Vacheron Watch - Model 5000/000PB048B - Serial 1353847 -

3) Urwerk Watch - Model 202 White Shark - Serial #8 of 12

4) Audemar Piguet Watch - Modal LE 100 - Serial J63420

6) Rolex Watch - Model 116509 - Serial 20723100

@) Patek Watch - Serial 316026

7) Patek Watch - Mode! 5890

8) Audemer Piguet Watch - Model Pablo Montoya

9) Geubel Forsey Watch - Model GMT - Serial 19

10) Patek Watch - Model 5850G - 7098448

11) Patek Watch - Model 5166G- Serial 7116239

12) Paaneral Waich - Model PAM 662 BMG - Serial 0832

13) Panerai Watch - Model PAM 721 - Serial 0394

14) MB&F Watch - Mode! Legacy Perpetual - Serial 03W683223

15) H. Moser Cie Watch - Madel Flying Endeavor - Serial 200516474

16) Richard Mille Watch - Model RM$1-03 - Serlal RM11-03T1 50

17) Panerai Watch - Model PAM 375 - Serial 0951

18) Panerai Watch - Model PAM 726 - Serial 087

19) A. Lange & Sohne Watch - Model Datograph Perpetual Tourbillion - Serial 227868

SR Y "-'
RECEIVED
DEC 19 2018
LAB VEGAS JUSTIOR GOURT Page_;__of_B_.
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*+***Note: This is a standardized template. items which have been struck out are excluded as items to be
sought and seized during the exacution of this search warrant.****

( ): Firearms to include handgdns, shotguns and rifles, spent casing
acoessorias including, but ngytimited to, magazines or cylinders, fipse
associated with the ownerg¥ip of firearms;

{ ). Any avidance of griminal street gang membership or affilia gng
paraphemalia to inclyfie, but not limited to, any drawings ¢¢ miscellaneous writings, or abjegts, or graffiti
depicting gang menfber'’s names, initials, logos, monikery, slogans, and/or any informatiay
of criminal strest gang membership, offiliation, activity /4r Identity. Any paintings, photogtaphs or photograph
~ ocgtions which may appear upon ohéervation to be relevant
o of gang membership or associatiop or which may depict itams sougtit and/or befievad to be
8 case being investigated with thigvarant. Any letters, notas, pap
£riminal activities, or which may dppict evidence of any criminal gang
ding to relate details ar referencd to any crime or crimes of violengé;

on the questic

(29: Mobile telephones which may be searched via an addsndum or additional saarch warrant at a |ater date.
It is your affiant’s experience that often times perpetrators use mobile telephones in thefr conspiracy to commit
their crimes. These communications whether voice and or text tend to iliustrate forethought as well as show
how the perpetralors acted in concert when they commiited the offense;

{ ): Paraphemalla commgdly associated with the sm
the distribution of controliéd substances, These itams

: : Epithelial cells from the mouth(s) of:
3’[ MAL A

(=] 7/1?7-;

to be collected via buccal swab, or;

2.2 A blood sample from the person(s) of:
o MABGAUX aanmeeds, dod a3lazda7)

Page_2_of 3
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;_:iq A therough, micrescopic examination and documentation of the crime scene to discover trace evidence to
include but not limited to: fingerprints, blood, hair, fibers and bodily fluid samples:

¢ 2yiimited items of personal property which would tend to establish a possessory interest in the items sought
to be selzed pursuant to this search warrant to include but not limited to: personal identification, photbgraphs,
utility h:ampany recelpts, addressed envelopes, rental recelpts, and objects which bear a person’s name, phone
number or eddress;

which are presently located at:

(1:_2233 S 1 A5 uEGAs £Levp, Moo (10, £45 YEGAT, N V

And(z)meperson-)ofadults(ornﬁnors)locaudat pmmisesnlihetlmeofthaaxe on of this search
:fasw. to include’backpacks, purses or bags as as clothing currently being worn by of in the possession
person{s

As | am satisfied that there is probable cause to be that said gvidence |8 located as set forth above
and based upon the statements of Detective/Offieer __£2 .- JOAES £79 , there ara sufficient
grounds for the [ssuance of the Search Warrant.

You are hereby commanded to saarch and examine said premise andéorvehicle-for sald property and
traca evidence, serving this warrant (at-any-haur day oe-pight)./ (between 7 am and 7 pm) and if the property
Is there, to seize it and leave a written Inventory and make a return before me within 10 days. The attached
recorded oral statement upon which this warrant Is based is hereby Incorporated by this reference as though
fully set forth herein.

Datedthis {4y dayof _D€ceMBER 20 78 at_!257  houre.
(Print Judge's name) ____VJose Py Bow s verTope _

Signed by Deteciive/Offiess_£ . Jongy , P# 947 9 . acting upon oraf authorization
Judge, dosesrn HownwAversTVvAE ]
Witnessedby A€ r<cer xv€ ). HAYAES ,PR_{90:0
ENDORSED this_ &5 doyof_ Decular ,20\8

s .

Judge N

Page_ 3 of 3
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FIPED -+
RETURN  gnoc2! A adhe_D22

(Must be made within 10 deys of susnas of Warmant) .
TICE COURT
Ln‘%’?ms NEVADA

The Bearch and Setzure Warrant authortzing a search and setzurs at tho GowiGg Webicribed iocationls):

_2233 S, £A5 VEGAS gevD, Aoom Jla

LAS UegAS, #V _$9/0%
was executed on 7 20

aay. your)

Acopy of tis inventoy was lewin _AY_THE _peAceE OF SEQRCYH

(neme of parsen of *al Iy plece of saand?)

The following Is an Inventory of property taken pursuant to the warrants
AVOCHAR BT GUET WATCH — SEATAL JSIT
PANEAAL wATch — S€AFAC 5061300 W/EAGS

PATEK PHTLEPPE ewnvecop €
PANGR.A: wWATCH —ScdrAc TO}‘J’Z/‘QOG

2L PANERAT MANVALS f‘ﬁ’-‘-ﬁ““‘"-—
| AOLEX SArVAL :'ganmmamm.,., ;
|

e sper - 1 ee6 | [N |

g L DEM T EECATZON CARL S

€ Pass polrsS ,.
C SEAL FECVRETY CARD § -

20 Oedrr/cAELEY cAR 25

4 FFREAL M REGES TRATEON CARQDS

AEFE PAPANORK

€ HECK L do

This inventory wag mado WIM 9
e

| J. Haywes, P96
TU/IETY (st st tno ffoars nckaling afiard ¥ rossht. ¥ parsce orm whiom ropirty o o b prossrd nchue 4! g )

caro )2 49 2018

LAS VE0WS AUSTICE COURT '
19F00933B - ORNELAS, MARGAUX = Page 92 of 1&3\ 000078
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RETURN W 0EE21 A T3 H A2

(V! b made within 10 deys of Isstancs of Wament)

STl
LA&UVEGBE N JDA

The Search and Selzure Warrant authorizing a search and selzure .tmﬂmmmm:

ﬁ7 Efgja_q SR AR GRUIX Mﬂgg, dotw ;
N[/ 77, .

MBWMM
. {monin, dey, year)
Acopy cf this inventory was tet with __BRGAUX (O N&LAS

.n‘dwlllﬂl"llu plsos of seanch?)

The following is an Inventory of propmiy taken pursuant to the warrant:

* ot ventory wes a2~ GRINMES, PGS, M+ SAUIIBGRS, PHIX

RECEIVED

laast boo olficars inchufing aiant 7 parmtn rem whom propsty i isien by presant inchudis thet paron )

WPRAD VEBASUUSTICE COUny
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Electronically Filed
3/3/2021 1:55 PM
Steven D. Grierson

JOIN. CLERK OF THE COU
MICHAEL A. TROIANO, ESQ., : ﬁ“ﬁ

Nevada Bar No. 11300

THE LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL A. TROIANO
601 S. 7™ Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101

(702) 843-5500

Attorney for Defendant

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ) Case No.: C-19-340051-2
) Dept. No.: 24
Plaintiff, )
)
VS. )
)
MARGAUX ORNELAS, )
)
Defendant, )
)

DEFENDANT MARGAUX ORNELAS’ JOINDER TO CO-DEFENDANT DUSTIN
LEWIS’ MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE BASED ON FOURTH
AMENDMENT VIOLATION AND FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE
DOCTRINCE

COMES NOW, Defendant, MARGAUX ORNELAS, by and through her counsel
MICHAEL A. TROIANO, ESQ., and hereby files this Joinder to Co-Defendant, Dustin Lewis
Motion to Suppress Evidence Based on Fourth Amendment Violation and Fruit of the Poisonous
Tree Doctrine.

I
I
I
I

/1

AA 000080

Case Number: C-19-340051-2
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This Joinder incorporates the Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Co-Defendant,
Dustin Lewis Motion, the papers on file herein, and any oral argument the Court wishes to entertain
at the hearing for this Motion.

DATED this 3™ day of March, 2021.

LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL A. TROIANO

By /s/ Michael A. Troiano
MICHAEL A. TROIANO, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11300
601 S. 7™ Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 843-5500

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE

A COPY of the above and foregoing MOTION TO WITHDRAW PLEA was sent via

electronic mail to the District Attorney’s Office at motions@clarkcountyda.com and Chief Deputy

District Attorney David Standton at david.stanton@clarkcountyda.com on this 3™ day of March,

2021.

LAW OFFICE OF MICHAEL A. TROIANO

By /S/ Noelle Steadmon
Employee of The Law Office of
Michael A. Troiano

601 S. 7™ Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

(702) 843-5500

AA 000081
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Electronically Filed
3/4/2021 1:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
OPPS Cﬁ;_‘__,a ,ﬁu«”

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565 '
DAVID STANTON _
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #03202

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

-vs- CASE NO: C-19-340051-1

DUSTIN LEWIS, #7030601 DEPT NO: XXIV

Defendant.

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE
BASED ON FOURTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION AND FRUIT OF THE
- POISONOUS TREE DOCTRINE

DATE OF HEARING: MARCH 8, 2021
TIME OF HEARING: 10:00 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through DAVID STANTON, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby
submits the attached Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Suppress
Evidence Based On Fourth Amendment Violation And Fruit Of The Poisonous Tree Doctrine.

This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

/
I
I

WCLARKCOUNTYDA NET\CRMCASE2\201 9\024\0ﬂ)ﬁ246‘0}’06'81'2 LEWIS)-001.DOCX

Case Number: C-19-340051-1
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

The instant motion fails to cite any authority that supports an absolute right to privacy
in a tent that by its very nature was evidence of a crime to wit — trespass. Defendant, relying
primarily on Alward, asserts that this Court should rely on that decision to grant the instant
Motion. A critical fact that separates the reasoning between Alward and the instant case is that
unlike the facts in Alward [tent lawfully on BLM land] the tent clearly evidenced, among other
things, a criminal act was being committed. The tent, conceded in the instant Motion as being
the Defendant’s property, was on private property. Also conceded in the Motion is the
uncontroverted fact that the property was fenced.

" The land in question — immediately adjacent to the location of the crimes in this case —
was clearly the property of someone other than the Defendant and privately owned. This was
not BLM land or public lands. Thus, Alward is NOT dispositive of this case. The officers had
additional reasons to be concerned about the tent in question (discussed infra) as they
approached the tent. Not only did they have a duty to ascertain whether an ongoing crime was
being committed (trespassing) but they had observed a wheelchair in proximity to the tent
itself. The officers were obligated to see if the wheelchair was related to the occupants of the
tent for several reasons — “community caretaking.” See, Stafe v. Rincon, 122 Nev. 1170, 1176,
147 P.3d 233, 237 (2006) (community caretaking); S. Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364,
369, 96 S. Ct. 3092, 3097 (1976). |

Officers announced themselves in close proximity to the tent and received no answer.
Their obligations asAoutlined supra still existed. The only way they could confirm or dispel
those concerns was to verify if the tent was occupied. Equally, the Officers were well within
the scope of their duties to seize the entire tent itself. Impounding the same would require
them to conduct an inventory of the obvious contents inside the tent. | |

It is uncontested the;t the following actions then took place. That officers immediately
recognized items of contraband and that someone appeared to be living inside the tent on

private property. Additionally, this private lot was surrounded by fencing to keep others from

\\CLARKCOUNTYDA.NET\CRMCASEZ\ZOI9\024\%%246(@@6%@ LEWIS)-001.DOCX
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trespassing on said property. That upon immediately recognizing several items to be
contraband, and before searching the tent, the sought and obtained a search warrant for same.

Most importantly is that the tent was sitting on private property that was surrounding
by significant fencing. When this fact is injected into the “right of privacy” analysis the Courts
addressing this issue are almost unanimous in finding that NO right to privacy if found to be

objectively reasonable.

Most courts have rejected an individual's claim to a right of privacy in the
temporary shelter he or she wrongfully occupies on public property. No
reasonable expectation of privacy has been found in a squatter's home under a
bridge, State v. Mooney, 218 Conn. 85, 588 A.2d 145, 152, 154 (1991)
(privacy right in duffel bag and cardboard box stored under the bridge, but not
in the defendant's home under the bridge), cert. denied sub nom., Connecticut v.
Mooney, 502 U.S. 919, 112 S.Ct. 330, 116 L.Ed.2d 270 (1991); in a squatter's
home in a cave on federal land, United States v. Ruckman, 806 F.2d 1471, 1472—
73 (10th Cir.l986% (no reasonable expectation of privacy in a cave from which
defendant could be ejected at any time); or in a squatters' home on state
land. Amezquita v. Hernandez—Colon, 518 F.2d 8, 11 (lst Cir.1975)(no
reasonable expectation of privacy on land which squatters had no right to
occ%py), cert. denied sub nom., Amezquita v. Colon, 424 U.S. 916, 96 S.Ct.
1117,°47 1..Ed.2d 321 (1976). Thus, if an individual places his effects upon
premises where he has no legitimate expectation of privacy (for example, in an
abandoned shack or as a trespasser qun another's property), then he has no
legitimate reasonable expectation that they will remain undisturbed upon [those]
premises.4 W. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 11.3(c), at 305 (1987) (fuotmg M.
Gutterman, “A Person Aggrieved”: Standing to Sl’17p ress Illegally Seized
Evidence in Transition, 23 Emory L.J. 111, 119 (19 48). Further, where “an
individual has no reasonable e)tcpectation of privacy in a particular area, the
police ‘may enter on a hunch, a fishing expedition for evidence, or for no good
reason at all.” *» State v. Petty, 48 Wash. IS)p. 615, 620, 740 P.2d 879 (1987)
(quoting State v. Bell, 108 Wash.2d 193, 205, 737 P.2d 254 (1987) (Pearson, J.,
concurring)), review denied, 109 Wash.2d 1012 (1987).

Lance Cleator and Kahere Sidiq wrongfully occupied public land by living in
a tent **309 erected on public property. The public roEerty was not a campsite,
and it is undisputed that neither Cleator nor Sidiq had permission to erect
atent in that location.” Under these circumstances, he could not reasonably
expect that the tent would remain undisturbed. As a wrongful occupant of public
land, Cleator had no reasonable expectation of privacy at the campsite because
he had no right to remain on the property and could have been ejected at any
time. See United States v. Ruckman and Amezquita v. Hernandez—Colon,
supra. Under the totality of the circumstances and taking into account that
the tent was not his, that the tent was a temporary, unsecured shelter, and that it
was wrongfully erected on public property which was not a campsite, Cleator's
legitimate privacy expectations, to the extent they existed, were limited to his

ersonal belongings. See Mooney, 588 A.2d at 152 (privacy right only in duffel

a§ and cardboard box); Ruckman, at 1472 (Ruckman's cave and personal
belongings not subject to Fourth Amendment protection). Officer Denevers only
raised the tent flap and observed what was clearly visible and seized only that
which he knew to be wrongfully obtained. Because he did not disturb Cleator's

3
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ersonal effects, his actions did not violate Cleator's
imited expectation of privacy.

State v. Cleator, 71 Wash. App. 217, 220-22, 857 P.2d 306, 308-09 (1993) (footnotes
omitted).

The facts as Defendant LEWIS argues in the instant motion are mqfe directly on point
with Cleator than Alward or Gooch. In fact, the expectation of privacy analysis in all cases
cited fail to support LEWIS as he was not on a campground or public property — it was private
property.

Another critical fact separates LEWIS from the facts cited by defense counsel in Gooch.

In Gooch:

The officers then ordered Gooch's companion out of the tent and searched the
tent for the firearm, finding a loaded handgun under an air mattress. Id. The
court concluded that Gooch had both a subjective and an objectively reasonable
expectation of privacy in the tent, noting that camping in a public camp ound
as opposed to on private land was of no consequence since the Fourth
Amendment “grotects people, not places.” Id. at 67677 (quoting Katz v. United
States, 389 U.S. 347, 351, 88 S.Ct. 507, 511, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967))

Id., 6 F3d at 676.

It is uncontroverted that no such search was conducted in this case. Thus, for 2 distinct
and important facts separates Gooch from LEWIS.

The instant Motion quotes 4/ward in an interesting way. The Motion at page 8, lines
8-9 uses brackets to paraphrase the opinion. Specifically, the Motions states: “Simply because

[the Defendant] camped on land [owned by another] does not diminish his expectation of

| privacy.” (Emphasié added). Of course, as indicated throughout this Opposition, the

ownership and type of ownership that the tent sits on is critical to the respective Court’s
analysis.

Thus, both the illegality, and defendant's awareness that he was illicitgf
occupying the fpremises without consent or permission, aré undisputed.
“Legitimation of expectations of privacy by law must have a source outside of
the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal
property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.”
(Rakas v. Illinois (1978) 439 U.S. 128, 143, fn. 12, 99 S.Ct. 421, 58 L.Ed.2d
387.) Defendant was not in a position to legitimately consider the campsite—or
the belongings kept there—as a place society recognized as private to him.
(Dodds, supra, 946 F.2d 726, 728-729.) Nor did he have the right to exclude
others from that place. He had no ownership, lawful possession, or lawful
control of the premises searched. (See United States v. Gale (D.C.Cir.1998) 136

WCLARKCOUNTYDA.NET\CRMCASE2120] 9\024\0%%4&0’6% LEWIS)-001.DOCX
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F.3d 192, 195-196; United States v. Carr (10th Cir.1991) 939 F.2d 1442, 1446.)
A “person can have no reasonable expectation of privacy in premises on which
they are wrongfully lg\)reser'lt....” (Unite States v.  Gutierrez—
Casada (D.Kan.2008) 553 F.Supp.2d 1259, 1270; see also United States v.
McRae (6th Cir.1998) 156 F.3d 708, 711; Dodds, supra, at pp. 728-729.)

People v. Nishi, 207 Cal. App. 4th 954, 961, 143 Cal. Rptr. 3d 882, 889 (2012).

In light of the Officer’s ability to impound the tent, they would have been duty bound
to then inventory the contents therein. This analysis further confirms courts decision as it
relates to tents on public versus private land. Additionally, there is no reasonable contention
that the land in question was private property and that considerable efforts had been made by
the owners to communicate to the general public by surrounding the property with significant
fencing. |

Finally, it is important to note that not one legal citation in the instant Motion addresses
the critical inquiry that this Court needs to make whether the objectivé expectation of privacy
is one that society is prepared to recognize. There can be no question that numerous
jurisdictions properly find that an expectation of privacy does indeed exist inside of a tent on
public property. But the critical inquiry here is that this is not public land but private property
that LEWIS’ présence constitutes an illegal act and one that is ongoing in nature as it clearly
and reasonably appeared to Officers on the date in question.

The presence of the wheelchair in the same private fenced lot and near LEWIS® tent
adds an important additional fact into the privacy interest of LEWIS. In either or both
interpretations of the wheelchair the officers were clearly bound to investigate further under

the long-held doctrine of “community caretaking.”

CONCLUSION

The instant Motion \proclaims that the “evidence recovered from Mr. Lewis’ tent and
surrounding area” should be suppressed. No such argument has been made, let alone legal
authority to support, that evidence found outside the tent is suppressible under the theory of a
violation of a “right to privacy.” As outlined above, it is critical that this Court analyses the

facts in this case as being substantively and qualitatively different from those cases cited by

5
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LEWIS that address the right of privacy in a tent on public land. That is NOT the underlying
facts in this case. That important distinction renders the mandatory “objective test” defective
in establishing a recognized “right to privacy.”

DATED this 4th day of March, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney

Nevada Ban#001565
BW ZL)V/_\

{CDAVIDR-STANTON
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #03202

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 4th day of March,
2021, by electronic fransmission to:
CAESAR ALMASE

caesar@almaselaw.com

BY

A9
CELINA LOP \
Secretary for the\Djstrick Attorpey’s Office

DS/cl/L3
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ALMASE LAW

CAESAR ALMASE, ESQ.
Bar No. 7974

526 S. 7t Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney For Defendant

STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
V.

DUSTIN LEWIS,
#7030601
Defendant.

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

M M M M e N M M N e

COMES NOW Defendant, DUSTIN LEWIS by and through his attorney of record,
CAESAR ALMASE of ALMASE LAW, and hereby files DEFENDANT DUSTIN LEWIS REPLY TO|

STATE’S OPPOSITION. This Reply is based upon the contents herein, the underlying

Case No.: (C-19-34005

Dept. No.: XXIV

DEFENDANT DUSTIN LEWIS REPLY TO

STATE'’S OPPOSITION

Motion on file, and argument of Counsel at the hearing.

DATED this & g of March 2021.

By

Electronically Filed
3/16/2021 12:18 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERZ OF THE COUQE E

1-1

Caesar Almase-# 7974
526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant

Case Number: C-19-340051-1

——

AA 000088




NOTICE OF MOTION

TO:  CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff:
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing motion has been set for hearing on the

day of 2021, at 8:30 AM in District Court XXIV.

DATED this_\ \ day of March 2021.

2 D -

Caesar Almase #7974
526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
[ hereby certify | electronically filed the foregoing document with the Clerk of the
Court by using the electronic filing system on the ______ day of March 2021. Service wasg
made electronically and via email to:
Steven B. Wolfson

Clark County District Attorney
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com

CAESAR ALMASE, ESQ.
Attorney For Defendant

AA 000089
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RELEVANT FACTS

Defense incorporates the recitation of facts provided in the “Relevant Fact” section|
of the underlying Motion To Suppress. The State filed an Opposition to that Motion. In it,
the State really makes one argument’ against suppression of evidence: that the officers had
a legal right to search Mr. Lewis’ tent, because the tent was presumably? illegally placed on)|
private property. At the March 8 hearing, the State requested an evidentiary hearing to
determine whether the tent was illegally pitched in that area, ostensibly to justify the
officers’ intrusion. Defense counsel asked this Honorable Court permission to file the
instant Reply, and after reading it, to assess whether an evidentiary hearing is actually
necessary.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

In its Opposition, the State cited to State v. Cleator, 71 Wash. App. 217 (1993), as
persuasive authority, for the proposition that a tent placed illegally on land can be searched
and seized, without regard to the privacy expectations of the occupier. In other words,
police have a right to search and seize any property, including a tent, of a person who ig
trespassing, because that person is breaking the law by trespassing. Simply put, this is not
the law in Nevada. Reliance on Cleator is completely misplaced and is not even followed byj
the Washington Appeals Court that issued the opinion. Defense urges this Honorable Court
to instead follow the controlling authority for Fourth Amendment issues of this nature in|
the Ninth Circuit, US v. Gooch, 6 F.3d. 673 (9™ Cir. 1993) and US v. Sandoval, 200 F.3d 659

(2000); and in Nevada state court, State v. Alward, 112 Nev. 141 (1996). Alward, as the

'The State mentions “community caretaking” as an alternate justification for the officers’ tent intrusion
and cites to State v. Rincon, 122 Nev. 1170 (2006). Rincon is in no way applicable, as it dealt with
officers’ ability to stop motorists in the interest of community caretaking, when an emergency may exist
and no reasonable suspicion that a crime occurred can justify the stop. To argue it applies here is absurd.
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lone Nevada Supreme Court case on point, is the controlling case regarding Fourth|
Amendment privacy interests of tent occupiers in Nevada.

State v. Cleator Is Neither Controlling Nor Persuasive

State v. Cleator, 71 Wash. App. 217 (1993) dealt with a tent located in an area the
investigating officer believed to be on city property, 150 yards from a residence wherg
items had been stolen. Id. at 218. Although there is no mention in the opinion as to|
whether the tent was determined to be on public or private land, it was undisputed that the|
defendants did not have permission to place the tent at that location. Id. at 219-22. The
Washington Court of Appeals, Division One, decided against suppression of the evidence,
citing to past cases, which the State recounts in the long block quotes on page 3 of the
Opposition.

Seven years after Cleator, the Ninth Circuit issued US v. Sandoval 200 F.3d 659
(2000), which drew from and bolstered US v. Gooch 6 F.3d 673 (1993), which is still the
lead case on Fourth Amendment law in the Ninth Circuit. The defendant, Sandoval, was one|
of 18 defendants indicted for marijuana growing and conspiracy. Id. at 660. At issue, was
one of the sixteen grow sites; a “makeshift tent” that was closed on all sides, located
illegally on BLM land, and had a medicine bottle with Mr. Sandoval’s name on it, linking him
to the tent and other items of evidentiary value. Id. The tent was searched and seized
without a warrant, and the trial court denied a Motion to Suppress, reasoning that because
the tent was illegally on BLM land, the defendant could not have reasonably expected to
keep the tent private from intrusion. Id. However, the Ninth Circuit reversed, stating the
defendant did have a reasonable expectation of privacy:

First, the tent was located in an area that was heavily covered by vegetation
and virtually impenetrable. Second, the makeshift tent was closed on all four

’It is presumed, as this Honorable Court pointed out at the hearing on March 8, because no information
has been presented to show the property was actually private; that the property owner even knew about
the tent; or that the tent was illegally pitched without the property owner’s permission.
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sides, and the bottle could not be seen from outside. Third, Sandoval left a
prescription medicine bottle inside the tent; a person who lacked a subjective
expectation of privacy would likely not leave such an item lying around. The
government counters that Sandoval could not have had a subjective
expectation of privacy because he was growing marijuana illegally and was
not authorized to camp on BLM land. However, we have previously
rejected the argument that a person lacks a subjective expectation of
privacy simply because he is engaged in illegal activity or could have
expected the police to intrude on his privacy. See United States v. Gooch, 6
F.3d 673, 677 (9th Cir. 1993). According to this view, no lawbreaker would
have a subjective expectation of privacy in any place because the expectation
of arrest is always imminent.

Id. at 660. (quotes omitted) (emphasis added). The similarities to Mr. Lewis’ situation are|
apparent. Like the defendant in Sandoval, Mr. Lewis clearly showed a subjective
expectation of privacy in his home, the tent, by keeping it zipped up and closed to outsiders
(see also Alward v. State, 112 Nev. 141, at 150, defendant “had a subjective expectation of
privacy in the tent and its contents. . .manifested. . .by leaving the tent. . .closed.”)
The Sandoval Court goes further, stating the privacy expectation was objectively
reasonable too. Id. at 660-61.
In LaDuke v. Nelson, we held that a person can have an objectively reasonable
expectation of privacy in a tent on private property. In Gooch, we extended
that holding to find a reasonable expectation of privacy in a tent on a public
campground. Here, the tent was located on BLM land, not on a public
campground, and it is unclear whether Sandoval had permission to be there.
However, we do not believe the reasonableness of Sandoval's
expectation of privacy turns on whether he had permission to camp on
public land.
Id. (citations and footnotes omitted) (emphasis added). This language from Sandoval
makes clear that Fourth Amendment analysis regarding whether a person has a reasonablé

expectation of privacy in their tent, does not depend on where the tent is, be it private on

public land, or whether it was pitched legally or illegally.
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The Ninth Circuit cases of US v. Sandoval and US v. Gooch, and the Nevada Supreme|
Court case of State v. Alward represent the current state of Fourth Amendment case law in
the Ninth Circuit and Nevada. The Washington Appeals Court, Division One case of State v.
Cleator should not figure into this analysis, not only because it does not control in Nevada,
but because it is not even followed in Washington. As if to clarify the error of Cleator,
twenty-four years after that ruling, the Washing Appeals Court, Division Two issued State v.
Pippin, 200 Wash. App. 826 (2017).

In Pippin, the appellant, who was living in a tent in downtown Vancouver WA, was
contacted by officers who were enforcing a new law that made camping on public ground
illegal. Id. at 830-31. During the interaction officers lifted a tarp covering the tent and saw
the defendant with methamphetamine. Id. at 831-32. He was charged with drug
possession, he moved to suppress under the Fourth Amendment, the State opposed saying
he did not have a privacy interest, and the trial court granted suppression, relying
primarily on US v. Sandoval, 200 F.3d 659 (2000). Id.

On appeal, the Washington Appeals Court upheld the lower court and took the
opportunity to announce abandonment of Cleator in favor of Sandoval, stating:

We decline to follow Cleator for several reasons. First, Cleator predominantly
analyzed the Fourth Amendment in determining that Cleator's privacy
interests were not violated. Further, in coming to its conclusion, Cleator
heavily relied on the proposition that other federal circuits had "rejected an
individual's claim to a right of privacy in the temporary shelter he or she
wrongfully occupies on public property."ldat 220, 857 P.2d 306 (citing
United States v. Ruckman, 806 F.2d 1471, 1472-73 (10th Cir. 1986);
Amezquita v. Hernandez-Colon, 518 F.2d 8, 11 (1st Cir. 1975)).3 Those cases,
though, have been called into question by the 9th Circuit, which has
held that the reasonableness of an individual's expectation of privacy is
not lessened when he or she wrongfully occupies public property. See
Sandoval.

31t is noteworthy, that US v. Ruckman and Amezquita v. Hernandez-Colon are among the cases the State
cites to as authority on page 3 of its Opposition, for the specious argument that Courts addressing the
issue of a tent on private property, “are almost unanimous in finding that NO right to privacy if [sic]
found to be objectively reasonable.” Opp.. p. 3, In. 5-6. This is clearly untrue.
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Pippin at 842-43. (emphasis added).

The Pippin Court then revealed the Court that issued the Cleator opinion, its sisten
court Washington Appeals Court, Division One, “itself has now departed from Cleator's
view that unlawfully occupying land diminishes one's privacy rights.” Id. at 843, citing State
v. Wyatt, noted at 187 Wash.App. 1004, WL 1816052 (2015). The Pippin Court concluded
“Cleator's holding is inconsistent with Sandoval, and its rationale was abandoned by Wyatt,
For these and the other reasons just noted, we join the approach of Sandoval and Wyatt and
hold that Pippin's privacy interests are not diminished by his lack of permission to camp af
that location.” Id. at 843-44.

Just as the Washington Appeals Court, Division Two, abandoned Cleator, which wasg
their controlling case law, this Honorable Court should likewise reject it as unpersuasive.

An Evidentiary Hearing Is Unnecessary

The Fourth Amendment “protects people, not places.” Gooch, 6 F.3d at 676-77
(quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967)). “Simply because [the defendant]
camped on land [owned by another] does not diminish his expectation of privacy.” Alward,
112 Nev. at 150, 912 P.2d at 249. Under the Ninth Circuit case of Gooch, by extension|
Sandoval, and our Nevada Supreme Court case of Alward, Mr. Lewis had a reasonable
expectation of privacy in his home, the tent. It does not matter whether Mr. Lewis wag
actually trespassing, because he would still have a Fourth Amendment protected|
expectation of privacy, which officers violated by opening the tent. Therefore, an
evidentiary hearing to determine whether Mr. Lewis illegally pitched the tent ig

unnecessary and a waste of time.
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CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should order the suppression of all tangible property and|
physical evidence recovered from Mr. Lewis’ tent and the surrounding area, as these items
were seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the US Constitution, US v. Gooch, 6
F.3d. 673 (9t Cir. 1993), US v. Sandoval, 200 F.3d 659 (2000), and State v. Alward, 112 Nev|
141 (1996). By extension under the Fruit of the Poisonous Tree doctrine and Segura v|
United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984), which was cited in the underlying Motion To
Suppress, Mr. Lewis’ hand print, his interview, any statements attributed to him, all
documents, statements, any other tangible evidence relating to his identity, and any
evidence from the search of the Navigator and the Fun City Motel that the State intends to

use against Mr. Lewis at trial must be suppressed as well.

DATED this_\\_ day of March 2021. %

Caesar Almase #7974
526 S. 7t Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
-Vs- CASENO: (C-19-340051-1
E%gggBI]LEWIS’ DEPTNO: XXIV
Defendant.

STATE’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S DUSTIN LEWIS REPLY TO STATE'S
OPPOSITION

DATE OF HEARING: MARCH 31, 2021
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through DAVID STANTON, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby
submits the attached Points and Authorities in Response to Defendant’s Dustin Lewis Reply
To State's Opposition.

This Response is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court. .'

I
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

The original Motion relies upon the Nevada case Alward’ and two Ninth Circuit cases
Gooch? and Sandoval®. The Motion and Reply makes the same error — that the tent in question |
is on private property, as opposed to government property, and that make s a significant legal
distinction. The authority relied upon by the State speaks directly to this issue and this analysis
is not only not in conflict with the Ninth Circuit but correctly embraces the analysis of the
presence of a tent on private land. LEWIS yet again fails to cite any authority that the search
of a tent on private land (not the defendant’s land) satisfies the 2™ prong of the Katz test
recognizing a legal right of privacy. Karz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 360-61, 88 S.Ct. 507,
19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967) (Harlan, J., concurring)).

LEWIS also errs in outlining the underlying facts about the “search” in the instant case.
Specifically, the Reply incorrectly states the underlying facts in this case Reply at page 3, Ins.
3-8. LEWIS claims that the Officers searched LEWIS’ tent after opening the flap. They did
not. They looked inside the tent, observed items of contraband. They sought and obtained a
search warrant of the LEWIS tent wherein those evidentiary items were impounded. This
important fact is highly relevant to appellate courts analysis of the objective/objective right of

privacy under Katz.
PRIVATE PROPERTY MAKES A CRITICAL DISTINCTION

Not surprisingly numerous appellate courts within the Ninth Circuit have addressed the
Sandoval/Gooch scenario as it relates to tents, trespassing and private property. Consistent
within these opinions is the rejection that one has an objectively reasonable expectation of

privacy in a tent/home/structure is one is trespassing.

Whiting, nevertheless, analogizes his situation to defendants who successfull
challenged searches of tents they themselves constructed,
citing United States v. Sandoval, 200 F.3d 659, 661 (9th Cir.2000), United
States v. Gooch, 6 F.3d 673, 677 (9th Cir.1993), and Kelley v. State, 146
Ga.App. 179, 245 S.E.2d 872, 874 (1978). In Sandoval, 200 F.3d at 661, the
court fgund that the defendant possessed an objectively reasonable expectation
of privacy in the tent where he was staying on federally owned land. Although

' Atward, 112 Nev 141 (1996)
26 F.3d 673 (1993)
3200 F.3d 659 (2000)

2
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it was questionable whether the defendant had permission to do so, the court
stated:

[Clamping on public land, even without permission, is far different from
squatting in a private residence. A private residence is easily identifiable and
clearly off-limits, whereas public land is often unmarked and may appear to be
open to camping. Thus, we think it much more likely that society would
recognize an expectation of privacy for the camper on public land than for the
squatter in a private residence.

Id. at 661.

Finally, Whiting asserts that we should acknowledge an indigent's expectation
of privacy in the place where he or she stays because to not do so is to
discriminate against indigents and the homeless in favor of people who are
fortunate enough to have money. A person's monetary worth, however, is not
the issue; the issue is lawful occupancy.

Whiting neither lawfully owned, leased, controlled, occupied, nor rightfully
possessed 810 East Preston Street, or any part of the premises therein.
Accordin%lg, we find that Whiting lacked standing to challenge the April 27 and
May 4, 2001 searches because, although he may have possessed a subjective
expectation of privacy, that expectation was not objectively reasonable.

Whiting v. State, 389 Md. 334, 362-63, 885 A.2d 785, 801-02 (2005)
California court of appeals after extensively outlining Gooch and Sandoval rejected the

application of that to very similar facts to LEWIS.

We find the decision in United States v. Ruckman (10th Cir.1986) 806 F.2d
1471, persuasive in the present case. In Ruckman, the defendant lived in a
natural cave located in a remote area of southern Utah on land owned by the
United States and controlled by the Bureau of Land Management. He attempted
to enclose the cave by “fashioning a crude entrance wall from boards and other
materials which surrounded a so-called ‘door.” ” (/d. at p. 1472.) A warrantless
search of the cave resulted in seizure of fircarms and “anti-personnel booby
traps.” (l/bid) As in the case before us, the evidence -established
that *963 “Ruckman was admittedly a trespasser on federal lands and subject to
immediate ejectment” (ibid.) by authorities “at any time.” (Jd. at p. 1473.) The
court pointed out that * ‘whether the occupancy and construction were in bad
faith,” ™ and the “ ‘legal right to occupy the land and build structures on it,”
were factors ““ ‘highly relevant’ ” to the issue of the defendant's expectation of
privacy. (/d. at p. 1474, quoting Amezquita v. Hernandez—Colon (1st Cir.1975)
518 F.2d 8, 12.) The court determined “that Ruckman's cave is **891 not subject
to the protection of the Fourth Amendment.” (Ruckman, supra, at p. 1472.)

People v. Nishi, 207 Cal. App. 4th 954, 962-63, 143 Cal. Rptr. 3d 882, 890-91 (2012).
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All of the cited cases are post- Gooch and Sandoval. The relevance of the private
property/public property is important in determining whether an objectively reasonable right

to privacy exists.

TRESPASSING

Again, citing to Sandoval LEWIS claims that illegal activity does not affect one’s
subjective expectation of privacy. Reply pg. 5, Ins 4-7. Sandoval does not address the
criminal conduct as it relates to the critical component of the issues before this Court. Once
again issues that are not addressed by LEWIS. Sandoval, at least as it is cited by LEWIS,; is
not in dispute by the State. The State understands that LEWIS is claiming a subjective
expectation of privacy in his illegal conduct by trespassing on private land. Once again, that
is not in dispute.

LEWIS fails to address the precise legal issue in the very next paragraph wherein it
states Sandoval yet again that talks about the objectively reasonable right of privacy on public
land. As several courts have noted that Gooch and Sandoval deal with structures on public
land that are normally used for camping. A critical fact that is missing in the instant case.

Finally, the Cleator case, contrary to the claim in the Reply, has not been overturned.
In fact, the only criticism post-decision has been based upon Washington’s own constitution
and the questioning of Cleator was done that is the basis alone. See Pippin, 200 WashApp
826 (2017) and State v. Wyatt, 187 WashApp 1004 (2015).

EXIGENT CIRCUMSTANCES

The Reply does not address the uncontroverted fact that a wheelchair was found in
close proximity to the tent in question. Officers had a reasonable basis to inquire further as fp
whether any person was present in the tent and could have potentially needed aid.

This is evidenced by the, once again, uncontroverted fact that the Officers announced
themselves when they were physically outside the tent and heard no response.

EVIDENTIARY HEARING

LEWIS states that there is no need for an evidentiary hearing. The State agrees but for

fundamentally different reasons. There cannot be any reasonable argument that LEWIS and
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his co-defendant ORNELEAS were trespassing on private property. Without citation to one
case to the contrary, LEWIS asserts that the distinction of private/public property is irrelevant
to the objective privacy analysis. That clearly is not the case. The distinction is a very
important one and one that leads to the conclusion that no objectively reasonable expectation
of privacy exists in the instant case.

As such, the instant Motion should be denied.

DATED this_ Z9h  day of March, 2021,
Respectfuily submitted,
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

B

DAVID STANTO
Chief Depu tslrict Attorney
Nevada Bar #003202

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that on the _29th day of March, 2021, I e-mailed a copy of the foregoing to:

CAESAR ALMASE, ESQ.

M. HE NDEZ
Secretary Tor the District Attorney’s Office

DS/mah/L3
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,
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VS.
DUSTIN LEWIS,
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For the State:
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MARCH 17, 2021

ALL PENDING MOTIONS

SHANON CLOWERS, ESQ.
Chief Deputy District Attorney
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, March 17, 2021
—
[Hearing began at 8:55 a.m.]

THE COURT: Page No. 11, State of Nevada versus Dustin
Lewis, Case No. C-19-340051-1. Mr. Almase is present in court for Mr.
Lewis who | think has come into the microphone at CCDC. Mr. Lewis,
are you there?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma’am.

THE COURT: Okay. You are there.

And Ms. Clowers on behalf of the State.

| also refused Mr. — so here’s where we are, we hadn’t called
the case yet.

Ms. Clowers said that Mr. Stanton is unavailable this morning
because he’s in a different department and he may want time to reply to
the reply.

Here’'s where | was, Mr. Almase. | saw it and | read it
yesterday but | was not able to look up the cases just because I didn’t
have time.

MR. ALMASE: Of course.

THE COURT: So, Ms. Clowers, do you have any idea how
long Mr. — because | was just inclined to do two weeks, but do you think
he would want any further time to —

MS. CLOWERS: 1 think two weeks would be fine.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE CLERK: So we’re continuing the matters to March 31%,

AA 000102
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at 8:30 a.m.
MS. CLOWERS: Perfect. Thank you.
THE COURT: And that's also what's going to be on — do we
have Mr. Troiano on for Ms. Ornelas?
MR. ALMASE: If he’s not on, Judge, | can stand in for him.
THE COURT: Okay. So I'm going to call that one then.

[Hearing concluded at 8:57 a.m.]

* k% k k x %

ATTEST: |do hereby certify that | have truly and correctly transcribed the
audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my
ability.

Suan Shaila

SUSAN SCHOFIELD ./
Court Recorder/Transcriber

AA 000103

Page 3




C-19-340051-1

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES March 29, 2021

C-19-340051-1 State of Nevada
VS
Dustin Lewis

March 29, 2021 7:45 AM Minute Order

HEARD BY: Ballou, Erika COURTROOM: Chambers
COURT CLERK: Ro'Shell Hurtado

RECORDER:

REPORTER:

PARTIES
PRESENT:

JOURNAL ENTRIES

- The Court Finds that no evidentiary hearing is necessary and the parties are to argue their
respective positions at the hearing previously scheduled for March 31, 2021 at 8:30.

CLERK'S NOTE: This Minute Order was electronically served by Courtroom Clerk, Ro'Shell Hurtado,
to all registered parties by Odyssey File & Serve.//rh

PRINT DATE: 03/29/2021 Page1lof1 Minutes Date: March 29, 2021
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APRIL 5, 2021
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For the State: DAVID STANTON, ESQ.
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, April 5, 2021
—
[Proceeding began at 9:06 a.m.]

THE COURT: Page Numbers 10 and 11, State of Nevada
versus Margo Ornelas and Dustin Lewis, Case Numbers C-19-340051-1
and 2. Both Ms. Ornelas and Mr. Lewis are present in Court via — I'm
sorry, present in the jail via Blue Jeans. Mr. Almase present on behalf of
Mr. Lewis, Mr. Troiano present on behalf of Ms. Ornelas, and Mr.
Stanton for the State.

Mr. Stanton, you there?

MR. STANTON: [inaudible] Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So | have read everything that's been,
you know, filed in this case. And, Mr. Aimase, this is your matter so you
can go ahead and start.

MR. ALMASE: Judge, actually I'm just going to submit on the
pleadings and reserve for rebuttal.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Stanton.

MR. STANTON: Judge, in making his record last week, Mr.
Almase pronounced to this Court that the body of research backing his
various pleadings is that in mid-1980s, the Ninth Circuit pronounced a
ruling that there’s a right of privacy recognized both subjectively and
objectively in a tent on private property.

He then went on to inform this Court that that doctrine has
been expanded through several cases, both in the Ninth Circuit as well

as in the State of Nevada, recognizing the right of privacy, both
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objectively and reasonably, in public lands.

| would respectively submit that the authority doesn’t support
that claim whatsoever. The claim has to go back to the mid-1980s as
cited at least by the moving party that the Ninth Circuit recognized that
there was a -- in an injunctive action, not a criminal action, it was an
Injunctive action brought on behalf of a large number of migrant laborers
in the State of California that were housed on private property, but the
distinction that’s very important and not addressed, either Mr. Aimase in
writing or in his oral presentation, that the presence on private property
in that case was done with the permission of the property owner which
clearly doesn’t exist here.

So under the Katz test, this Court has to address two things.
Number one, is there a subjective expectation of privacy by the
defendants? Now there’s nothing before this Court that’s claiming as
evidence that these two defendants have an ownership interest in the
tent itself. It's presumed under the facts, but it's not sworn testimony in
any way, shape, or form.

There’s no affidavit attached to any of the pleadings, and so it
may be inferred under the facts of the case that that tent was theirs in
whole or in part, but there are several other questions and facts that |
think are relevant, at least potentially, to this Court’'s assessment.

So number one, what are the facts of this case? Number one,
it's on private property. Now this Court indicated, hey, | read the police
report —

THE COURT: Mr. Stanton, there’s nothing in the record that
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says it's on private property. All there is is that it's a fenced-in lot. We

don’t know who owns that lot. There’s nothing in the police report that

says it, there’s nothing in anything. | mean, we have nothing that says

that it's private property, or public property, or anything. We don’t have
anything.

We also don’t have anything saying that if it is private
property, they didn’'t have permission to be on that private property, so |
don’t get where you’re going here.

MR. STANTON: Okay. Well then if that's the Court’s
concern, then | think we need an evidentiary hearing to establish those
facts, and we can proceed accordingly.

THE COURT: But here’s the thing. If we don’t know it from
the police report, then the police didn’t know it at the time. They would
have put it in the police report. And so that means that they had
objective expectation of privacy on a zipped tent. The police report
clearly states that they unzipped the tent.

MR. STANTON: That's correct. But, Judge, | don’t think the
police report is going to address the ongoing trespass because that was
not the focus of their investigation as they wrote up the report.

THE COURT: But it should have been when they knew that
they had to have done something to get that search warrant, when they
knew that they had to have done something to be able to unzip that tent.
If they didn’t write that in their police report, then bad on them and they
need to be trained better.

MR. STANTON: Well but, Judge, they're not — the State’s not
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precluded and the State certainly is not limited by what's written in a
police report. The nature of what they did in the police report that was
attached by Mr. Almase was assessing the investigation that ultimately
they submitted for criminal prosecution that didn’t address the underlying
trespass that was occurring at the time that they approached the tent.

THE COURT: But what I'm saying is that they knew. | mean,
| didn’t even just read what Mr. Almase attached. | went back and |
looked and everything that was in the criminal bindover packet. | looked
at everything. They knew that they wrote in the police report that it was
a zipped tent, so there should have been something in there that says
that they had a reason to unzip that tent. And so —

MR. STANTON: [ think — right. But the State’s not limited to
the explanation of what the officers’ state of mind and what their thought
process was by what was contained in a police report outlining the
investigation in a largely unrelated criminal investigation.

| mean, certainly the State is entitled to call the witnesses, the
detectives themselves, to explain what their perception of — and this is
clearly private property. It is [audio distortion], it has a no trespassing
sign on it, and it's not — the defendants did not have permission, and
they’re not the owners of the property. That cannot be reasonably
disputed in this case.

THE COURT: So do you have the owners of the property?

MR. STANTON: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. STANTON: And as one case sites, what they had to do
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to render that property private from an exterior viewpoint. That is the
fencing and the no trespassing. I'm well aware of what it is, what they
did, and the timing of it.

THE COURT: They need to write better reports is all I'm
saying.

So go ahead, Mr. Almase.

MR. ALMASE: Judge, | agree with the Court, and I think it's
just very clear that there was no — the intent of the officers when he
unzipped the tent was to further their investigation. That is clear. There
was no thought that this was a trespass and they had to remedy the
trespass. There was nothing to indicate that they were checking on any
individuals for community caretaking, or whatever other reason the State
wants to give for their presence.

What they did was violate the Fourth Amendment by opening
my client’'s home. Period, that’s it. And the State has not submitted any

authority against Alward, and we are in Alward. Alward is good law.

That's Nevada Supreme Court law. And the State hasn’t given any case

law that goes against Alward, let alone Sandoval or Gooch.

And so | would submit, Judge, that this motion needs to be
granted in its entirety.

THE COURT: And, Mr. Troiano, | know that you are just on
as a joinder, but do you have anything you want to add?

MR. TROIANO: | concur with Mr. Almase, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Stanton, | understand where you're coming

from. | think that you’re trying to, you know, do the best that you can to
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cover, you know, for the officers who simply did a bad job and did not
follow the law, the Fourth Amendment.

This motion is granted in its entirety. And also as to Ms.
Ornelas, if you're able to proceed with anything else that’s not fruit of the
poisonous tree, then you're free to do so.

MR. STANTON: And, Judge, so you're making a ruling that
I’'m precluded from calling the officers and the owners of the property to
establish their state of mind and the ownership and lack of ownership
interest of the defendant.

THE COURT: | don't think it's necessary. | think that what's
happening is if they had, you know, if they had their — they should have
written a better police report. So | don’t think it's necessary to have an
evidentiary hearing. If you'd like to, you know, take that up, you're free
to do so, but | don’t think it's necessary.

And Mr. Almase, would you prepare the Order.

MR. ALMASE: | will, Judge.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. ALMASE: Thank you.

[Proceeding concluded at 9:18 a.m.]

Kk kk k%

ATTEST: |do hereby certify that | have truly and correctly transcribed the
audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my
ability.

M&%Q@(

SUSAN SCHOFIELD
Recorder/Transcriber

AA 000111

Page 7




14

15

16

20

21

22

24

25

Electronicall

04/08/2021 1/52 PM

ALMASE LAW

CAESAR ALMASE, ESQ.
Bar No. 7974

526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney For Defendant

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
STATE OF NEVADA, )
)
Plaintiff, ) Case Nos.: C-19-340051-1
) C-19-340051-2
v. )
) Dept. No.: XXIV
DUSTIN LEWIS, )
MARGAUX ORNELAS, ) ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT DUSTIN
)} LEWIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE
Defend ) BASED ON FOURTH AMENDMENT
SISnUANLS. ) VIOLATION AND FRUIT OF THE
) POISONOUS TREE DOCTRINE

THIS MATTER, having come before this Honorable Court on April 5, 2021, fon
hearing on DEFENDANT DUSTIN LEWIS MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE BASED ON
FOURTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION AND FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE DOCTRINE; the
parties present through counsel, CAESAR ALMASE on behalf of DUSTIN LEWIS, MICHAEL
TROIANO on behalf of MARGAUX ORNELAS, having filed a Joinder, and DAVID STANTON on|
behalf of the STATE OF NEVADA, having filed an Opposition and Response; that based on|
the pleadings, argument of counsel on April 5, 2021, prior argument made in court, and
good cause shown,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED SUPRESSED,

All tangible property and physical evidence recovered from the tent of DEFENDANT]
LEWIS AND ORNELAS and the surrounding area, as these items were seized in violation of

the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, US v. Gooch, 6 F.3d. 673 (9t Cir,

AA 000112



1993), US v. Sandoval, 200 F.3d 659 (2000), and State v. Alward, 112 Nev. 141 (1996);

FURTHER ORDERED SUPPRESSED,

Under the Fruit of the Poisonous Tree doctrine and Segura v. United States, 468 U.S]
796, 804 (1984), is the hand print of Mr. LEWIS; the interview of Mr. LEWIS; any
statements attributed to Mr. LEWIS and Ms. ORNELAS; all documents, statements, and anyj
other tangible or physical evidence relating to the identity of Mr. LEWIS and Ms. ORNELAS;
any evidence derived from the Lincoln Navigator that the State intends to use against Mr|
LEWIS and Ms. ORNELAS; and any evidence derived from the Fun City Motel that the State
intends to use against Mr. LEWIS.

DATED this_—___ day of April 2021. Dated this 8th day of April, 2021

ERIKA D. BALLOU

DISTRICT COURT Ju e ABD 7676 1EAD
rika Ballou

District Court Judge

Submitted By: g‘._._._;. RE‘—\ _

Caesar Almase #7974
526 S. 7th Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702) 463-5590
Attorney for Defendant Dustin Lewis
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CSERV

State of Nevada
S

Dustin Lewis

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-19-340051-1

DEPT. NO. Department 24

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 4/8/2021

Caesar Almase
Caesar Almase
David Stanton

Dept 24 LC

caesar@almaselaw.com
caesar@almaselaw.com
david.stanton@clarkcountyda.com

dept24lc@clarkcountycourts.us
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Electronically Filed
4/9/2021 2:46 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
NOASC Cﬁ;‘,ﬁ ﬁﬂ-“-—

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

KAREN MISHLER

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013730

200 Lewis Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Plaintiff, g
) Case No. C-19-340051-1
V. ) Dept. No. XXIV
DUSTIN LEWIS, g
) NOTICE OF APPEAL
Defendant. )
)

TO: DUSTIN LEWIS, Defendant; and
TO: CAESAR V. ALMASE, Attorney for Defendant; and

TO: ERIKA BALLOU, District Judge, Eighth Judicial District Court,
Dept. No. XXIV

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff in the
above entitled matter, appeals to the Supreme Court of Nevada, pursuant to NRS 177.015(2)
from the order the district court filed APRIL 8, 2021, granting Defendant’s Motion to

Suppress.
Dated this 9™ day of April, 2021.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON,
Clark County District Attorney

BY /s/ Karen Mishler
KAREN MISHLER
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013730
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION
I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing NOTICE OF APPEAL was

made April 9, 2021, by electronic transmission to:

KM//jg

CAESAR V. ALMASE
Email; caesar@almaselaw.com

JUDGE ERIKA BALLOU
Email;: Dept24L. C@clarkcountycourts.us

BY /s/J. Garcia

Employee, District Attorney’s Office
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Supreme Court No. 82750/82761
Appellant, District Court Case No. C340051-1 & 2~
Vs.

DUSTIN LEWIS,

Respondent. Fi LED

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ‘ APR 13 2022
Appellant, .

VS.

MARGAUX ORNELAS, &é&‘&ﬁ
Respondent. . SR

CLERK' RTIFICATE
STATE OF NEVADA, ss.

|, Elizabeth A. Brown, the duly appointed and qualified Clerk of the Supreme Court of
the State of Nevada, do hereby certify that the following is a full, true and correct copy
of the Judgment in this matter.

JUDGMENT

The court being fully advised in the premises and the vl‘aw, it is now ordered, adjudged
and decreed, as follows:

“ORDER the judgement of the district court VACATED AND REMAND this matter
to the district court for proceedings consistent with this order.”

Judgment, as quoted above, entered this 18th day of March, 2022.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have subscribed
my name and affixed the seal of the Supreme
Court at my Office in Carson City, Nevada this
April 12, 2022.

Elizabeth A. Brown, Supreme Court Clerk

By: Rory Wunsch 3&}9‘3“’”5‘ -2

Deputy Clerk NV Supreme Court Clerks Certificate/Judgr

4988833
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Electronically Filed
4/9/2021 2:46 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
ASTA Cﬁh—ﬁ 'ﬁ.""’“"“

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

KAREN MISHLER

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013730

200 Lewis Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2750

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Plaintiff, ;
) Case No. C-19-340051-1
V. ) Dept. No. XXIV
DUSTIN LEWIS, g
Defendant. ;
)
CASE APPEAL STATEMENT
1. Name of appellant filing this case appeal statement:

The State of Nevada
2. Identify the judge issuing the decision, judgment, or order appealed from:
Judge Erika Ballou
3. Identify all parties to the proceedings in the district court:
Dustin Lewis
The State of Nevada
4. Identify all parties involved in this appeal:
Dustin Lewis

The State of Nevada
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5. Name, law firm, address, and telephone number of all counsel on appeal

and party or parties whom they represent:

KAREN MISHLER CAESAR V. ALMASE
Chief Deputy District Attorney 526 S. 7™ Street
Nevada Bar #013730 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Office of the Clark County District Attorney  (702) 463-5590
Regional Justice Center

200 Lewis Avenue

Post Office Box 552212

Las Vegas, Nevada 8§89155-2212

(702) 671-2750

Counsel for Appellant Counsel for Respondent
State of Nevada Dustin Lewis
6. Indicate whether appellant was represented by appointed or retained

counsel in the district court: Retained

7. Indicate whether appellant is represented by appointed or retained
counsel on appeal: Retained
8. Indicate whether appellant was granted leave to proceed in forma

pauperis, and the date of entry of the district court order granting such leave: N/A
0. Date proceedings commenced in the district court:
Indictment, filed May, 3, 2019.
DATED this 9" day of April, 2021.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar # 001565

BY /s/Karen Mishler

KAREN MISHLER

Chief Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #013730

Office of the Clark County District Attorney
Regional Justice Center

200 Lewis Avenue

Post Office Box 552212

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2750
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing CASE APPEAL

STATEMENT was made April 9, 2021, by electronic transmission to:

KM//jg

CAESAR V. ALMASE
Email; caesar@almaselaw.com

JUDGE ERIKA BALLOU
Email;: Dept24L. C@clarkcountycourts.us

BY /s/J. Garcia

Employee, District Attorney’s Office
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, o No. 82760 -
Appellant, .

vs.

DUSTIN LEWIS,
Respondent. ‘
THE STATE OF NEVADA, ' No.'82% )
Appellant. 7FI L E

vs. |
MARGAUX ORNELAS, S OMAR 14 22

Respondent. : BROWN o 1

ORDER VACATING AND REMANDING

These are consolidated appeals from a district court order
granting a motion to suppress in a criminal matter. Eighth Judicial District
Court, Clark County; Erika D. Ballou, Judge. | | o

The State indicted Dustin Lewis and Margaux Ornelas on
+ charges stemming from burglaries of storage units at a storage facility on

two separuate dates. »

After the first date of burglaries, l.as Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department officers canvassing the area came across a tent and a
wheelchair in a desert area adjacent to the storage facility, Officers

approached the tent and when no one answered. they unzipped the front

door of the tent. They found no one inside but saw what appeared to be
items reported missing from storage units. Officers obtained a warrant and
seized numerous items, and a crime scene analyst collected forensic
evidence. Later that cvening, a second incident of burglaries occurred at

the storage facility.
Based on forensic analysis of items found in the tent and the

wheelchair outside of the tent. analysis of fingerprints taken from




burglarized storage units, questioning of an alleged co-conspirator in the
second incident of burglavies, surveillance footage, and review of recent
booking vphotos, detectives identified Lewis and Ornelas as suspects.
Respon‘dents were then each indicted on charges of two counts of conspiracy
to commit burglary, four counts of burglary, and grand larceny. |

| Lewis moved to suppress all evidence, and Ornelas joined the
motion. The district court decided that no evidentiary hearing was
necessary, even though the State requested to present witnesses. The
district court granted Lewis’s motion, ordering suppressed all tangible and
physical evidence recovered from the tent and the surrounding area, stating
the items were seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment. The district
court additionally suppressed other incriminating evidence under the fruit-
of-the-poisonous-tree doctrine. The State aﬁpea]s this order.

The State argues the district,comft failed to make necessary
factual findings on the record for this court to review on appeal.- The State
also argues the district court erred by granting the motion to sup_pxe#;s all
evidence because respondents did not have a legitimate expectation of
privacy in the seized materials. It additionally argues the district court
erred by suppreasing additional evidence under the fruit-of-the-poisonous-
tree doctrine because the evidence was sufficiently attenuated from the
search of the tent. Respondents assert the district court adopted by
reference the facts in Lewis’s motion to suppress and properly suppressed
the evidence.

The district court’s decision to suppress evidence presents a
mixed question of law and fact. State v. Beckman, 129 Nev. 481, 485, 305
P.3d 912, 916 (2013). This court reviews a district court’s findings of facts
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for clear error but reviews the legal consequences of those factual findings
de novo. Id. at 486, 305 P.3d at 916. ,

We agree with the State that the district court did not make
proper factual findings for this court to review the legal conclusions on
appeal. This court has clearly stated that the district court is required to
make express factual findings on the record when deciding suppression
motions. State v. Rincon, 122 Nev. 1170, 1177, 147 P.3d 233, 238 (2006). In
this matter, it is apparent that the district court made factual
determinations and inferences, but it did not do so on the record, and this
court does not act as a factfinder. See id. at 1176-77, 147 P.3d at 237. In
order for this court to properly review de novo the legal consequences of the
district court’s factual findings, di_strict “courts must exercise their
responsibility to make factual findings when ruling on motions to suppress.”
Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 191, 111 P.3d 690, 695 (2006) (internal
quotation marks omitted). This court will not speculate about the factual
inferences drawn by the district court. Rincon, 122 Nev. at 1177, 147 P.3d
at 238.

In this matter, the district court did not make any factual
findings in its order. We disagree with respondents that the district court
adopted by reference the statement of facts included in Lewis's motion to
suppress. The district court merely stated its decision was “based on the
pleadings, argument of counsel on April 5, 2021, prior arguments made in
court, and good cause shown.” There is no indication in the district court’s
order that it intended to adopt any parties’ statement of facts and it did not
ihdicate it was incorporating by reference any other source of facts.

Accordingly, without factual findings on the record, we are

unable to evaluate the State’s additional arguments on appeal, and we




vacate and remand. See Rincon, 122 Nev. at 1177-78, 147 P.3d at 238
(remanding the matter to the district court for an evidentiary hearing
because the record was insufficient to permi‘t' review by this court). For the
reasons set forth above, we

ORDER the judgment of the district court VACATED AND
REMAND this matter to the district court for proceedings consistent with

this order.!
A
Hardesty
___M, J.
Stiglich
&A S 1
Herndon

cc: Hon. Erika D. Ballou, District Judge
Attorney General/Carson City
Clark County District Attorney
The Almase Law Group LLC _
" The Law Office of Michsel A. Troianc
Eighth District Court Clerk

I'This order constitutes our final decision of this matter. Any
subsequent appeal shall be docketed in this court as a separate matter.




IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Supreme Court No. 82750/82751
Appellant, District Court Case No. C340051-1 €2

Vs,
DUSTIN LEWIS,
Respondent.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Appellant,

VS,

MARGAUX ORNELAS,
Respondent.

REMITTITUR

TO: Steven D. Grierson, Eighth District Court Clerk
Pursuant to the rules of this court, enclosed are the following:

Certified copy of Judgment and Opinion/Order.
Receipt for Remittitur.

DATE: April 12, 2022
Elizabeth A. Brown, Clerk of Court

By: Rory Wunsch
Deputy Clerk

cc (without enclosures):
Hon. Erika D. Ballou, District Judge
Clark County District Attorney
The Almase Law Group LLC

RECEIPT FOR REMITTITUR

Received of Elizabeth A. Brown, Clerk of the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada, the
REMITTITUR issued in the above-entitled cause, on APR 1 8 2022

HEATHER UNGERMANN _
Deputy District Court Clerk

RECEIVED
APPEALS

APR 13 2022 : 1 22-11505

CLERK OF THE COURT
AA 000125



C-19-340051-2 DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES June 10, 2022
C-19-340051-2 State of Nevada
Vs
Margaux Ornelas
June 10, 2022 01:30 PM  Evidentiary Hearing
HEARD BY: Ballou, Erika COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 12C

COURT CLERK: Hurtado, Ro'Shell
RECORDER: Scott, Deloris

REPORTER:

PARTIES PRESENT:

Ann Marie Dunn Attorney for Plaintiff
Michael Troiano Attorney for Defendant
State of Nevada Plaintiff

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Steven Altig, Esq. on behalf of Co-Deft. Herod; Caesar Almase, Esq. present on behalf of Co-
Deft. Lewis.

Testimony and exhibits presented (see worksheet). Arguments by Mr. Almase and Ms. Dunn.
Following arguments, COURT STATED IT'S FINDINGS, ORDERED, ruling STANDS; advised
it would prepare the order. Ms. Dunn indicated she would be appealing the matter. COURT
FURTHER ORDERED, matter SET for status check: appeal.

08.29.2022 9:30 AM STATUS CHECK: APPEAL

Printed Date: 6/14/2022 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: June 10, 2022

AA 000126
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Erika Ballou
District Judge
Department XXIV
Las Vegas, NV 89155

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED

8/11/2022 6:30 PM ) .
Electronically Filed

08/11/2022 6:29 PM

FFCL
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
The State of Nevada, CASE NO. C-19-340051-1
Plaintiff(s), C-19-340051-2
v. DEPT NO. XXIV

Dustin Lewis,
Margaux Ornelas,
Defendant(s).

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER GRANTING
DEFENDANT DUSTIN LEWIS’S AND MARGAUX ORNELAS’S MOTIONS TO
SUPPRESS EVIDENCE

This matter having come before the Court on Dustin Lewis’s (“Mr. Lewis”) Motion to
Suppress Evidence Based on Fourth Amendment Violation and Fruit of the Poisonous Tree
Doctrine, filed on February 26, 2021, and Margaux Ornelas’s (“Ms. Ornelas”) Joinder to Co-
Defendant Dustin Lewis’s Motion to Suppress Evidence Based on Fourth Amendment
Violation and Fruit of the Poisonous Tree Doctrine, filed on March 3, 2021. The State having
filed an opposition, which was thoroughly reviewed by the Court, and the matter having come
before the Court for argument on April 5, 2021, at which time the Court granted the defense
motions in their entirety. The State then filed an interlocutory appeal to the Nevada Supreme
Court, which vacated this Court’s previous order and remanded for further proceedings
consistent with its order. Thereafter, this Court had an Evidentiary Hearing on June 10, 2022,
allowing the State to supplement its evidence with testimony from David Inman (“Inman”),
the owner of the property, and Sgt. Andrew Shark (Sgt. Shark™) from the Las Vegas
Metropolitan Police Department (“Metro” or “LVMPD”).
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Erika Ballou
District Judge
Department XXIV
Las Vegas, NV 89155

The Court, having read and considered the pleadings filed by the parties, having

carefully considered the evidence and testimony presented at the Evidentiary Hearing, and

having carefully considered the oral and written arguments of counsel and all related briefing,

and with the intent of deciding the matters pending before the Court, the Court makes the

following Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order. If any findings of fact are properly

conclusions of law, or vice versa, they shall be treated as if appropriately identified and

designated.

| Findings of Fact

1.

On December 8, 2018, a StorageOne facility was burglarized. Three units in total

were burglarized that day.

. One of the units which was burglarized, unit B-151, had been rented by Marc

Falcone (“Falcone”). Police were advised by Falcone that he was missing twenty-
one (21) high end, rare, collectible wrist watches with an approximate value of over
two million dollars. In addition, miscelleaneous items were missing such as a
Panerai bag that was white with blue trim, watch boxes, a black canvas duffel bag,

and a leather briefcase.

. One of the other units which was burglarized, unit B-147, had been rented by

Michael Rodrigue (“Rodrigue”). Rodrigue, at first, informed police that items in
his unit appeared to be moved but nothing take. He later updated that information
to inform the police that various miscellaneous items were missing but there was
nothing of great value taken. Some of the items that were missing included several
dolls, a green Army jacket with the name “Rodrigue” on it, a black briefcase, and a
large wooden chessboard.

Video surveillance from the storage facility showed two subjects entering the
facility and leaving approximately one hour and twenty minutes later with several
bags and a wheelchair.

Police were able to obtain still shots from the facility’s video surveillance. The

suspects appeared on video surveillance to be a white female adult, mid-30s to 40s,
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with a light colored ponytail with dark roots, wearing a dark colored jacket, and
pushing the wheelchair. The second suspect was a white male adult, mid-30s, with
short, dark colored hair, dark colored hoodie, and dark colored jeans. Both were

potentially homeless.

. Once police obtained the actual surveillance video, the white female adult is seen

to have a large wooden chessboard in the wheelchair.

. Metro officers canvassed the area and spoke with homeless individuals about the

suspects. Some of the homeless individuals who were canvased confirmed to police
that there was a homeless couple fitting that description who had recently been seen
with a wheelchair and who lived in the area of Fort Apache and Tropicana. Police

were unable locate either subject.

. Det. Linder of Metro conducted a records check of crime reports and field

interviews and located a field interview of a white female adult who was stopped in
the area of Fort Apache and Tropicana, named Annie Bishop (DOB 6/15/84, ID#
5599431) (“Bishop”) who was with her husband, James Gregg (DOB: 12/29/86, ID
# 7048098) (“Gregg”). Det. Linder was able to pull up prior booking photos for
both Bishop and Gregg. Bishop had blonde hair with dark roots. Police determined
that she could be a possible match for the female in the surveillance photos. Gregg

also had short, dark hair which could be a match for the male in the photos as well.

. On December 11, 2018, LVMPD officers decided to re-canvas the area for the

suspects. Pages 6-7 of the LVMPD Continuation Report explain:
While walking along the bicycle/jogging path that
parallels I-215, they located a tent that was in the desert
area directly east of the StorageOne, north of the
Chevron gas station that is also directly east of the
StorageOne. They decided to hop the fence that
surrounds the desert area and challenged the tent to see

if anyone was inside. There was no answer, so they
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unzipped the door of the tent to see if anyone was
inside. There was nobody inside, but they saw a large
wooden chessboard, which matched the one seen on
the video surveillance still shot that was in the
wheelchair being pushed by the female suspect. They
also saw what appeared to be watch boxes and could
see that one had “Panerai” written on it. They did not
enter the tent. They also saw that about 25 yards
directly east of the tent was a folded wheelchair that
also looked like the one in the video surveillance
photos.
(See LVMPD Continuation Report, attached as Exhibit A.) (Emphasis added.)

10. Police then obtained a search warrant, authored by Officer Shark.

11. Once inside the tent, police were able to lift several latent prints from various items,
including the wheelchair near the handle, the “Panerai” bag, and the chess board.
12. The search warrant also returned numerous items of evidentiary value including an
Army jacket with “Rodrigue” on it that had dog tags in the name of Michael
Rodrigue in one of the pockets, watch boxes, white “Panerai” bag, and black duffel

bag.

13. Police later returned to the scene of the search to recover Officer Shark’s lost cell
phone. While there, officers noticed that items, such as the duplicate original search
warrant and other miscellaneous items, were missing. Approximately fifteen
minutes after arrival, officers also heard the alarm sounding at the StorageOne
facility. Several police units responded.

14. Police on scene noticed a suspicious Lincoln Navigator parked on the west side wall
of the facility. This vehicle led to the arrest of co-defendants Thomas Herod
(“Herod”) and Tyree Faulkner (“Faulkner”). Faulkner spoke with police and

explained his part in the burglaries. Faulkner did not identify Mr. Lewis or Ms.
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Ornelas, only stating his cousin (co-defendant Herod) knew the male. The vehicle
was eventually searched pursuant to a search warrant.

15. Latent prints lifted from the tent returned to defendants Dustin Lewis and Margaux
Ornelas. The two matched the suspects from the burglaries.

16. Officers later located Ms. Ornelas at a motel. Police obtained a search warrant for
the room where Ms. Ornelas was staying. More of Falcone’s property was located
in the room.

17.Ms. Ornelas was taken into custody on an unrelated domestic battery. She did not
speak with police.

18.In January 2019, latent prints lifted from the exterior of the burglarized units
returned to Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas.

19. The same day, Mr. Lewis was located at his mother’s home. He was taken into
custody for an unrelated parole violation. He did not have any stolen property in
his possession. His mother gave officers permission to search her home, vehicle,
and storage room at her apartment complex. No stolen property was located.

20.Police interviewed Mr. Lewis who denied stealing or selling any watches. He
further denied breaking into the storage units at issue. When asked specifically
about who had the watches, Mr. Lewis told police to speak with Ms. Ornelas. Mr.
Lewis claimed he may have been to the storage facility but did not make any further
admissions.

21.0n June 10, 2022, this Court held an evidentiary hearing allowing the State to
supplement its evidence.

22.David Inman testified that he was the owner of the land on which the tent in question
was located. When he purchased the land, there was no fencing.

23.Inman testified that he was made aware of a tent on his property on the weekend of
November 10, 2018. He remembered the date because he was in New York for his
son’s wedding. He contacted Metro in November of 2018 to remove the homeless

from his property but he never filed a report because he was told that he had to put
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II.

up signs before any action could be taken.

24.He had the fence erected in November of 2018. It would have been within a day or
two of the November 19, 2018, invoice for that fence. He placed “No Trespassing”
signs on the fence within a day of the fence being erected.

25.Sgt. Shark testified that although he is now a sergeant in the Summerlin Area
Command, in December of 2018, he was a patrol officer in the Spring Valley Area
Command where this incident occurred.

26.0n December 11, 2018, he was working the burglaries and speaking to transient
people. In this capacity, he came across the desert lot in question. He testified that
although the lot had fencing around it, the fencing was damaged. He entered
through the portion that was damaged. Sgt. Shark also testified that he does not
recall any posted “No Trespassing” signs.

27.He observed a transient camp on the lot. There were several pieces of trash and a
tent. He approached the tent to make contact with anyone inside. Sgt. Shark
identified himself as a police officer and challenged the tent to see if there would be
a response. He testified that he received no response. Sgt. Shark further testified
that based on the proximity of the tent to the wall, and due to officer safety Metro

opened the tent to see if anvone was inside. There was no one inside. While the

officers cleared the tent, he noticed several items of evidentiary value to the case
they were investigating including the chessboard. He then obtained a search warrant
for the tent where additional items of evidentiary value were located.

28.0n cross-examination, Sgt. Shark testified that he did not speak with the owner of
the property before opening the tent. The justification for opening the tent was
officer safety.

29.He also claimed that there was a small opening so the tent was not completely
zipped.

Conclusions of Law

30. The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects citizens, persons
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31.

and property from unreasonable searches and seizures by government agents except
after obtaining a warrant supported by probable cause. Probable cause exists when
“there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a

particular place.” Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). Evidence obtained

as a result of an illegal search is subject to exclusion, as is evidence later discovered
and “derivative of an illegality” as “fruit of the poisonous tree.” Segura v. United
States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984) (quoting Nardona v. United States, 308 U.S. 338,
341 (1939)).

A person has a subjective expectation of privacy in a tent and its contents where
that person manifests such expectation, such as by leaving it closed. Alward v.
State, 112 Nev. 141, 150, 912 P.2d 243, 249 (1996), overruled on other grounds by
Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 111 P.3d 690 (2005); see also United States v. Gooch,
6 F.3d 673, 676 (9th Cir. 1993) (Emphasis added).

32.The Fourth Amendment “protects people, not places.” Gooch, 6 F.3d at 676-77

(quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967)).

33.“Simply because [the defendant] camped on land [owned by another]| does not

diminish his expectation of privacy.” Alward, 112 Nev. at 150, 912 P.2d at 249.

Warrantless searches of tents, therefore, violate the Fourth Amendment. Id.

34.1n its initial opposition to Mr. Lewis’s suppression motion, the State argued that the

Metro officers had “to ascertain whether an ongoing crime was being committed

(trespassing)” (See State’s Opposition filed March 4, 2021, at page 2, lines 13-14.)

a. Nothing in the original police reports in this matter would lead one to believe
that the police were concerned about the “ongoing crime of trespassing.” There
is no mention of trespassing at all in any of the police reports.

b. Sgt. Shark’s testimony was that although the property was fenced, the fencing
had damage and that he did not recall any “No Trespassing” signs on the
property.

c. Sgt. Shark further testified that he did not speak to the owner of the property
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prior to opening the tent.

d. Inman’s testimony is that he did not file a police report related to trespassing as
he was informed that he must post signage before anything could be done.

35. For the same reason, the State’s argument that the entire tent and its contents could
be seized and inventoried (See State’s Opposition filed March 4, 2021, at page 2,
lines 22-24), also fails.

36. The State also argues in its initial opposition that the officers were duty bound, by
the doctrine of “community caretaking,” to open and investigate the tent. (See
State’s Opposition filed March 4, 2021, at page 5, lines 19-22.) The State chose not
to analyze in any way, shape, or fashion how the simple presence of a wheelchair
in the vicinity of a tent would induce the police to open a zipped tent without a
warrant.

a. The State mentions the “community caretaking” doctrine in its Opposition to
stand for the proposition that “The officers were obligated to see if the
wheelchair was related to the occupants of the tent for several reasons —
‘community caretaking.”” (See State’s Opposition filed March 4, 2021, at page
2, lines 15-19).

b. The Rincon case cited by the State for this proposition is a case related to driving

under the influence. State v. Rincon, 122 Nev. 1170, 147 P.3d. 233 (2006).

“The community caretaking exception applies if a police officer initiates a traffic
stop based on a reasonable belief that a slow driver is in need of emergency
assistance.” Id. 122 Nev. at 1176, 147 P.3d at 237. A wheelchair in close
proximity to a tent does not relate to driving at all. Neither does a wheelchair
simply existing engender a reasonable belief that someone is in need of
emergency assistance.
37.The State also urges the Court to make a distinction between a tent found on public
land and that on private land. (See State’s Opposition filed March 4, 2021, at page

2, lines 2-12.) The State argues that this distinction shows that the tent in question
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here evidenced the ongoing crime of trespass whereas tents on public land could be

lawfully present for such things as camping.

a. As noted elsewhere, Sgt. Shark did not recall ever seeing any posted signage
warning trespassers away from the property.

b. Neither did Sgt. Shark attempt to contact the property owner to determine
whether the campsite was permitted.

c. Inman, the property owner, testified that he did not file a police report related to
trespass on his property as he was told that he must post signage before he could
do so.

38. During his testimony, Sgt. Shark testified that the reason for opening the tent was
for officer safety.

a. Officer safety appears to be a pretextual, after-the-fact justification, as no
mention of officer safety appears in the original police reports.

b. Sgt. Shark testified that an attack “can happen through a tent” though there was
no discussion as to why officers would anticipate an attack — officers were only
speaking to civilians as potential witnesses. This reasoning is akin to officers
investigating a burglary three days prior at a business adjacent to a home and
then fully opening a door to the home when no one answered to speak with
officers. A partially closed door could also be seen as a bad tactical situation in
the same manner as a tent.

c. This was also not a hot pursuit situation where police knew there to be someone
inside the tent who could or would attack officers.

d. The State argued at the evidentiary hearing on June 10, 2022, that a person who
is trespassing does not have a privacy interest as the privacy interest must be one
that society is willing to accept. This devalues the interests of the Fourth
Amendment in preventing government overreach. Also as noted above, The
Fourth Amendment “protects people, not places.” Gooch, 6 F.3d at 676-77
(quoting Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967)).
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39.Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas, like all citizens afforded the protection of the Fourth
Amendment of the US Constitution, absolutely had an expectation of privacy in the
home they maintained during this case, the tent. Officers unzipped the tent in clear
violation of the Fourth Amendment and case law. As such, every tangible piece of
property illegally seized from the tent and surrounding area must be suppressed.

40. As the US Supreme Court held in Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 804 (1984),

“evidence later discovered and found to be derivative of” an illegal search or seizure

must be excluded, as well as any primary evidence directly obtained from the

illegality. (Id. at 468 US 797). Based on the Fruit of the Poisonous Tree doctrine,

Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas also seek to suppress: (1) Mr. Lewis’s and Ms. Ornelas’s

latent prints recovered from the exterior of the burglarized units at the StorageOne

facility; (2) the entirety of Mr. Lewis’s and Ms. Ornelas’s statements to police; (3)

all tangible documents, statements, and any other tangible evidence related to the

identities of Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas; (4) any evidence from the search of the

Lincoln Navigator that the State intends to use against Mr. Lewis or Ms. Ornelas;

and (5) any evidence from the search of the Fun City Motel the State intends to use

against Mr. Lewis or Ms. Ornelas.

a. The State argues that the latent prints were obtained independently and therefore
shouldn’t be suppressed. However, as these prints were recovered from the
exterior of the burglarized units, the only way to link these to the burglary is
based on the illegally obtained evidence from the tent. Therefore, these latent
prints must be suppressed.

b. The police were investigating Bishop and Gregg in relation to these burglaries.
The only reason this focus shifted was due to the illegally obtained items from
the tent. Therefore, the statements Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas made after
encountering police must be suppressed.

c. Because the only reason police shifted their sights onto Mr. Lewis and Ms.

Ornelas and away from Bishop and Gregg is based on the contents of the tent

10
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which were illegally obtained, all tangible documents, statements, and any other
tangible evidence related to the identities of Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas must be
suppressed.
d. Again, as the police only shifted their investigation from Bishop and Gregg to
Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas after the illegal search of the tent, all evidence
derived from the Fun City Motel, must also be suppressed.
III. Order
Based on the above Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED SUPRESSED,
All tangible property and physical evidence recovered from the tent of Mr. Lewis and
Ms. Ornelas and the surrounding area, as these items were seized in violation of the Fourth
Amendment to the United States Constitution, U.S. v. Gooch, 6 F.3d. 673 (9th Cir. 1993), U.S.
v. Sandoval, 200 F.3d 659 (2000), and State v. Alward, 112 Nev. 141 (1996);

FURTHER ORDERED SUPPRESSED,

Under the Fruit of the Poisonous Tree doctrine and Segura v. United States, 468 U.S.

796, 804 (1984), is the hand print of Mr. Lewis; the interviews of Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas;
any statements attributed to Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas; all documents, statements, and any
other tangible or physical evidence relating to the identity of Mr. Lewis and Ms. Ornelas; any
evidence derived from the Lincoln Navigator that the State intends to use against Mr. Lewis

and Ms. Ornelas; and any evidence derived from the Fun City Motel.

11
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TO: DUSTIN LEWIS, Defendant; and
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